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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-34756
Tesla Motors, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 91-219772¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
3500 Deer Creek Roac
Palo Alto, California 94304
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

(650) 681-5000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each clast Name of each exchange on which register¢
Common Stock, $0.001 par val The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantusgeli-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Ruleot@be Securities Act.  YedX]
No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord) % the Act. Yes[ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Sewcti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) during the preceding rhonths (or for such shorter period that the tesyi$ was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requiremétthe past 90 days. Ye&Xl No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lnasmstted electronically and posted on its corpokdb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsto Rule 405 of RegulationBduring the preceding 12 months (or for such grgrérioc
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). Yes[Xl No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82®% of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the beskgistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infieation statements incorporated by reference
in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthgstForm 10-K. [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlearge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reportirmpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act:

Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file [0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje Act). YesO No

The aggregate market value of voting stock helddy-affiliates of the registrant, as of June 3d,20he last day of registrant’s most
recently completed second fiscal quarter, was $912B,918 (based on the closing price for sharéiseofegistrant's Common Stock as
reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market on J88e£2013). Shares of Common Stock held by eacbuixe officer, director, and hold
of 5% or more of the outstanding Common Stock Hamen excluded in that such persons may be deenteddffiliates. This determination of
affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusivieedrination for other purposes.

As of January 31, 2014, there were 123,191,938&shafrthe registrant’'s Common Stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’'s Proxy Statement fer2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorfaatdnerein by reference in Part lll of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent statectimeiSuch proxy statement will be filed with thecGeties and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of the registrant’s fiscal year ednddecember 31, 2013.
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Forward-Looking Statements

The discussions in this Annual Report on Form 10d€ntain forward-looking statements reflecting ouurent expectations that
involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-laonk statements include, but are not limited to, fgments concerning our strategy, future
operations, future financial position, future revares, projected costs, profitability, expected aestuctions, capital adequacy, expectations
regarding demand and acceptance for our technolagigrowth opportunities and trends in the marketihich we operate, prospects and
plans and objectives of management. The wa"anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “expects™intends”, “may”, “plans”, “projects”,
“will”, “would” and similar expressions are intendd to identify forward-looking statements, althougiot all forward-looking statements
contain these identifying words. We may not actyadichieve the plans, intentions or expectationscttised in our forward-looking
statements and you should not place undue reliaoceour forward-looking statements. Actual results or events coditfer materially from
the plans, intentions and expectations disclosedhr forward-looking statements that we make. Thésevard-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties that could cause our actuakults to differ materially from those in the farard-looking statements, including,
without limitation, the risks set forth in Part litem 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Fom 10K and in our other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. We do not asswany obligation to update any forwa-looking statements.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We design, develop, manufacture and sell high-pedioce fully electric vehicles and advanced electehicle powertrain components.
We have established our own network of sales arvicgecenters and Supercharger stations globally theating a unique business model in
the automobile industry. We have operationallyatited our business in a manner that we believeewilble us to rapidly develop and launch
advanced electric vehicles and technologies. Wieweebur vehicles, electric vehicle engineeringeziipe, and operational structure
differentiates us from incumbent automobile mantufieers.

We are currently producing and selling our secaoglticte, the Model S sedan. Model S is a four dfveg;passenger premium sedan that
offers exceptional performance, functionality attdaative styling. The Model S inherited many oé thlectric powertrain innovations we
introduced with our first vehicle, the Tesla Roadsthich was launched in 2008 and was the firstrnensially produced and federally
compliant EV in the United States. We completeddpodion of approximately 2,500 Tesla Roadstersaimudry 2012 and began deliveries of
Model S in June 2012. As of December 31, 2013, axedelivered over 25,000 Model S vehicles in Néatherica and Europe. In 2014, we
expect to grow our presence in several internatiomaakets with deliveries to commence in Chinaalgphe United Kingdom and Australia.
Since its launch, Model S has won several awandfyding the prestigiouslotor TrendCar of the Year for 2013. In November 2013, Model ¢
received 99 out of 100 in an owner survey condubte@onsumer Reportsthe highest customer satisfaction score of anyncéne world. Our
goal is to deliver the highest possible level ohevship satisfaction in every way.

We are adapting the platform architecture of Md@lébd develop our Model X crossover. This uniqueiclethas been designed to fill the
niche between the roominess of a minivan and te ef an SUV, while having high performance featisuch as a dual motor all-wheel drive
system. We revealed a prototype of Model X in Fabr2012. We currently expect to have producticsigteModel X prototypes on the road
by end of year and begin volume deliveries to aust® in the spring of 2015. We have also publiclgaunced our intent to develop a third
generation electric vehicle, to which we refer @fi 111", which we intend to offer at a lower pripeint and produce at higher volumes than
our Model S in approximately three years.

We are also building a network of SuperchargethénUnited States and Europe to enable free andeodent long distance driving.
Superchargers allow Model S owners to replenish BO%e battery pack in as little as 20 minutepe3aharger stations are strategically
placed along well-travelled highways to allow Mo&ebwners to enjoy long distance travel with comeety minimal stops. As of February 19,
2014, we had 90 Supercharger stations open in Mortérica and Europe. We plan to continue to opgue8tharger stations in these region
well as in Asia during 2014 and expect to triple Supercharger stations during 2014. We expectMioatel X and our future cars will be able
to use this network.

We sell and service our electric vehicles throughammpany-owned sales and service network in Nantlerica, Europe and Asia. Our
intent is to offer a compelling customer experiemtdle gathering rapid customer feedback and admipwperating efficiencies, better control
over the costs of inventory, warranty service,ipgcand the development of the Tesla brand. Ostalgtores do not carry large vehicle
inventories and, as a result, do not require cpoeding large floor spaces. We believe the beneftseceive from distribution ownership will
enable us to improve the speed of product develaparel improve the capital efficiency of our busimeWe believe that this approach
provides us with a competitive advantage as congp@arécumbent automobile manufacturers.

In addition to developing our own vehicles, we pdavservices for the development of full electrisyertrain systems and components,
and sell electric powertrain components to othéoraotive manufacturers. We have provided develogrservices and powertrain compone
to Daimler AG (Daimler) for its Smart fortwo, A-Gs, and B-Class electric vehicles. We also haveldped a full electric powertrain system
for
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Toyota Motor Corporation (Toyota) for use in its RAEV and began shipping production componentsaygola in 2012. We also plan to start
selling stationary energy storage products foringemes, commercial sites, and utilities. The @aibns for these battery systems include
backup power, peak demand reduction, demand respand wholesale electric market services.

We conduct our powertrain and vehicle manufactuand assembly operations at the Tesla Factoryintegrated manufacturing facility
in Fremont, California, and at our facility in Tiltg, Netherlands. We have recently indicated otemition to build the Tesla Gigafactory, a
facility in the United States where we intend tonufacture cells and battery packs for our vehiates our stationary storage applications.

Our fully electric vehicles combine zero tailpipmissions, market leading range on a single chamg@essive acceleration, and pricing
competitive with other vehicles in their classes: Example, our Model S accelerates from zero tm#@s per hour in as little as 4.2 seconds
and has a range on a single charge of up to 26&snWe offer Model S with 60 kWh and 85 kWh batteagk options. Model S has an
effective base price of $62,400 and $72,400 irthied States for the 60 kWh and 85 kWh optionspeetively, assuming and after giving
effect to the continuation of a United States fatlex credit of $7,500 for the purchase of altéueefuel vehicles. Even without the tax credit,
we believe our list prices are competitive fronrigipg perspective with other premium vehicles. Bédieve that Model S demonstrates our
ability to produce increasingly affordable electr&hicles that offer longange capabilities and uncompromised performanoergy efficiency
convenience and design.

The commercial production of a highway capabldyfelectric vehicle that meets consumers’ range@ertbrmance expectations
requires substantial design, engineering, and iateg work on almost every system of our vehic{sr roots in Silicon Valley have enabled
us to recruit engineers with strong skills in elieet engineering, power electronics and softwargieering. We have complemented this t
base with automotive engineers with substantiabgiqe in vehicle engineering and manufacturing. &hility to combine expertise in electric
powertrain and vehicle engineering provides a biashbility in electric vehicle design and systemiegration. We believe these capabilities,
coupled with our focus solely on electric vehigehnology as well as our strong in-house engingenimd highly vertical manufacturing
capacity, will enable us to sustain the electrigigke industry leadership we created through tloelpction of the Tesla Roadster and Model S.

Our battery pack and electric powertrain systemdmabled us to deliver market-leading range caipabih our vehicles at what we
believe is a compelling battery cost per kilowaitih Our battery packs use custom electric veliitleim-ion battery cells and contain two to
three times the energy of any other commercialilaisle electric vehicle battery pack, thereby gigantly increasing the range capabilities
our vehicles. Designing an electric powertrain anethicle to exploit its energy efficiency has riegd extensive safety testing and innovation
in battery packs, motors, powertrain systems amitieeengineering. Our proprietary technology imies cooling systems, safety systems,
charge balancing systems, battery engineeringifiwation and environmental durability, customizedtar design and the software and
electronics management systems necessary to mhatigey and vehicle performance under demandingifealriving conditions. These
technology innovations have resulted in an extensitellectual property portfolio—as of December 2213, we had 203 issued patents and
more than 280 pending patent applications withithged States Patent and Trademark Office andriat@nally in a broad range of areas,
including the battery pack and other technologies.

We are designing our vehicles to enable the césttife development of our future vehicles. Forrapie, we have designed Model S
with a platform architecture, which compactly pimsis the battery pack, motor and other elementsiopowertrain within the frame of the
vehicle. We believe this architecture may formllasis of several future vehicles, including ounplked Model X, and enable us to efficiently
and cost effectively launch these new vehicle nodethe future.

Our design and vehicle engineering capabilitiemoed with the technical advancements of our ptraier system, have enabled us to
design and develop zero tailpipe emission vehitiaswe believe
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overcome the design, styling, and performance st we believe have historically limited broassumer adoption of electric vehicles. /
result, we believe our customers enjoy severalfitsnancluding:

* Long Range and Recharging FlexibiliOur vehicles offer ranges that are over doubledhge of any other commercially availa
electric vehicle. In addition, our vehicles incorgie our proprietary on-board charging system, figng recharging from almost
any available electrical outlet. Our Model S vebscalso offer fast charging capability from our &gharger network. We believe
the long-range and charging flexibility of our velles will help reduce consumer anxiety over ramadjeyiate the need for
expensive, large-scale charging infrastructure,difidrentiate our vehicles as compared to our catitgrs’ currently announced
electric vehicle product offering

» Energy Efficiency and Cost of OwnerstWe believe our vehicles offer consumers an attraaost of ownership when compared
to similar internal combustion engine or hybridotlie vehicles. Using only a single electric powairt enables us to create a ligk
more energy efficient vehicle that is mechanicaltypler than currently available hybrid or internambustion engine vehicles. \
currently estimate that the cost to fuel our vedgdk approximately one-fifth that of comparableinal combustion vehicles in the
United States, and even less internationally wigassline prices are typically higher. We also ekpei electric vehicles will have
lower relative maintenance costs than hybrid, pfubybrid, or internal combustion engine vehicleg do fewer moving parts and
the absence of certain components, including difilers, spark plugs and engine valves. Addittip, government incentives that
are currently available can reduce the cost of esip even furthel

» High-Performance Without Compromised Design or Functiiiyn We believe we have been able to successfully ovezdbe
design and performance tradeoff issues that encugtlmost early electric vehicle designs. We beli@wevehicles deliver
unparalleled driving experiences with instantanesmgs sustained acceleration through an extendegt rafnspeed. In addition, our
Model S seats five adults, provides best in clemsmge in the trunk and hood while offering designd performance comparable to,
or better than, other premium sede

Our Vehicles and Products

We currently design, develop, manufacture andfgiyl electric vehicles and electric powertrain qooments. We are currently selling
primarily the Model S.

Model S

Model S is a fully electric, four-door, five-adylassenger sedan that offers compelling range anfiokpence with zero tailpipe
emissions. We began customer deliveries in Jun2.284 of December 31, 2013, we had delivered 080 Model S vehicles.

Model S offers a range on a single charge of W6®miles. To complement this range, we also dffercapability to fast charge Mode
at our Supercharger facilities. In addition, weigesd Model S to incorporate a modular battery padke floor of the vehicle, enabling it to
be rapidly swapped out at certain of our servigaars and specialized commercial battery exchaagjéties that we anticipate may be
available in the future.

We believe Model S offers a unique combinationusfctionality, convenience, safety and styling withoompromising performance and
energy efficiency. With the battery pack in theofl@f the vehicle and the motor and gearbox in Viith the rear axle, Model S provides bes
class storage space of 31.6 cubic feet, includiogage under both the tailgate and the hood. By e¥aypmparison, this storage space exceed:
the approximately 14 cubic feet of storage avadablthe 2014 BMW 5 Series sedan and the approgisnas cubic feet of storage available in
the 2014 Cadillac XTS. In addition, we have desifhtdel S to include a third row with two rear-fagichild seats, allowing us to offer
seating for five adults and two children. Modekiso available with premium luxury features, irithg a 17 inch touch screen driver
interface, advanced
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wireless connectivity, such as 3G connectivity, drider customization of the infotainment and cltmaontrol systems of the vehicle. We
designed Model S to be incorporate new functiopatitough wireless updates, which allows us to iooiatlly improve Model S over time.
Model S has also achieved a five star safety rativig believe the combination of performance, saf&yling, convenience and energy
efficiency of Model S positions it as a compellaternative to other vehicles in the luxury andfpenance segments.

The 60 kWh and 85 kWh battery pack options of Mdg@lélave an effective base price of $62,400, ancdd®02 respectively, in the Units
States, assuming and after giving effect to thdicoation of a United States federal tax credi$®f500 for the purchase of alternative fuel
vehicles. We also offer a performance version oflM& for an effective base price of $85,900.

We have designed Model S to provide a lower costwiership as compared to other vehicles in itsscld/e consider the purchase pi
cost of fuel and the cost of maintenance over geat ownership period in this calculation. We asswcomparable residual values, warranties
insurance costs and promotions and assume thantlyravailable consumer incentives are still alsl# at the time of a Model S purchase. In
addition to the competitive pricing of Model S itala to other premium vehicles, we estimate thatamers of electric vehicles will enjoy
lower fuel costs. For example, assuming an averdd8,000 miles driven per year, an average elggtreost of 11.8 cents per kilowatt-hour
and an average gasoline price of $3.24 per gallen e full ownership of the vehicle which were tiverage electricity cost and gasoline
price in the United States, respectively, for Deben2013, and based on our estimate of the endfigiercy of Model S, we estimate that our
Model S could save approximately $1,800 per yess ie fuel costs than a comparable premium interordbustion engine sedan. In
international markets, where gasoline prices caP-Bé¢imes those of the United States, the savinggr@a&ter. Furthermore, we expect Mod
will have lower maintenance costs than comparatdejpm internal combustion engine sedans due terffemoving parts and the absence of
certain components, including oil, oil filters, skh@lugs and engine valves.

We have designed Model S with an adaptable platemehitecture and common electric powertrain thatintend to leverage to create
future electric vehicle models, including our Modelin particular, by designing our electric powaim within the chassis to accommodate
different vehicle body styles, we believe that e save significant time in future vehicle develepm In addition, we believe our strategy of
using currently available battery cells will enabketo leverage improvements in cell chemistriesrapidly introduce planned vehicles with
different range options.

The Tesla Roadster

Ouir first vehicle, the Tesla Roadster, is the fiigh-performance electric sports car. The two;seaivertible Tesla Roadster has a
combination of range, style, performance and eneffjgiency that we believe is unmatched in the keaitoday. It can accelerate from zero to
60 miles per hour in as little as 3.7 seconds asdahmaximum speed of approximately 120 miles per.iThe Tesla Roadster also has a rang
of 245 miles on a single charge, as determinedjusia United States EPA’s combined two-cycle citilvay test. We have sold
approximately 2,500 Tesla Roadsters to customersen 30 countries, predominately in North Ameiaca Europe. We concluded the
production run of the Tesla Roadster in January2201

Model X

In February 2012, we revealed an early prototypth®@Model X crossover as the first vehicle wernltéo develop by leveraging the
Model S platform. This unique vehicle has beengtesi to fill the niche between the roominess ofimvan and the style of an SUV, while
having high performance features such as a duamaditwheel drive system. Model X will seat seatults. We anticipate that we will make
Model X available with 60 kWh and 85 kWh batterchaptions, with pricing of each version similarthmse of a comparably equipped Mc
S. We currently intend to target an initial annpradduction rate of approximately 20,000 vehiclesysar from our Tesla Factory. We expec
have production design Model X prototypes on ttegrby end of
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2014 and begin volume deliveries to customersérsiiring of 2015. After its initial launch in thenlted States, Model X will be sold in all the
markets where Model S is available including ingAand Europe.

Gen Il

We have also publicly announced our intent to dgvel third generation electric vehicle, to whichneter as “Gen 11" to be produced .
the Tesla Factory. We intend to offer this vehatl& lower price point and expect to produce ftigher volumes than our Model S. We expect
that this vehicle will be produced in approximattiyee years.

Powertrain Development and Sales

In addition to our own vehicles, we also desigrvediep, manufacture and sell advanced electric elpiowertrain components to other
automotive manufacturers.

We have provided development services and full ptraie systems and components to Daimler for ite@hortwo, A-Class, and B-
Class electric vehicles. From May 2009 through Damer 2012, we provided approximately 2,700 batpergks and chargers for the Smart
fortwo and A-Class vehicles. We have completedalpesgrams and are now providing development seswic Daimler for its BElass electri
vehicle. We also have developed a full electric pdin system for Toyota for use in its RAV4 EMddregan shipping production systems to
Toyota in 2012. As of December 31, 2013 we havppsd over 1,600 units.

We are continuing to perform our electric powertradmponent and systems sales and marketing &sipitincipally out of our Palo
Alto facility. This facility, which also serves asir corporate headquarters, houses our researatieaetbpment services, including cell and
component testing and prototyping, as well as magtufing of powertrain components for sales tadtparties. Manufacturing of our
powertrain components is performed at the Tesl#oRac

Stationary Energy Storage Applications

In 2013, we developed stationary energy storageumts for use in homes, commercial sites andieslifThe applications for these
battery systems include backup power, peak denmehettion, demand response and wholesale electriketservices. We plan to ramp sales
of these products in 2014.

Technology

We believe the core competencies of our companp@nertrain, vehicle engineering and innovative afaaturing. Our core intellectu
property is contained within our electric powentraind the ability to design a vehicle which capits on the uniqueness of an electric
powertrain. Our electric powertrain consists of thiébowing: battery pack, power electronics, motpearbox and the control software which
enables the components to operate as a systeme¥igndd each of these major elements for our Resdalster and Model S and plan to use
much of this technology in Model X, Gen I, outtfive electric vehicles and powertrain componerdas we build for other manufacturers. Our
powertrain and battery pack have a modular desigabling future generations of electric vehiclemtmrporate a significant amount of this
technology. Further, our powertrain is very compa contains far fewer moving parts than the itecombustion powertrain. These feati
enable us to adapt it for a variety of applicatiansluding our future vehicles and any powertr@@mponents we build for other manufactur

Battery Pack

We design our battery packs to safely store siggifi amounts of energy and to have long lives eikample, we have designed our Tesl:
Roadster battery packs to store 53 kilowatt hotitsseful energy and to

8
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have an estimated life of over 100,000 miles oeserears. In addition, we have designed our bafiacks to be modular so that we can
leverage technology developments across our diffarehicles and products. Our proprietary technpliogludes cooling systems, safety
systems, charge balancing systems, battery engigder vibration and environmental durability, aitc manufacturing processes, customizec
motor design and the software and electronics me&magt systems necessary to manage battery andevpbhiformance under demanding real
life driving conditions. We have significant exparce and expertise in the safety and managemeetsysieeded to work with lithium-ion
cells in the demanding automotive environment. \Wleke these advancements have enabled us to mredoattery pack at a low cost per
kilowatt-hour.

We believe one of our core competencies is thegdesfi our complete battery pack system. We havigided our battery pack system to
permit flexibility with respect to battery cell améstry, form factor and vendor that we adopt fottdxy cell supply. In so doing, we believe that
we can leverage the substantial battery cell ilvests and advancements being made globally byrpattdl manufacturers to continue to
improve the cost per kilowatteur of our battery pack. We maintain an interratdry cell testing lab and an extensive perforraatatabase ¢
the many available lithium-ion cell vendors androistry types. We intend to incorporate the battals that provide the best value and
performance possible into our battery packs, anéxpect this to continue over time as battery algtinue to improve in energy storage
capacity, longevity, power delivery and cost. Wédwe this flexibility will enable us to continue evaluate new battery cells as they become
commercially viable, and thereby optimize battemglpsystem performance and cost for our currenfatode vehicles. We believe our ability
to change battery cell chemistries and vendorsenieilaining our existing investments in softwatectonics, testing and vehicle packaging,
will enable us to quickly deploy various batteryi€@to our products and leverage the latest adearents in battery cell technology.

The range of our electric vehicles on a single ghaleclines principally as a function of usageetand charging patterns. Customers
of their Tesla vehicle as well as the frequencyhwihich they charge the battery of their Tesla elehtan result in additional deterioration of
the battery’s ability to hold a charge. For example currently expect that the Tesla Roadster byattack will retain approximately 70% of its
ability to hold its initial charge after approxineft 100,000 miles or seven years, which will regulh decrease to the vehicle’s initial range. In
comparison with the Roadster battery pack, we ebdthat the retention rate of the Model S battergkpa greater, due to improvements at the
battery cell and pack level. In addition, basedmernal testing, we estimate that the Model S wddve an approximate 5-10% reduction in
range when operated continuously in 0°C tempersture

To date, we have tested hundreds of battery cetlfferent chemistries, form factors and desigdased on this evaluation, we are
presently using lithium-ion battery cells basedtosn 18650 form factor in all of our battery packée intend to use the same battery cell form
factor in Model X. We entered into a supply agreenweith Panasonic Corporation (Panasonic) for thee af Panasonis’battery cells in Mod:
S and Model X. We expect these battery cells tabéixbetter performance and longer lifetimes tham Ibattery cells used in the Tesla Road

Power Electronics

The power electronics in our electric powertraivgym the flow of electrical current throughout tte, primarily the current that flows
into and out of the battery pack. The power elego®have two primary functions, the control ofgee generation in the motor while driving
and the control of energy delivery back into thédag pack while charging.

The first function is accomplished through the drimverter, which converts direct current (DC) frtdme battery pack into alternating
current (AC) to drive our three-phase induction onst The drive inverter also converts the AC getieeray regenerative braking back into DC
for electrical storage in the battery pack. Theainverter performs this function by using a hjggrformance digital signal processor which
runs some of the most complicated and detailedvaoét in the vehicle. In so doing, the drive inveitedirectly responsible for the
performance, high efficiency and overall drivingpexence of the vehicle.

9
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The second function, charging the battery pacactomplished by the charger, which converts altargaurrent (usually from a wall
outlet or other electricity source) into direct@nt that can be accepted by the battery. Teslglestcan recharge on a variety of AC electrica
outlets, from a common outlet of 15 amps and 12&wp to a high power circuit of 80 amps and 24@sy which provides faster recharging.
The most common home charging system uses a lypB®utlet at 40 amps and 240 volts to recharge &PA equivalent rate of 29 miles
per hour of charge time.

In the United States, Model S vehicles are delivevigh an SAE 1772 industry standard adapter thabkes public AC charging at
thousands of stations. The European version of M8des an industry standard vehicle inlet conmetbiat is also compatible with public
charge stations around Europe. Vehicles in bottuthited States and Europe also come with the Tdslaile Connector which enables
charging from a variety of different outlets forstomers who want a portable solution with maximiewibility. For the fastest possible
charging, we offer a high-voltage, direct curreption for Model S that enables the vehicle to cbdrgm Tesla’s Supercharger network.
Superchargers are able to replenish 50% of therygifick in as little as 20 minutes of charge tiftas flexibility in charging provides
customers with additional mobility, while also allimg them to conveniently charge the vehicle owgnhat home.

Vehicle Control and Infotainment Software

The performance and safety systems of our vehisidgheir battery packs require sophisticated ocbatiftware. There are numerous
processors in our vehicles to control these funstiand we write custom firmware for many of theseessors. The flow of electricity
between the battery pack and the motor must béytigbntrolled in order to deliver the performarased behavior expected in the vehicle. For
example, software algorithms enable the vehiclmitoic the “creep” feeling which drivers expect fr@an internal combustion engine vehicle
without having to apply pressure on the acceler&wnilar algorithms control traction, vehicle sta and the sustained acceleration and
regenerative braking of the vehicle. Software &agsed extensively to monitor the charge statach of the cells of the battery pack and to
manage all of its safety systems. Drivers usertf@rination and control systems in our vehiclesptinize performance, customize vehicle
behavior, manage charging modes and times andat@titinfotainment functions. We develop almostddlthis software, including most of t
user interfaces, internally.

Vehicle Design and Engineering

In addition to the design, development and prodmatif the powertrain, we have created significadtduse capabilities in the design :
engineering of electric vehicles and electric vishcmmponents and systems. We design and engindarsh chassis, interiors, heating and
cooling and low voltage electrical systems in hoaisé to a lesser extent in conjunction with ourpdigps. Our team has core competencies in
computer aided design and crash test simulationshwine expect to reduce the product developmerd tfmew models.

Several traditional automotive subsystems requstdabtantial redesign and custom optimization tegrate with the powertrain of an
electric vehicle. For example, we redesigned tlaihg, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) sgat to integrate with the battery thermal
management system and to operate without the egemgrated from an internal combustion enginedtitan, low voltage electric systems
which power features such as the radio, power wirsdand heated seats also needed to be designeficsilg for use in an electric vehicle.
We have developed expertise in integrating thesgpoments with the high-voltage power source inviiigicle and in designing components
that significantly reduce their load on the vehio#gtery pack, thereby maximizing the availablegeaof the vehicle.

Additionally, our team has expertise in lightweighaterials, a very important characteristic foctle vehicles given the impact of mass
on range. The Tesla Roadster is built with an raly-designed carbon fiber body which providesakahce of strength and mass. Model S is
built with a lightweight aluminum body and chassisich incorporates a variety of materials and patidtn methods that help optimize the
weight of the vehicle.
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Sales and Marketing
Company-Owned Stores and Galleries

We market and sell cars directly to consumers tjinan international network of company-owned stares galleries. Our Tesla stores
and galleries are highly visible, premium outletsriajor metropolitan markets, some of which comb@ateil sales and service. We have also
found that opening a service center in a new ggbgcaarea can increase demand. As a result, wedwaaplemented our store strategy with
sales facilities and personnel in service centeradre rapidly expand our retail footprint. We reffethese as “Service Plus” locations.
Including our Service Plus locations, we now opeeahetwork of over 80 sales and gallery locatiori$orth America, Europe and Asia.
Including all of our sales and service facilitia® currently operate 116 locations. We intend tmgour sales and service network by
approximately 75% during the year ending Decemie814.

We believe that by owning our own sales and seméte/ork we can offer a compelling customer expex@ewhile achieving operating
efficiencies and capturing sales and service res®imcumbent automobile manufacturers do not enjblye traditional franchised distribution
and service model. Our customers deal directly withown Tesla-employed sales and service stafgtiorg what we believe is a differentiated
buying experience from the buying experience corsarhave with franchised automobile dealers andcgecenters. We believe we will also
be able to better control costs of inventory, managrranty service and pricing, maintain and stitegig the Tesla brand, and obtain rapid
customer feedback. Further, we believe that by ogrour sales network we will avoid the conflictioferest in the traditional dealership
structure inherent to most incumbent automobile ufesturers where the sale of warranty parts andirgepy a dealer are a key source of
revenue and profit for the dealer but often arexgrense for the vehicle manufacturer.

Tesla Supercharger Network

We are building a network of up to 120 kWh fastrgiveg equipment, each called a Tesla Superchatyeyghout North America and
Europe for fast charging of Model S. The Tesla Sciparger is an industrial grade, high speed chatgsigned to replenish 50% of the battery
pack in as little as 20 minutes. Superchargerostatare strategically placed along well-travelleghtvays to allow Model S owners to enjoy
long distance travel with convenient, minimal stofss of February 19, 2014, we have 90 Superchafgd¢ions open in North America and
Europe. In the United States, we have implementget&hargers across a major transcontinental ragteell as along key routes in the East
and West Coasts. In Europe, Superchargers enatgedistance travel along key routes in Norway,Nle¢herlands, Germany, Switzerland and
Austria. Access to the Supercharger network iseculy available free of charge to owners of ModekS8icles with the 85 kWh battery pack
options and when purchased as an upfront optioBGddWh. We are planning to methodically expandSheercharger network over the next
few years in the United States, Europe and Asia.

Deposits and Reservations

We typically carry a limited inventory of our Mod8lvehicles at our Tesla stores. While some customay purchase their vehicles
from this inventory, most of our customers choaseustomize the appearance of their vehicle. Weire@ refundable $2,500 deposit for th
orders of our Model S vehicles, which is collectoete the customer has selected the vehicle spaoifis and has entered into a purchase
agreement. The refundable deposit becomes non@hlmdfter two weeks. We require full payment @f plurchase price of the vehicle only
upon delivery of the vehicle to the customer.

For Model X, which is currently not in productiome require an initial refundable reservation paytdrat least $5,000. Reservation
payments and deposits are used by us to fundrinqa working capital requirements and help ualign production with demand.
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Marketing
Our principal marketing goals are to:
* generate demand for our vehicles and drive leadstsales team:
e build lon¢-term brand awareness and manage corporate repur
e manage our existing customer base to create logaltycustomer referrals; a
e enable customer input into the product developrpemtess

Historically, we have been able to generate sigaifi media coverage of our company and our vehiale we believe we will continue
to do so. To date, media coverage and word of mioatie been the primary drivers of our sales leadshave helped us achieve sales without
traditional advertising and at relatively low matikg costs. We also use traditional means of adiegtincluding product placement in a
variety of media outlets and pay-per-click advertients on websites and applications relevant téavget demographics.

Our marketing efforts include events where our elelsiare displayed and demonstrated. These eage from widely attended public
events, such as the Detroit, Los Angeles, and Fuainkuto shows, to smaller events oriented towasadss, such as private drive events.

Service and Warranty
Service

We provide service for our electric vehicles at ooimpany-owned service centers, at our ServicelBbagions or, in certain areas for an
additional charge, through Tesla Ranger mobilert®idins who provide services that do not requivelacle lift. We own and operate over 70
service locations as of February 19, 2014. We antéirruing our plan to build a number of additiosatvice centers in several markets
worldwide.

Tesla Roadster owners can upload data from thiickeand send it to us on a memory card and M8deldesigned with the capability
to wirelessly upload the data to us via an on-b@®#1 system, allowing us to diagnose and remedyymaoblems before ever looking at the
vehicle. When maintenance or service is requiraaistomer can schedule service by contacting oneirofesla service centers. Our Tesla
Rangers can also perform an array of servicegdthabt require a vehicle lift from the convenieéa customer’'s home or other remote
location.

We believe that our company-owned service centaaible our technicians to work closely with our emgrs and research and
development teams in Silicon Valley to identify pl@ms, find solutions, and incorporate improveméasser than incumbent automobile
manufacturers.

New Vehicle Limited Warranty, Maintenance and Extéed Service Plans

For our Model S customers, we provide a four ye&000 mile New Vehicle Limited Warranty with eyeMlodel S, subject to separate
limited warranties for the supplemental restrayigtem and battery. The New Vehicle Limited Warraaiso covers the battery for a period of
eight years or 125,000 miles or unlimited milepefeding on the size of the vehicle’s battery, altftothe battery’s charging capacity is not
covered.

In addition to the New Vehicle Limited Warranty, wier a comprehensive maintenance program for M8de/hich includes plans
covering maintenance for up to eight years or up0@ 000 miles and an Extended Service Plan. Thetemance plans cover annual
inspections, 24 hour roadside assistance and pieecement of wear and tear parts, excluding tinesthe battery, with either a fixed fee per
visit for Tesla Ranger service or unlimited TesknBer visits for a higher initial purchase pricheTExtended Service Plan
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covers the repair or replacement of Model S partsuh additional four years or up to an additids@D00 miles after the New Vehicle Limited
Warranty.

For our Roadster customers, we provided a threegre26,000 mile New Vehicle Limited Warranty wighrery Tesla Roadster, which we
extended to four years or 50,000 miles for the pasers of our 2008 Tesla Roadster. Customers hawgpportunity to purchase an Extended
Service Plan for the period after the end of thevNehicle Limited Warranty to cover the repair eptacement of Roadster parts for up to an
additional three years or 36,000 miles, providexytare purchased within a specified period of titile. have previously provided our Tesla
Roadster customers with a battery replacement mpdioeplace the battery in their vehicles at amgtafter the expiration of the New Vehicle
Limited Warranty but before the tenth anniversdrthe purchase date of their vehicles.

Our New Vehicle Limited Warranties and Extendedvi®erplans are subject to certain limitations, exins or separate warranties,
including certain wear items, such as tires, bygdes, paint and general appearance, and battdorpance, and are intended to cover parts
and labor to repair defects in material or worknhgmén the body, chassis, suspension, interioctedaic systems, battery, powertrain and
brake system. In addition, all plans must be pwetawithin a specified period of time after vehiglechase.

Financial Services

We offer financial products through various finaidnstitutions in the United States, Europe an@Als the United States and Canada,
we offer customer loans through specified commehzaking partners. In connection with certaintedge loans, we offer a resale value
guarantee to all customers who purchased a ModabSinanced their vehicle. Under the program, M&leustomers have the option of
selling their vehicle back to us during the perad@6 to 39 months following delivery for a pre-éehined resale value. This structure allows
the customer to enjoy the benefits of Model S owiigrwithout concern for its resale value.

Manufacturing

We conduct our powertrain and vehicle manufactuand assembly operations at the Tesla Factonyintegrated manufacturing facility
in Fremont, California, and at our facility in Tiltg, Netherlands.

We manufacture Model S and certain componentsatfeatritical to our intellectual property and qtiafitandards for Model S at the
Tesla Factory. The Tesla Factory contains seveaalufacturing operations, including stamping, maiclgincasting, plastics, body assembly,
paint operations, final vehicle assembly and entiref testing. In addition, we manufacture lithiuam battery packs, electric motors,
gearboxes and components both for our vehiclesanalir original equipment manufacturer customertha Tesla Factory. Several major
component systems of our vehicles are purchased$uppliers; however we have a high level of valtictegration in our manufacturing
processes at the Tesla Factory. We also intentbttupe the Model X and our Gen Il vehicle at thesla Factory.

We continue to ramp production at the Tesla Facioiy believe that we will be able to continue wréase its production capacity
through additional capital spending as well as ltynging operating patterns and adding additiontssin 2014, we intend to create new
assembly and body shop lines which we have designednufacture both Model S and Model X.

For our vehicles delivered into the European Unieaconduct significant vehicle assembly and tgstinour facilities in Tilburg,
Netherlands. This facility also serves as a pampean parts warehouse and regional customer semiter.

We have recently indicated our intention to buiild Tesla Gigafactory, a facility where we intenaviark together with our suppliers to
integrate battery precursor material, cell, moduid battery pack production in

13



Table of Contents

one location. While we have not identified a fisaé for this facility, we currently expect thatitll be located in one of the following states:
Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico or Texas. We curreattpect the facility to be built on a lot betwee®%3Mhd 1,000 acres in size, with up to
approximately 10 million square feet of productgpace with one or two levels. At full implementatithe Tesla Gigafactory is expected to
have 6,500 dedicated Tesla and production partnptoyees. We currently plan to commence supplyeitteby packs manufactured at the
Tesla Gigafactory for our vehicles, including ther@lIl vehicle, and stationary storage applicatjionapproximately three years. The Tesla
Gigafactory is currently expected to attain fulbguction capacity in 2020, which is anticipatedbéosufficient for the production of
approximately 500,000 vehicles annually and statipistorage applications.

We believe that the Tesla Gigafactory will allowtasachieve a major reduction in the cost of outdrg packs of greater than 30% on a
per kWh basis by the end of the first year of vaduypnoduction of Gen Ill. The total capital expendis associated with the Tesla Gigafactory
through 2020 are expected to be $4-5 billion, ofclwlapproximately $2 billion is expected to comenfrTesla.

Supply Chain

Model S uses over 2,000 purchased parts which wesglobally from over 300 suppliers, the majodfywhom are currently our single
source suppliers for these components. We havdajme close relationships with several key supglparticularly in the procurement of cells
and certain other key system parts. While we olstamponents from multiple sources whenever posssioiglar to other automobile
manufacturers, many of the components used in ehicles are purchased by us from a single source.

To date, we have not qualified alternative soufoesnost of the single sourced components usediirvehicles and we generally do not
maintain long-term agreements with our supplierkil®Mve believe that we may be able to establigdrédite supply relationships and can
obtain or engineer replacement components for iogiessource components, we may be unable to do the short term or at all at prices or
costs that are favorable to us. For example, veglesral sources of the battery cell we have seldoteour battery packs are available, we t
fully qualified only two cells from one supplierrfthese cells. Any disruption in the supply of eithattery cells could temporarily disrupt
production of the vehicles until such time as dedént cell is fully qualified and there can beassurance that we would be able to succes:
retain alternative sources of supply on a timelsiiaMoreover, battery cell manufacturers may npp$y us at reasonable prices or on
reasonable terms or may choose to refuse to segdyric vehicle manufacturers to the extent thetgnine that the vehicles are not
sufficiently safe.

We use various raw materials in our business inctudluminum, steel, nickel and copper. The priceshese raw materials fluctuate
depending on market conditions and global demanthsse materials. We believe that we have adegugiglies or sources of availability of
the raw materials necessary to meet our manufactamd supply requirements. There are always aBskisuncertainties, however, with respec
to the supply of raw materials that could impaeirtiavailability in sufficient quantities or reasdrle prices to meet our needs.

Quality Control

Our quality control efforts are divided betweendwot quality and supplier quality, both of whicle docused on designing and produc
products and processes with high levels of relighiOur product quality engineers work with ouigéreering team and our suppliers to help
ensure that the product designs meet functionalifsgpetions and durability requirements. Our suepljuality engineers work with our
suppliers to ensure that their processes and sysiegrcapable of delivering the parts we needeatdfuired quality level, on time, and on
budget.
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Customers and Selected Relationships

We currently sell our cars primarily to individualstomers. We have strategic or commercial relgkiips with Daimler, Toyota, and
Panasonic.

Daimler AG

Beginning in 2008, we commenced efforts on a paaigrtdevelopment arrangement with Daimler. In MB92, we entered into a
development agreement with Daimler under which axelperformed specified research and developmevites for the development of a
battery pack and charger for Daimler’'s Smart forglexctric drive. All development work related t@ tlevelopment agreement had been
completed as of December 31, 2009. Through Decegiiet, we had sold over 2,100 battery packs andyehafor the Smart fortwo electric
drive program. In the first quarter of 2010, Daindaegaged us to assist with the development amdlption of a battery pack and charger for ¢
pilot fleet of its AClass electric vehicles to be introduced in Eurdipeéng 2011. A formal agreement for this arrangetweas entered into wi
Daimler in May 2010. In October 2010, we complateeldevelopment of the A-Class battery pack andgehraand began shipping production
parts in February 2011. Through December 2011, alkaver 500 battery packs and chargers for thelads€EV program. In the first quarter
of 2010, we completed the development and salecafutar battery packs for electric delivery vansRKogightliner, an affiliate of Daimler.
Freightliner plans to use these electric vansliméed number of customer trials.

In the first half of 2012, we received two purchasgers from Daimler related to the developmersd &ill electric powertrain for the B-
Class Mercedes-Benz vehicle. During the fourth tguanf 2012, we entered into a final developmeméeament for the B-Class, which includes
certain development milestones and related paym@fgsntered into an agreement for production gartthis B-Class program in July 2013.
We currently expect to substantially complete cewedlopment services under this program in early324id to commence production of
electric powertrains and battery packs to Daimtertly thereafter.

In addition to these agreements, Blackstar Invelstdd (Blackstar), an affiliate of Daimler, benefidly owned 4,867,929 shares of our
common stock as of December 31, 2013.

Toyota Motor Corporation

In May 2010, we and Toyota announced our interntiiorooperate on the development of electric vehj@ead for us to receive Toyota’'s
support with sourcing parts and production and reggying expertise for Model S. In July 2010, weeesd into an early phase agreement to
develop an electric powertrain for the Toyota RAWith an aim by Toyota to market the electric véhia the United States in 2012,
prototypes would be made by combining the Toyota/RAnodel with a Tesla electric powertrain. We bedameloping and delivering
prototypes to Toyota for evaluation in September®0

In October 2010, we entered into a contract sesviggreement with Toyota for the development ofla&ted powertrain system,
including a battery, power electronics module, magearbox and associated software, which willntegrated into an electric vehicle version
of the Toyota RAV4. We completed all of the develgmt services for the RAV4 EV in the first quamé2012.

Additionally, in July 2011, we entered into an agrnent to supply Toyota with electric powertrainteys for the RAV4 EV. We began
delivery of these systems to Toyota for installatiato the Toyota RAV4 EV in the first half of 201Qur production activities under this
program are expected to continue through 2014. Xded to complete shipping electric powertrainstfa current RAV4 model by the end of
this year.

In addition to these agreements, in July 2010, ale 2,941,176 shares of our common stock to Togbtaur IPO price of $17.00 per
share.

15



Table of Contents

Panasonic

Panasonic is a supplier of battery cells for outdrg packs. In January 2010, we announced that&ve collaborating with Panasonic on
the development of next-generation electric vehields based on the 18650 form factor and nickekbdithium ion chemistry. In October
2011, we finalized a supply agreement for thesgehatells. The agreement supplies us with battelyg to build more than 80,000 vehicles
over the next four years. In October 2013, we eadté@nto an amendment to the supply agreement tongrather things, provide for the long-
term preferential prices and a minimum of 1.8 biillithium-ion battery cells that we intend to puase from Panasonic from 2014 through
2017.

In November 2010, we sold 1,418,573 shares of onmeon stock to an entity affiliated with Panasabarporation at a price of $21.15
per share.

Governmental Programs, Incentives and Regulations
Full Repayment of United States Department of Engrigoans

In May 2013, we paid $451.8 million to settle altstanding loan amounts due under a loan faciléyhad entered into with the Federal
Financing Bank (FFB) and the United States DepartraBEnergy (DOE), under the DOE’s Advanced Tedbgy Vehicles Manufacturing
Loan Program, as set forth in Section 136 of ther§y Independence and Security Act of 2007 (ATVMdPam). We refer to the loan facility
with the DOE as the DOE Loan Facility.

Under the DOE Loan Facility, the FFB had made abdd to us two multi-draw term loan facilities in aggregate principal amount of
$465.0 million beginning on January 20, 2010. Aswofust 31, 2012, we had fully drawn down the afoeationed facilities. On May 22,
2013, we paid $451.8 million to fully retire ourligations under the DOE Loan Facility.

In connection with the closing of the DOE Loan kiagciwe had also issued a warrant to the DOE telpase up to 9,255,035 shares of
our Series E convertible preferred stock at anasemprice of $2.51 per share. Upon the compledfaour initial public offering on July 2,
2010, this preferred stock warrant became a watogptirchase up to 3,090,111 shares of common stioak exercise price of $7.54 per share
As a result of our repayment of all outstandingngipal and interest under the DOE Loan Facility #ratermination of the DOE Loan Facility
in May 2013, the DOE warrant expired. Additionallye amortized all remaining unamortized debt isseatosts related to the DOE Loan
Facility.

California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transpation Financing Authority Tax Incentives

In December 2009, we finalized an arrangement thighCalifornia Alternative Energy and Advanced Tportation Financing Authority
(CAEATFA) that resulted in an exemption from Cailifa state sales and use taxes for $320 milliomafiufacturing equipment. As the
equipment purchased would otherwise have beendubj€alifornia state sales and use tax, we belikis incentive resulted in tax savings
us of approximately $31 million over the periodrStey in December 2009 and ending in December 20h8.equipment purchases were used
only for three purposes: (i) to establish our piigun facility for Model S in California, (ii) topgrade our Palo Alto powertrain production
facility, and (iii) to expand our current Tesla Rister assembly operations at our Menlo Park fgcilit January 2012, we finalized an
additional agreement with CAEATFA that will resuitan exclusion from California state sales andtages for up to $292 million of
manufacturing equipment. To the extent all of #gsiipment is purchased and would otherwise be sutgjeCalifornia state sales or use tax,
believe this incentive would result in tax savitnysus of up to approximately $24 million over theripd starting in December 2011 and enc
in December 2015. The equipment purchases maydibardy for two purposes: (i) to develop Model Xdats production capacity in
California and, (ii) to further upgrade our powaitr production facilities in California. In Decemf#013, we exhausted all funds from the
December 2009 approved exemption from Califorrasessales and use taxes for
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$320 million of manufacturing equipment. Also ind@enber 2013, we finalized an additional agreemétit GAEATFA that will result in an
exclusion from California state sales and use téoxesp to $415 million of manufacturing equipmenit the extent all of this equipment is
purchased and would otherwise be subject to Caldicstate sales or use tax, we believe this ineentbould result in tax savings by us of up to
approximately $35 million over the period startinddecember 2013 and ending in December 2016. Ghgment purchases may be used
for three purposes: (i) to expand Model S manufamgucapacity in California, (ii) to expand electriehicle powertrain production in
California, and (iii) Model S future electric veleadevelopment.

Regulatory Credits

In connection with the production, delivery andgalenent into service of our zero emission vehialegiobal markets, we have earned
will continue to earn various tradable regulatomydits that can be sold to other manufacturers.

Under California’s Zero-Emission Vehicle Regulasamnd those of states that have adopted the Gatifetandards, vehicle
manufacturers are required to ensure that a poofitime vehicles delivered for sale in those stdtegtng each model year are zero emission
vehicles and partial zero emission vehicles. Culyethe states of Arizona, California, Connectjadaine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New
Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Rhode Island Vermont have such laws in effect. These lawsige that a manufacturer of may
earn credits, referred to as ZEV credits, if theydpice more zero emission vehicles than the minimuantity required by those laws. Those
manufacturers with a surplus of credits may selséexcess credits to other manufacturers whoheamapply such credits to comply with the
regulatory requirements, including making up fofidis. As a manufacturer of solely of zero emissiehicles, we have no minimum
requirement, and as a result, we earn ZEV creditsach vehicle delivered and placed into servicuth states. We have entered into
agreements with other automobile manufacturergltdle ZEV credits that we earn. Recently, Catifarpassed amendments to the ZEV
mandate that would require all large volume martufaes (those manufacturers selling 20,000 or maehécles in California in 2018) to
increase the number of zero emission vehiclessalting in 2018. Under the new requirements, B520p to 15.4% of each large volume
manufacturers’ fleet must be made of zero emissatricles. All states that have adopted the Califopnogram will amend their programs to
conform to the new California standards.

Additionally, under the Environmental Protectionehgy’s (EPA) national greenhouse gas (GHG) emissiandards and similar
standards adopted by the Canadian government,lgghanufacturers are required to meet fleet-widsaye carbon dioxide emissions
standards for cars and trucks. Those manufactuteose fleet wide average fails to meet such staisdaave a deficit in their emission
profile. Those manufacturers whose fleet wide ayerserforms better than such standards may eaditri¥lanufacturers may sell excess
credits to other manufacturers who can apply suedlits to comply with these regulatory requiremeAtssa manufacturer solely of zero
emission vehicles, we earn the full amount of GH&lits established by the standards on each vedotde We have entered into agreements
with another automobile manufacturer to sell thedlts that we earn.

Under the National Highway Traffic Safety Adminaion’s (NHTSA) Corporate Average Fuel Economy (EABtandards, vehicle
manufacturers are required to meet fleet-wide aeefael economy standards for cars and trucks. & hemufacturers whose fleet-wide
average fails to meet such standards have a digfitieir fuel economy profile. Those manufactusstmse fleet-wide average performs better
than such standards may earn credits. Manufactorayssell excess credits to other manufacturersaanoapply such credits to comply with
these regulatory requirements. We have enteredagmeements to sell the credits that we earn.

We have entered into contracts for the sale ofleggry credits with several automotive manufactsir&or the years ended December 31
2013, 2012, and 2011, we earned revenue from thesaegulatory credits of $194.4 million, $40.5lran, and $2.7 million, respectively. W\
earned revenue from the sale of ZEV credits spetifi over the same time periods of $129.8 milli$82.4 million, and $2.7 million.
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Regulation—Vehicle Safety and Testing

Our vehicles are subject to, and the Tesla Roadstaplies with, or is exempt from, numerous reguatequirements established by the
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NISR), including all applicable United States federaitor vehicle safety standar
(FMVSS). The Model S fully complies with all FMVS8sthout the need for any exemptions. As a manufact we must self-certify that a
vehicle meets or otherwise obtain an exemption fatirapplicable FMVSSs, as well as the NHTSA bungiandard, before the vehicle can be
imported into or sold in the United States. Thaeraumerous FMVSSs that apply to our vehicles. Eptamof these requirements include:

« Crash-worthiness requirementsincluding applicable and appropriate level of wiistructure and occupant protection in frontal,
side and interior impacts including through use@dfipment such as seat belts and airbags whichgatisty applicable
requirements

» Crash avoidance requirementsincluding appropriate steering, braking and equptmequirements, such as, headlamps, tail
lamps, and other required lamps, all of which nwastform to various photometric and performance iregquents;

» Electric vehicle requiremen—limitations on electrolyte spillage, battery reten, and avoidance of electric shock following
specified crash test

* Windshield defrosting and defoggi—defined zones of the windshield must be clearetiw# specified timeframe; ai
» Rearview mirror requiremen—rearward areas that must be visible to the driieethe mirrors

Due to the limited number of Roadsters originaligduced, we applied for, and were granted, exemgtioom certain advanced air bag
and electronic stability control requirements, whapplied to Tesla Roadsters manufactured througrehber 7, 2011. For Model S, we have
certified the vehicle as compliant with all U.Sfetg standards without exemptions. Under U.S. la@ are required to certify compliance with,
or obtain exemption from all applicable federal arotehicle safety standards and we have done $orespect to each vehicle we have offe
for sale in the United States. Based on testingineering analysis, and other information, we heatified that the Tesla Roadster complies
with, or is exempt from all applicable NHTSA starfain effect at the time of manufacture by affikim certification label to each Tesla
Roadster sold. Based on testing, engineering asaysl other information we have certified the Md8l@s complying with all applicable
NHTSA standards in effect at the time of manufaety affixing a certification label to each Modes&d.

We are also required to comply with other requirsta®f federal laws administered by NHTSA, incluglthe Corporate Average Fuel
Economy standards, Theft Prevention Act requiresjyaansumer information labeling requirements,ye&drning reporting requirements
regarding warranty claims, field reports, death @ty reports and foreign recalls, and owner'shoe requirements.

Our vehicles sold in Europe are subject to Europd@ion safety testing regulations. Many of thosgutations, referred to as European
Union Whole Vehicle Type Approval (WVTA), are diffmt from the federal motor vehicle safety standagplicable in the United States and
may require redesign and/or retesting. For Mod&e&successfully completed full EU WVTA homologatiand received approval last year by
the RDW, the Dutch type approval authority. Duedciprocity agreements in place throughout the peao Union, RDW's type approval is
valid in the entire EU. We have also sought anéixex type approval for non-EU European countifeduding Switzerland, Iceland, and
Norway. We also plan to introduce Model S vehidgtesther markets such as China, Japan, and Austi&ke successfully demonstrated
received type approval for delivery of 85kWh eq@gpModel S vehicles to China. Plans are curremntijeoway to obtain type approval for the
60kWh equipped Model S vehicle in China and botitelpa pack variants for markets in Japan and Aliatrimcluding a forthcoming right-
hand drive version.
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The Automobile Information and Disclosure Act regsi manufacturers of motor vehicles to disclostageinformation regarding the
manufacturer’s suggested retail price, optionaigent and pricing. In addition, the Act allows lugion of city and highway fuel economy
ratings, as determined by EPA, as well as craghidagngs as determined by NHTSA if such testscareducted.

Regulation—EPA Emissions & Certificate of Confornyit

The Clean Air Act requires that we obtain a Cegdife of Conformity issued by the EPA and a Calioxecutive Order issued by the
California Air Resources Board (CARB) with resptcemissions for our vehicles, including Model &eTCertificate of Conformity is requir
for vehicles sold in states covered by the CleanA&t’s standards and both the Certificate of Comiity and the Executive Order is required
for vehicles sold in states that have sought aoeived a waiver from the EPA to utilize Califorsindards. The California standards for
emissions control for certain regulated pollutdaotsnew vehicles and engines sold in Californiaseeby CARB. States that have adopted the
California standards as approved by EPA also rezeghe Executive Order for sales of vehicles.

Regulation—Battery Safety and Testing

Our battery pack conforms with mandatory regulatitirat govern transport of “dangerous goods” they present a risk in
transportation, which includes lithiuron batteries. The governing regulations, whichissaed by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materialst$
Administration (PHMSA) are based on the UN Recomaations on the Safe Transport of Dangerous Good$elMRegulations, and related
UN Manual Tests and Criteria. The regulations ‘arynode of transportation when these items arepsghijguch as by ocean vessel, rail, truck
or by air.

We have completed the applicable transportatidis fes our prototype and production battery packsdnstrating our compliance with
the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria, including:
e Altitude simulatior—simulating air transpor
e Thermal cyclinc—assessing cell and battery seal integ
» Vibration—simulating vibration during transpo
»  Shock—simulating possible impacts during transport;
» External short circui—simulating an external short circL

We also subject our battery packs to the appraptestts specified in the Society of Automotive Ergrs (SAE) J2464 and J2929 which
include further tests such as immersion, humidihg exposure to fire.

We use lithium metal oxide cells in our battery kmcThe cells do not contain any lead, mercuryngach, or other hazardous materials,
heavy metals, or any toxic materials. Our battexglkss include certain packaging materials which @orntrace amounts of various hazardous
chemicals whose use, storage and disposal is tedulader federal law. We currently have an agre¢méh a third party battery recycling
company to recycle our battery packs. If a custowishes to dispose of a battery pack from one ofvehicles, we anticipate accepting the
depleted battery from the customer without any téoithl charge.

Automobile Manufacturer and Dealer Regulation

State law regulates the manufacture, distributimhsale of automobiles, and generally requires maghicle manufacturers and dealers
to be licensed. To the extent possible, we plaeture dealer licenses (or the equivalent of aadéaénse) and engage in activities as a moto
vehicle dealer in so far as we are permitted tealas we open additional Tesla stores and sergiters. Some states do not permit automs
manufacturers to be licensed as dealers or tondheicapacity of a dealer. To sell vehicles tidergs of states
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where we are not licensed as a dealer, to the péemitted by local law, both the actual sale wioggnerally have to occur out of state. In this
scenario, it is possible that activities relatedniarketing, advertising, taking orders, taking reagons and reservation payments, and
delivering vehicles could be viewed by a stateasiacting unlicensed activities in the state oeothise violating the state’s motor vehicle
industry laws. Regulators in these states may reaus to hold and meet the requirements of appatgpdealer or other licenses and, in states
which manufacturers are prohibited from acting ealers, may otherwise prohibit or impact our plahaetivities.

In jurisdictions where we do not have a Tesla stareustomer may try to purchase our vehicles theemternet. However, some states
have laws providing that a manufacturer cannovdel vehicle to a resident of such state exceputfh a dealer licensed to do business ir
state which may be interpreted to require us tow@pstore in such state in order to sell vehideasstresidents. In some states where we have
opened a viewing “gallery” that is not a full rdtiaication, it is possible that a state regulatmuld take the position that activities at our galle
constitute an unlicensed motor vehicle dealershipthereby violates applicable manufacturer-ddales. Although we would prefer that a
state regulator address any concerns by discusaitgconcerns with us and requesting voluntary diamge, a state could also take action
against us, including levying fines or requiringttve refrain from certain activities. In additi@mme states have requirements that service
facilities be available with respect to vehicle&ldao the state, which may be interpreted to aéxquire that service facilities be available with
respect to vehicles sold over the internet to exglof the state thereby limiting our ability &l wehicles in states where we do not maintain
service facilities.

The foregoing examples of state laws governingstie of motor vehicles are just some of the reguiatwe face as we sell our vehicles.
In many states, the application of state motoraleHaws to our specific sales model is largelyhwitt precedent, particularly with respect to
sales over the internet, and would be determined fagt specific analysis of numerous factors udirig whether we have a physical presence
or employees in the applicable state, whether wertide or conduct other activities in the applleadiate, how the sale transaction is
structured, the volume of sales into the state,veimether the state in question prohibits manufactufrom acting as dealers. As a result of the
fact specific and untested nature of these issunebthe fact that applying these laws intendedHertraditional automobile distribution model
to our sales model allows for some interpretatioth discretion by the regulators, state legal prtibits may prevent us from selling to
consumers in such state.

Moreover, as we expand our footprint in the Unifdtes, Dealer Associations have been bringirgatibn challenging the legality of
our operations, as well as trying to use admirtisaand legislative processes to shut down odityald expand and even threatening existing
operations. Although we have prevailed in everysiaitvbrought by these Dealer Associations in Masssetts, New York and Ohio, we exp
that additional challenges will be brought. In aidehi, Dealer Associations are actively lobbying @mors and legislators to interpret laws or
enact new laws not favorable to Tesla’s ownership@peration of its own retail and service location

Furthermore, while we have performed an analysth@frincipal laws in the European Union relatiogur distribution model and
believe we comply with such laws, we have not penfed a complete analysis in all foreign jurisdioBan which we may sell vehicles.
Accordingly, there may be laws in jurisdictions have not yet entered or laws we are unaware afrigdictions we have entered that may
restrict our vehicle reservation practices or otheginess practices. Even for those jurisdictioashave analyzed, the laws in this area can be
complex, difficult to interpret and may change otiere.

In addition to licensing laws, specific laws andukations in each of the states (and their intégpi@n by regulators) may limit or
determine how we sell, market, advertise, and atisersolicit sales, take orders, take reservat@musreservation payments, deliver, and
service vehicles for consumers and engage in aeittenties in that state. While we have performadaaalysis of laws in certain jurisdictions
which we have Tesla stores, we have not performeahglete analysis in all jurisdictions in which way sell vehicles. Accordingly, there
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may be laws in jurisdictions we have not yet erdéhat may restrict our vehicle reservation pradior other business practices.

Competition

Competition in the automotive industry is intense avolving. We believe the impact of new reguhat@quirements for occupant safety
and vehicle emissions, technological advancesvepinain and consumer electronics components, hifithg customer needs and
expectations are causing the industry to evolwhendirection of electric-based vehicles. We beaithe primary competitive factors in our
markets include but are not limited to:

technological innovatior
product quality and safet
service options

product performance
design and stylinc

brand perceptior
product price; an
manufacturing efficiency

We believe that our vehicles compete in the makét based on their traditional segment classificaas well as based on their
propulsion technology. Within the electric-basetigke segment, there are three primary means ofpoan electrification which will
differentiate various competitors in this market:

Electric Vehiclesare vehicles powered completely by a single ondbeaergy storage system (battery pack or fuel edlligh is
refueled directly from an electricity source. Bttle Tesla Roadster and Model S are examples dfielgehicles.

Plug-in Hybrid Vehiclesare vehicles powered by both a battery pack witklaotric motor and an internal combustion engihéctv
can be refueled both with traditional petroleumiduer the engine and electricity for the batteack. The internal combustion
engine can either work in parallel with the electriotor to power the wheels, such as in a panaligj-in hybrid vehicle, or be used
only to recharge the battery, such as in a setig-in hybrid vehicle like the Chevrolet Vo

Hybrid ElectricVehicles are vehicles powered by both a batterk path an electric motor and an internal combusgogine but
which can only be refueled with traditional petrgiefuels as the battery pack is charged via regginerbraking, such as used in a
hybrid electric vehicle like the Toyota Prit

The worldwide automotive market, particularly fdteanative fuel vehicles, is highly competitive tydand we expect it will become ey
more so in the future. Prior to the introductiortioé Nissan Leaf in December 2010, no mass prodpeddrmance highway-capable electric
vehicles were being sold in the United Statesapad, Mitsubishi has been selling its electric iMigince April 2010. We expect additional
competitors to enter the alternate fuel vehiclekatwithin the next several years, and as theyodave expect that we will experience
significant competition. In addition, we currentce strong competition from existing automobilenofacturers in the extremely competitive
premium sedan market, including Audi, BMW, Lexusl &fercedes.

Many established and new automobile manufactur@ve kntered or have announced plans to entertdraative fuel vehicle market. In
addition to the Nissan Leaf, Ford has introducedftily electric Ford Focus, Renault has introdutterifully electric Renault Fluence, and F
has introduced the Fiat 500e, among others. More®VBV, Daimler, Lexus, Audi, Fiat, Renault, Volksgen and Volvo are also developing

electric
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vehicles. For example, BMW plans to introduce 3tgity car and i8 sports car in the second quaft@014 and Volkswagen plans to introduce
its fully electric e-Golf in 2014. Several new $taps have also announced plans to enter the miarkpérformance electric vehicles, although
none of these have yet come to market. Finallgtetevehicles have already been brought to mark&hina and other foreign countries and
we expect a number of those manufacturers to émednited States market as well.

In addition, several manufacturers, including Gahktotors, Toyota, Ford, and Honda, are each sehiybrid vehicles, and certain of
these manufacturers have announced plug-in versiatieir hybrid vehicles. For example, in Decemd@t0, General Motors introduced the
Chevrolet Volt, which is a plug-in hybrid vehicleat operates purely on electric power for a limitednber of miles, at which time an internal
combustion engine engages to recharge the battery.

Most of our current and potential competitors hsigmificantly greater financial, technical, manutaig, marketing and other resources
than we do and may be able to devote greater res®tw the design, development, manufacturingiloligion, promotion, sale and support of
their products. Virtually all of our competitorsyeamore extensive customer bases and broader caistord industry relationships than we do.
In addition, almost all of these companies havgéoroperating histories and greater name recogrtitian we do. Our competitors may be in ¢
stronger position to respond quickly to new techgas and may be able to design, develop, markksalhtheir products more effectively. )
believe our exclusive focus on electric vehicled alectric vehicle components, as well as our hystd vehicle development and production,
are the basis on which we can compete in the ghultaimotive market in spite of the challenges pdsedur competition; however, we have a
limited history of operations.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends, at least in part, on outyatailprotect our core technology and intelleciuaperty. To accomplish this, we rely on
a combination of patents, patent applications gsetrets, including know-how, employee and thadypnondisclosure agreements, copyright
laws, trademarks, intellectual property licenses ater contractual rights to establish and pratectproprietary rights in our technology. As
of December 31, 2013, we had 203 issued patentenanel than 280 pending patent applications withithi#éed States Patent and Trademark
Office and internationally in a broad range of are@ur issued patents start expiring in 2026. Wenith to continue to file additional patent
applications with respect to our technology. Wendbknow whether any of our pending patent appbeat will result in the issuance of pate
or whether the examination process will requiréousarrow our claims. Even if granted, there cambassurance that these pending patent
applications will provide us with protection.

Segment Information

We have determined that we operate as one repagigiment, which is the design, development, matwiag and sales of electric
vehicles and electric powertrain components. Flmrmation regarding financial data by geograph&aar see Note 10 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Annual ReparEorm 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements mpplementary Data.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 5,859 full-time lyges. None of our employees are currently reptesieby labor unions or are
covered by a collective bargaining agreement wapect to their employment. To date, we have np¢enced any work stoppages, and we
consider our relationship with our employees t@bed.

Available Information

We file or furnish periodic reports and amendméinéseto, including our Annual Reports on Form 10K Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K; proxy statgsiand other information with the
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Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Suchrteemendments, proxy statements and other infasmenay be obtained by visiting t
Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Streef,Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the opereof the Public Reference Room
can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SE@0BBaddition, the SEC maintains a website ( wwaw.gov) that contains reports, proxy
and information statements, and other informategarding issuers that file electronically. Our nrépoamendments thereto, proxy statements
and other information are also made available, dfezharge, on our investor relations website.&¢stamotors.coras soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file or furnisaich information with the SEC. The information fgalson our website is not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks describeld together with the other information set fadritihis report, which could materially
affect our business, financial condition and futtesults. The risks described below are not thg dsks facing our company. Risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thateuerently deem to be immaterial also may materiatiiyersely affect our business, financial
condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We may be unable to sustain our current level obguction and deliveries of Model S or increase puation and deliveries in line with
our plans, both of which could harm our business @prospects.

We began manufacturing and delivering Model S meJ2012. We have limited experience to date in kiglbhme manufacturing of our
electric vehicles as we only recently reachedgtdiduction of Model S for the U.S. market and hasat recently begun production of Model S
for the European and Asian markets. Our abilitfutther ramp-up high volume Model S production widpend upon a number of factors,
including our suppliers’ ability to deliver qualiparts to us in a timely manner, our ability to ose manufacturing processes as planned for
volume production while maintaining our desiredlgydevels and efficiently making design change®hsure consistently high quality. The
Model S is an all new vehicle which we are prodgairith new employees using new equipment and tbegefur production processes are
maturing. To produce a vehicle that meets our uslandards requires us to carefully analyze sé&h of our production plan, improve the
efficiency of our manufacturing processes and cmgtito train our employees. Our suppliers also prastuce new products in sufficient
guantities and quality levels to meet our demaradtdin suppliers have experienced delays in meetinglemand or have sought to renego
the terms of the supply arrangements, and we agstim focus on supplier capabilities and constsaishy disruption in maintaining our
production level of Model S could materially damage brand, business, prospects, financial condaiod operating results.

We have only recently increased our Model S dejivates in the United States to match our curradtanticipated Model S production
capacity. We have limited experience in the highur@ delivery of our Model S vehicles. We have gty ramped production of Model S
and we intend to continue to increase the produngatite significantly over the next several quartetsthermore, we have only recently
commenced deliveries in Europe and have not deld/&fodel S vehicles outside of North America andope in volume; thus we may face
difficulties meeting our delivery and growth plansAsia and other right hand drive markets latés ykear, which may impact our ability to
achieve our worldwide delivery goals. If we are biedo increase the production rate and increasgveakly delivery rate to match our
production rate of Model S, ramp up deliveries irdpe and Asia and sustain a high level of weekbd® S deliveries throughout the year,
this could result in negative publicity, damage brand and have a material adverse effect on cginéss, prospects, financial condition and
operating results.

In addition, for Model S we have introduced a numifenew manufacturing technologies and technigsesh as aluminum spot welding
systems, which have not been widely adopted imtltemotive industry, and Model S has a number of aied unique design features, such ac
a 17 inch display screen, newly designed retragtekierior door handles and a panoramic roof, edethich poses uniqgue manufacturing
challenges. Model S production and
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deliveries will continue to require significant cesces and we may experience unexpected delayiffioulties that could harm our ability to
maintain full manufacturing capacity for Model $,0ause us to miss planned production targetspamhich could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and operatingutess Additionally, sustaining high volume prodwetiand doing so in a manner that avoids
significant cost overruns, including as a resultagtors beyond our control such as problems wiipiers and vendors, may be difficult.

Our ability to sustain and grow volume productioml @eliveries for Model S is subject to certaiksiand uncertainties, including:

» that our suppliers will be able and willing to deli components on a timely basis and in the nepegsantities, quality and at
acceptable prices to produce Model S in volumeraadh our financial target

» that we will be able to complete any necessarysdijants to the vehicle design or manufacturinggsses of Model S in a timely
manner that meets our production plan and allowifgh quality vehicles

» that we will be able to commence and execute tiiecla and ramp of Model S in Asia pursuant to ourent timeline;
» that we will be able to adequately respond in @&ljnmanner to any problems that may arise withvetlnicles;
» that we will be able to schedule and complete deis at our planned higher volume production

« that the equipment or tooling which we have pureldas which we select will be able to accuratelyhafacture the vehicle within
specified design tolerances, and will not suffenfrunexpected breakdowns or damage which couldinetaaffect the rate
needed to produce vehicles in volur

» that we will be able to comply with environmentabrkplace safety, customs and similar regulati@ugiired to operate our
manufacturing facilities

» that we will be able to maintain and improve quatibntrols as we transition to a higher level ehvuse manufacturing process;
and

» that the information technology systems that wecareently expanding and improving upon will beegtive to manage high
volume production

Finally, detailed long-term testing of quality,ieddility and durability testing of Model S, are angg and any negative results from such
testing could cause production or delivery delagst increases or lower quality of our Model S ekis.

We are dependent on our suppliers, the vast majoat which are single source suppliers, and the ity of these suppliers to continue
to deliver, or their refusal to deliver, necessaigmponents of our vehicles in a timely manner atqas, quality levels, and volumes
acceptable to us would have a material adverseaféa our financial condition and operating results

Model S contains numerous purchased parts whickouece globally from over 300 direct suppliers, tigority of whom are currently
single source suppliers for these components. Wigl@btain components from multiple sources whenpussible, similar to other automot
manufacturers, the majority of the components usedr vehicles are purchased by us from singlecs®u To date we have not qualified
alternative sources for most of the single soumm@dponents used in our vehicles and we do not miaitdng-term agreements with a number
of our suppliers.

While we believe that we may be able to establiwrrzate supply relationships and can obtain oirergg replacement components for
our single source components, we may be unable smdn the short term, or at all, at prices otdisat are favorable to us. In particular,
while we believe that we will be able to secureralate
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sources of supply for most of our single sourcadponents in a relatively short time frame, quatifyalternate suppliers or developing our
own replacements for certain highly customized congmts of our vehicles may be time consuming, g@sttl may force us to make additio
modifications to a vehicle’s design.

This supply chain exposes us to multiple potesiairces of delivery failure or component shortdgedlodel S, as well as for our
powertrain component sales activities. For examgaethquakes similar to the one that occurredpadan March 2011 could negatively img
our supply chain. We have in the past experienoedce disruptions in our supply chains, includingse relating to our slower-than-
anticipated ramp in our Model S production goats2@12. We may experience additional delays infuigre with respect to Model S and any
other future vehicle we may produce. In additioecduise we have written agreements in place witmggjerity, but not all of, our suppliers,
this may create uncertainty regarding certain sagdlobligations to us, including but not limitéal those regarding warranty and product
liability. Changes in business conditions, warsjggamental changes and other factors beyond ouratar which we do not presently
anticipate, could also affect our suppliers’ apitid deliver components to us on a timely basistHeumore, if we experience significantly
increased demand, or need to replace certain mxistippliers, there can be no assurance that aolaigupplies of component parts will be
available when required on terms that are favorables, at all, or that any supplier would allocstéicient supplies to us in order to meet our
requirements or fill our orders in a timely mannarthe past, we have replaced certain supplierause of their failure to provide components
that met our quality control standards. The losarof single or limited source supplier or the digien in the supply of components from these
suppliers could lead to delays in vehicle delivetie our customers, which could hurt our relatigpshvith our customers and also materially
and adversely affect our financial condition anéraging results.

Changes in our supply chain have resulted in tisg pad may result in the future, in increased aostdelay. We have also experienced
cost increases from certain of our suppliers ireotd meet our quality targets and developmentliires as well as due to design changes that
we made, and we may experience similar cost ineimsthe future. Additionally, we are negotiatimigh existing suppliers for cost reductio
seeking new and less expensive suppliers for ogpaits, and attempting to redesign certain pansake them cheaper to produce. If we are
unsuccessful in our efforts to control and redugep$ier costs, our operating results will suffedditionally, cost reduction efforts may
interrupt or harm our normal production procestiesxeby harming Model S quality or reducing Modegdr8duction output.

Furthermore, a failure by our suppliers to provige components in a timely manner or at the lef’/guality necessary to manufacture
our performance electric vehicles such as Moda@dcprevent us from fulfilling customer ordersariimely fashion which could result in
negative publicity, damage our brand and have a&mahtidverse effect on our business, prospec@néial condition and operating results.

Finally, in October 2013, we entered into an amesino our existing supply agreement with Panas@oiporation in order to address
our anticipated short- to medium-term lithium icattery cell needs. While we expect that this supgireement, as amended, will provide us
with sufficient cells for the next few years, weynmeot be able to meet our long-term needs, inclydidmn our third generation electric vehicle,
which we refer as “Gen Ill,” and other programsmay introduce, without securing additional supglier other sources for cells. If we cannot
secure such additional suppliers or sources, wkl@qperience production delays, which could haweaterial adverse effect on our financial
condition and operating results.

If we are unable to adequately reduce the manufaatg costs of Model S or otherwise control the cosissociated with operating our
business, our financial condition and operating nal¢s will suffer.

Our production costs for Model S were high inifadlue to start-up costs at the Tesla Factory, neatuifing inefficiencies including low
absorption of fixed manufacturing costs, higheiidtigs costs due to the immaturity of our supplgiahand higher initial prices for component
parts during the initial period after the launchl aamp of Model S. As we have gradually ramped petidn of Model S, manufacturing costs
per
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vehicle have fallen. While we expect further cestuction efforts undertaken by both us and our lgengpwill continue to reduce costs during
the next several quarters, there is no guarangewvih will be able to achieve planned cost reduastibom our various cost savings initiatives,
and the failure to achieve such savings would rmegjgitaffect our ability to reach our gross margmd profitability goals.

We incur significant costs related to procuring ithe materials required to manufacture our higlfgparance electric cars, assembling
vehicles and compensating our personnel. We mayiradsir substantial costs or cost overruns in iasireg the production capability of Model
S and powertrain manufacturing facilities and tt@ped launch in Asia in the spring of 2014. Fumihere, if we are unable to produce Model
X pursuant to our plan due to cost overruns orratinexpected costs, we may not be able to meegjross margin targets.

Additionally, in the future we may be required mzurr substantial marketing costs and expenseotagie our vehicles, including
through the use of traditional media such as teiewi radio and print, even though our marketingegses to date have been relatively limited
as we have to date relied upon unconventional iadkefforts. If we are unable to keep our opeigtinsts aligned with the level of revenues
we generate, our operating results, business argpects will be harmed. Furthermore, many of tiséofa that impact our operating costs are
beyond our control. For example, the costs of awr materials and components, such as lithium-idtetyacells or aluminum used to produce
body panels, could increase due to shortages halglemand for these products increases. Indedtk {fopularity of electric vehicles exceeds
current expectations without significant expansiobattery cell production capacity and advancesénbattery cell technology, shortages
could occur which would result in increased materiests to us or potentially limit our ability toq@and production.

Our long-term success will be dependent upon ouiligpto design, build and achieve market acceptanaf new vehicle models,
specifically Model S and new vehicle models suchviadel X and Gen Il in the U.S. and abroad.

Our long-term success is dependent on market ssnoepdf the Model S sedan and future electric Vehiwe introduce. In the United
States, there is no guarantee that Model S wiltinaa to be successfully accepted by the genefalgqwespecially in the long-term. As we
expand in Europe and enter into Asia, there isuarantee that customers in these markets will exelwar vehicles and if they do not, dem
for our vehicles could be lower than our expectaid-or example, we have experienced greaterlinitaess in selling Model S vehicles in
Norway than in the rest of Eurog

Moreover, there can be no assurance that we walibe to design future electric vehicles that wiket the expectations of our customers
or that our future models, including the Model Xssover, will become commercially viable. To date,have publicly revealed only an early
prototype of the Model X. To the extent that we ot able to build Model X to the expectations tedaby the early prototype and our
announced specifications, customers may cancelrgervations, our future sales could be harmedrarestors may lose confidence in us.

In addition, we have also announced our intenteteetbp Gen |1l which we expect to produce at theld &actory after the introduction
Model X. We intend to offer this vehicle at a lowaice point and expect to produce it at higheuwaés than our Model S. Importantly, we
anticipate producing our Gen Ill vehicle for thessanarket and thus we will need a high-volume supplithium-ion cells at reasonable
prices. While our plan is to attempt to produdeilim-ion cells and finished battery packs for o@nGll vehicles at a new Tesla Gigafactory,
our plans for such production are at a very eadgesand we have not yet selected a site for thstaection of the Tesla Gigafactory nor
completed a factory design. In addition, we havexperience in the production of lithium-ion celisid accordingly we intend to engage
partners with significant experience in cell proiiue and to date we have not formalized such pestrips. In addition, the cost of building and
operating the Tesla Gigafactory could exceed otneot expectations and the Tesla Gigafactory mkg kanger to bring online than we
anticipate. If we are unable to build the Teslaatagtory in a timely manner to produce high volurokgquality lithium-ion cells for Gen 11l at
reasonable prices and thus are forced to rely loersto

26



Table of Contents

supply us with lithiumion cells for Gen Ill, our ability to produce oue 11l vehicles at a price that allows us to se#hGll profitably could by
constrained. Finally, we have very limited expeceallocating our available resources among thigdesd production of multiple models of
vehicles, such as Model S (including any variargsmay introduce such as right-hand drive), Modeind Gen Ill. While we intend each of
our production vehicles and their variants to nzedistinct segment of the automotive market, olicles may end up competing with each
other which may delay sales and associated revierfuéure periods. Also, if we fail to accuratelyt@ipate demand for each of our vehicles,
this could result in inefficient expenditures anddguction delays. Furthermore, historically, autdif@customers have come to expect new
improved vehicle models to be introduced frequertiyorder to meet these expectations, we mayarfuture be required to introduce on a
regular basis new vehicle models as well as enltawersions of existing vehicle models. As techn@eghange in the future for automobiles
in general and performance electric vehicles smadlif, we will be expected to upgrade or adapt\ehicles and introduce new models in
order to continue to provide vehicles with the $atechnology and meet customer expectations. T dee have limited experience
simultaneously designing, testing, manufacturimgrading, adapting and selling our electric velsicle

Our future growth is dependent upon consumers’ wiljness to adopt electric vehicles.

Our growth is highly dependent upon the adoptiodrysumers of, and we are subject to an elevatkafiany reduced demand for,
alternative fuel vehicles in general and electghbieles in particular. If the market for electriehicles in the U.S., Europe and Asia does not
develop as we expect or develops more slowly thaexpect, our business, prospects, financial ciemdiind operating results will be harmed.
The market for alternative fuel vehicles is relatwnew, rapidly evolving, characterized by rapidhanging technologies, price competition,
additional competitors, evolving government regolaeind industry standards, frequent new vehiciemancements and changing consumer
demands and behaviors.

Other factors that may influence the adoption tdrahtive fuel vehicles, and specifically electrihicles, include:

e perceptions about electric vehicle quality, safetyparticular with respect to lithium-ion battgracks), design, performance and
cost, especially if adverse events or accidentarabat are linked to the quality or safety of éliecvehicles, such as those relate
the Chevrolet Volt battery pack fires or recenideats involving Model S

» perceptions about vehicle safety in general, iti@aar safety issues that may be attributed toutbee of advanced technology,
including vehicle electronics and regenerative immgisystems

* negative perceptions of electric vehicles, suctihasthey are more expensive than mdectric vehicles and are only affordable v
government subsidie

» the limited range over which electric vehicles nbaydriven on a single battery charge and the affefciveather on this rang
» the decline of an electric vehi’s range resulting from deterioration over timehia batter’s ability to hold a chargt

» varied calculations for driving ranges achievahleely's, which is inherently difficult given numerofactors affecting battery
range;

e our capability to rapidly swap out the Model S battpack and our plans to develop specialized pdadtilities to perform such
swapping;

e concerns about electric grid capacity and relighilivhich could derail our past and present efftotpromote electric vehicles as a
practical solution to vehicles which require gase]

« concerns by potential customers that if their bgtpack is not charged properly, it may become ahlesand may need to be
replaced
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» the availability of alternative fuel vehicles, inding plu¢-in hybrid electric vehicles

* improvements in the fuel economy of the internahbastion engine

» the availability of service for electric vehicle

e consumer desire and ability to purchase a luxury automodilene that is perceived as exclusi

» the environmental consciousness of consun

« volatility in the cost of oil and gasolin

e consumer perceptions of the dependency of the United Statesl from unstable or hostile countri

e government regulations and economic incentives ptig fuel efficiency and alternate forms of eneagywell as tax and other
governmental incentives to purchase and operattrieleehicles

e access to charging stations, standardization ofrédevehicle charging systems and consumers’ piaes about convenience and
cost to charge an electric vehicle; ¢

e perceptions about and the actual cost of altereditiel.

In addition, reports have suggested the poterdiadktreme temperatures to affect the range oopaence of electric vehicles, and ba
on our own internal testing, we estimate that ahiees may experience a material reduction ineamlgen operated in extremely cold
temperatures. To the extent customers have conabmg such reductions or third party reports wisighgest reductions in range greater thar
our estimates gain widespread acceptance, outyatoilmarket and sell our vehicles, particularlcoider climates, may be adversely impac

Additionally, we will become subject to regulaticihsit require us to alter the design of our velickehich could negatively impact
consumer interest in our vehicles. For example gbectric vehicles make less noise than internailngstion vehicles. Due to concerns about
quiet vehicles and vision impaired pedestriangaimuary 2011, Congress passed and the Presideatislie Pedestrian Safety Enhancement
Act of 2010. The new law requires NHTSA to estdblisinimum sounds for electric vehicles and hybtatgic vehicles when travelling at Ic
speeds. NHTSA issued a notice of proposed rulergaki2013 and plans to finalize a rule as soornasesime in 2014 with an effective date
that could be implemented by September 1, 2015 Wwhi begin a three year phase-in schedule fatsisthing these minimum sounds in all
electric and hybrid electric vehicles. Adding thitificial noise may cause current or potentialtomeers not to purchase our electric vehicles,
which would materially and adversely affect ouribass, operating results, financial condition armspects.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively asewapidly grow our company, especially internatidhya we may not be able to produce,
market, sell and service our vehicles successfully.

Any failure to manage our growth effectively cout@terially and adversely affect our business, ot operating results and financial
condition. We continue to expand our operationsiigantly in the U.S. as well as in Europe andaA®ur future operating results depend to
large extent on our ability to manage this expamsiod growth successfully. Risks that we face identaking this global expansion include:

» finding and training new personnel, especially égavimarkets such as Europe and A

« controlling expenses and investments in anticipadibexpanded operatior

» establishing or expanding sales, service and Shagger facilities in a timely manne

» adapting our products to meet local requirementoimtries around the world; a

* implementing and enhancing manufacturing, logisticd administrative infrastructure, systems andgsses
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We intend to continue to hire a significant numbgadditional personnel, including manufacturingseenel, design personnel, engine
and service technicians for our performance eleethicles. Because our high-performance vehigie®ased on a different technology
platform than traditional internal combustion ereginwe may not be able to hire individuals witffisignt training in performance electric
vehicles, and we will need to expend significamtetiand expense training the employees we do hinp€tition for individuals with
experience designing, manufacturing and serviciagtec vehicles is intense, and we may not be abbdtract, assimilate, train or retain
additional highly qualified personnel in the fututiee failure of which could seriously harm our ingss, prospects, operating results and
financial condition.

Our limited experience with our product offeringsakes evaluating our business and future prospedftfialt.

We were formed in July 2003 and began deliveringfiost vehicle, the Tesla Roadster, in early 208& only began producing our
second electric vehicle, Model S, in June 2012a@mdporoduction processes continue to mature, eafbethose production processes related t
our Model S deliveries in Europe and our planndiveees in Asia, such as for right-hand drive Mb8eModel S became the primary
contributor to our revenue starting in the fourttader of 2012. We intend in the longer term tawdesubstantial revenues from the sales of
Model S, Model X, Gen lll and future electric veleis. Further, we have only produced an early pyp®bf the Model X crossover and have
only recently started production of Model S for &sDur vehicle design and our engineering, manufagt and component supply plans for
Model S may continue to be adjusted.

In addition, our powertrain component sales, dgualent services revenue and powertrain researcerelopment compensation have
been almost entirely generated under arrangemetitDaimler AG (Daimler) and Toyota Motor Corpoiati(Toyota), and there is no
guarantee that we will be able to enter into fuleeements with these or other companies on faletarms or manufacture and deliver
powertrain components in a manner that is costtffe to us.

Finally, it is difficult to predict our future remeies and appropriately budget for our expenseswartthve limited insight into trends that
may emerge and affect our business. In the evahatttual results differ from our estimates or Wgist our estimates in future periods, our
operating results and financial position could teteamally affected.

We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidangeother expectations about our business, whichulebcause our stock price to
decline.

We occasionally provide guidance regarding our etqzkfinancial and business performance, suchasqgtions regarding the number
vehicles we hope to sell or produce in future pésiand anticipated future revenues, gross marginfitability and cash flows. Correctly
identifying the key factors affecting business dtinds and predicting future events is inherentiyumcertain process. Our guidance is based |
part on assumptions which include, but are nottéohio, assumptions regarding:

* our ability to achieve anticipated production aates volumes and projected average sales pricédddel S in the U.S., Europe
and Asia,;

e supplier and commodi-related costs; ar
» planned cost reduction
Such guidance may not always be accurate or mayfn@n actual results due to our inability to meat assumptions and the impact on
our financial performance that could occur as alted the various risks and uncertainties to ousibess as set forth in these risk factors, or
because of the way that applicable accounting melgsire us to treat new product and service oftgrithat we may offer. We offer no

assurance that such guidance will ultimately beiaate, and investors should treat any such guidaitbeappropriate caution. If we fail to
meet our guidance or if we find it necessary toaseguch guidance, even if such failure or revigson
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seemingly insignificant, investors and analysts hoag confidence in us and the market value ofcourmon stock could be materially and
adversely affected.

Our vehicles make use of lithium-ion battery cellghich have been observed to catch fire or vent kmand flame, and such events have
raised concerns, and future events may lead to &iddal concerns, about the batteries used in autdime applications.

The battery pack in the Tesla Roadster and Modeakes use of lithium-ion cells. We also currentiiend to make use of lithium-ion
cells in battery packs that we sell to Toyota amdihider as well as any future vehicles we may pred@n rare occasions, lithium-ion cells can
rapidly release the energy they contain by versmgke and flames in a manner that can ignite neadigrials as well as other lithium-ion
cells. Extremely rare incidents of laptop computeedl phones and electric vehicle battery packshiag fire have focused consumer attention
on the safety of these cells.

These events have raised concerns about the battesgd in automotive applications. To addres&theestions and concerns, a numbet
of cell manufacturers are pursuing alternativaditi-ion battery cell chemistries to improve safétfe have designed the battery pack to
passively contain any single cell’s release of gnevithout spreading to neighboring cells. Howeweg, have delivered only a limited number
of Tesla Roadsters and Model S sedans to custandrbave limited field experience with our vehickespecially Model S. We have also only
delivered a limited number of battery packs to Ttayand Daimler. Accordingly, there can be no asstgdhat a field or testing failure of our
Model S or other battery packs that we producenatloccur, which could damage the vehicle or keggersonal injury or death and may
subject us to lawsuits. We may have to recall @lnicles or participate in a recall of a vehiclet tt@ntains our battery packs, and redesign oul
battery packs, which would be time consuming arEkasive. Also, negative public perceptions regardire suitability of lithium-ion cells for
automotive applications or any future incident ilvirag lithium-ion cells such as a vehicle or otliieg, even if such incident does not involve
us, could seriously harm our business.

In addition, we store a significant number of litii-ion cells at our manufacturing facility. Any thandling of battery cells may cause
disruption to the operation of our facilities. Whilve have implemented safety procedures relatdtethandling of the cells, there can be no
assurance that a safety issue or fire relatedet@els would not disrupt our operations. Such dgava injury would likely lead to adverse
publicity and potentially a safety recall. Moreovany failure of a competitor’s electric vehiclepecially those that use a high volume of
commodity cells similar to the Tesla Roadster ordEldS, may cause indirect adverse publicity foand our electric vehicles. Such adverse
publicity would negatively affect our brand andmasur business, prospects, financial condition gpefating results.

If our vehicles or vehicles that contain our powesitns fail to perform as expected, or if we suffproduct recalls for Model S, our ability
to develop, market and sell our electric vehicleal be harmed.

Our vehicles or vehicles that contain our powensauch as the Toyota RAV4 EV or the upcoming MieseBenz B-Class EV may
contain defects in design and manufacture thatcaage them not to perform as expected or that edyine repair. For example, our vehicles
use a substantial amount of software code to opeBatftware products are inherently complex anenoontain defects and errors when first
introduced, and changes to software may have uctegeffects. Model S issues experienced by customelude those related to the softw
for the 17 inch display screen, the panoramic eoaf the 12 volt battery. Although we are attemptmgemedy the Model S issues experier
by our customers in a rapid manner by expandingerwice centers and personnel, such efforts mapentimely or up to the satisfaction of
our customers.

While we have performed extensive internal testimg currently have a limited frame of referencenthjch to evaluate the long-term
performance of our battery packs, powertrains afdoles. Specifically, we have only a limited ambohdata by which to evaluate Model S,
upon which our business prospects depend, duetiath that we only recently began production ineJA012. There can be no assurance tha
we will be able to detect and fix any defects ia tiehicles prior to their sale to consumers.
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We have experienced product recalls, including ayM009, October 2010, and June 2013, all of whiete unrelated to our electric
powertrain. In May 2009, we initiated a productakkafter we determined that a condition causethbyfficient torquing of the rear inner hub
flange bolt existed in some of our Tesla Roadstess result of a missed process during the matuéacf the Tesla Roadster glider, which is
the partially assembled Tesla Roadster that doesambain our electric powertrain. In October 204, initiated a product recall after the 12
volt, low voltage auxiliary cable in a single veleichafed against the edge of a carbon fiber partee vehicle causing a short, smoke and
possible fire behind the right front headlamp @f tehicle. In June 2013, we initiated a recalllighsly more than a thousand Model S vehicles
to inspect and repair rear seat strikers that naag lbeen compromised during the assembly process.dRat strikers are used to retain the
seat backs in an upright position. Failure of timponent may have resulted in the collapse ofdheseat back during a crash. Although the
cost of this recall was not material, and limitecatsmall number of total Model S’s produced, we mreperience additional recalls in the
future, which could adversely affect our brand im target markets, as well as our business, prisped results of operations.

Moreover, in January 2014 we implemented a firmwagrgate to address issues with certain Universddild&@onnector NEMA 14-50
adapters, which are part of the charging unitsaaechot part of the vehicles themselves, potept@lerheating during charging. We further
announced that we will provide upgraded NEMASGladapters to our customers as an additional saféglf such measures do not adequi
address the underlying concerns, however, or iptitdic perceives such steps to be an indicaticsat#ty concerns about the vehicles, our
business, prospects and results of operations d@ulchrmed.

Our electric vehicles may not perform consisterthwistomers’ expectations or consistent with ottedricles currently available. For
example, our electric vehicles may not have thalility or longevity of current vehicles, and magt be as easy to repair as other vehicles
currently on the market. Additionally, while Modglrecently achieved an overall five star safetingaby NHTSA, such rating is not a
guarantee of safe product design or that any iddalivehicle will be free of any defect or failumy product defects or any other failure of
our performance electric vehicles to perform aseetgd could harm our reputation and result in axbveublicity, lost revenue, delivery delays,
product recalls, product liability claims, harmdor brand and reputation, and significant warramtgt other expenses, and could have a
material adverse impact on our business, finamciatition, operating results and prospects.

We have a history of losses and have to deliveniigant cost reductions to achieve sustained, letegm profitability and long-term
commercial success.

We have had net losses on a GAAP basis in eacleqsimce our inception, except for the first gaadf 2013. Even if we are able to
successfully maintain our current Model S productavels, there can be no assurance that it wildmemercially successful. In order to
maintain profitability as well as long-term commiafsuccess, we must continue to achieve our plhuwnst reductions and control our
operational costs while producing quality Modelehicles at volume, maintain and increase our M&dd¢livery rates to match our current
anticipated Model S production capacity, maintaiorsy demand for Model S in the U.S., and grow deafar Model S abroad in Europe and
Asia. Failure to do one or more of these thingdatpuevent us from achieving sustained, long-terofifability.

The introduction of our resale value guarantee megsult in lower revenues and profits and exposesasesale risk to the extent many
customers elect to return their vehicles to us ahe residual values of these cars are below the rgudeed value.

We recently began offering a resale value guaraote# customers who purchased a Model S in thigedrStates and Canada and
financed their vehicle through one of our specifiedhmercial banking partners. Under the programd@&i& customers have the option of
selling their vehicle back to us during the perad@6 to 39 months following delivery for a pre-eéehined resale value. As a result of this
resale value guarantee and customers having ti@nagtselling their vehicles to us, we apply leaseounting to such purchases, which
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defers the recognition of the associated revenuestone instead of full recognition at vehicleigety. During the fourth quarter of 2013, we
provided the resale value guarantee to approximd@® of Model S deliveries in the United Stated e expect the penetration rate to
increase with the expansion of our financing proggdn additional states in the United States aridternational markets. Although the resale
value guarantee does not impact our cash flowdiquidity at the time of vehicle delivery, a sigité&nt uptake under this program could ha
significant adverse impact on our near term GAARNeies and operating results. Furthermore, whileleveot assume any credit risk related
to the customer, we are exposed to the risk tleatéthiclesresale value may be lower than our estimates anddlume of vehicles returned
us may be higher than our estimates, which coufzhthour future cash flows and/or profitability. r@antly, there is only a very limited
secondary market for our electric vehicles in jgaftir, and electric vehicles in general, on whihase our estimates, and such a secondary
market may not develop in the future. Our resickadle and return volume estimates could prove timdarrect, either of which could harm
our financial condition and operating results.

Increases in costs, disruption of supply or shoréagf raw materials, in particular lithium-ion cellscould harm our business.

We may experience increases in the cost or a sestaiterruption in the supply or shortage of raatenals. Any such increase or sup
interruption could materially and negatively impaat business, prospects, financial condition gmefating results. We use various raw
materials in our business including aluminum, steiekel and copper. The prices for these raw retefluctuate depending on market
conditions and global demand for these materiadscanld adversely affect our business and operaésglts. For instance, we are exposed to
multiple risks relating to lithium-ion cells. Thesgeks include:

« the inability or unwillingness of current batteryanufacturers to build or operate battery cell maatufring plants to supply the
numbers of lithium-ion cells required to suppo# tirowth of the electric or pluig-hybrid vehicle industry as demand for such ¢
increases

» disruption in the supply of cells due to qualitguss or recalls by battery cell manufactur
* anincrease in the cost of raw materials, suchtickeihused in lithiur-ion cells, or aluminum used in the body of Mode&8d

« fluctuations in the value of the Japanese yen ag#ie U.S. dollar as our battery cell purchasesarrently denominated in
Japanese ye

Our business is dependent on the continued supfiigttery cells for our vehicles’ battery packsnasl as for the battery packs we
produce for other automobile manufacturers. Whigebglieve several sources of the battery cella@adable for such battery packs, we have
fully qualified only one supplier for the cells asim such battery packs and have very limited Baity in changing cell suppliers. Any
disruption in the supply of battery cells from swemndors could disrupt production of Model S andhef battery packs we produce for other
automobile manufacturers until such time as a ifiesupplier is fully qualified. Furthermore, ftuations or shortages in petroleum and othe
economic conditions may cause us to experiencéfis@nt increases in freight charges and raw malteosts. Substantial increases in the
prices for our raw materials or prices chargedsiosuch as those charged by our battery cell manués, would increase our operating costs
and could reduce our margins if we cannot recoaprtbreased costs through increased electric \epiites. There can be no assurance that
we will be able to recoup increasing costs of raatarials by increasing vehicle prices. Any attentptcrease Model S prices in response to
increased raw material costs could be viewed negsitby our customers, result in cancellations afddl S reservations and could materially
and adversely affect our brand, image, businesspgcts and operating results.
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Our success could be harmed by negative publicégarding our company or our products, particularodel S.

Occasionally, third parties evaluate or publishistoregarding our vehicles. For example, in 20E3New York Times published a
review of the Model S and our Supercharger network route from Washington, D.C. to Boston. Desjpis¢ructions to the contrary, the
reporter did not follow all recommendations, inéhgifailing to fully recharge the vehicle at onetlé two Supercharger locations along the
route. As a result, the Model S failed to comptéesjourney under its own power and the NY Timgmreer published a negative review.
While there were subsequent corrections by the MYe§ Public Editor regarding the reporter’s failtweconform to all Tesla
recommendations, as well as problems with “prenisiod judgment,the original story still created a negative pulplception about Model
its capabilities and the Supercharger network. Swchments can and did negatively impact salesanrégion. In addition, citation to the
original NY Times article has continued long aftsrpublication. To the extent that these commargsbelieved by the public, this may cause
current or potential customers not to purchaseetaatric vehicles, including Model S and Model Xyieh can materially and adversely affect
our business, operating results, financial condgtiand prospects.

Our distribution model is different from the predamant current distribution model for automobile marfacturers, which makes
evaluating our business, operating results and freguprospects difficult.

Our distribution model is not common in the autoftemdustry today, particularly in the United Stst We plan to continue to sell our
performance electric vehicles in company-owneda edres and over the internet. This model of Vehlistribution is relatively new and
unproven, especially in the United States, andesibjus to substantial risk as it requires, inafpgregate, a significant expenditure and
provides for slower expansion of our distributiordaales systems than may be possible by utilizingre traditional dealer franchise system.
For example, we will not be able to utilize londgaddished sales channels developed through a fismelistem to increase our sales volume,
which may harm our business, prospects, finanaatlition and operating results. Moreover, we wildompeting with companies with well-
established distribution channels.

We have opened Tesla stores in the United StateepE and the Asia Pacific Region, many of whichehlaeen open for only a short
period of time. We have relatively limited expegerdistributing and selling our performance velsi¢lrough our Tesla stores. Our success
will depend in large part on our ability to effecly develop our own sales channels and marketiagegies. Implementing our business m¢
is subject to numerous significant challenges uidiclg obtaining permits and approvals from local atate authorities, and we may not be
successful in addressing these challenges. Theepbaad layout of our interactive stores, whichtgpécally located in high profile retail
centers, is different than what has previously hesad in automotive sales. We do not know whethestore strategy will continue to be
successful. We may incur additional costs in otdemprove or change our retail strategy.

Other aspects of our distribution model also diffem those used by traditional automobile manufass. For example, we do not
anticipate that we will ever carry a significant@mt of Model S inventory at our stores and custsmeay need to wait up to a few months
from the time they place an order until the timeytineceive their vehicle. This type of custom mawtifring is unusual in the premium sedan
market in the United States and it is unproven twiethe average customer will be willing to waistamount of time for such a vehicle. If
customers do not embrace this ordering and retpégrence, our business will be harmed.

We may become subject to product liability claimsich could harm our financial condition and liquidy if we are not able to
successfully defend or insure against such claims.

We may become subject to product liability claimvhjch could harm our business, prospects, operatisiglts and financial condition.
The automobile industry experiences significantdpuat liability claims and we face inherent riskeofposure to claims in the event our vehi
do not perform as expected or malfunction resulitingersonal injury or death. Our risks in thisaasge particularly pronounced given the
limited number
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of vehicles delivered to date and limited field esipnce of those vehicles, including Model S. Acassful product liability claim against us
could require us to pay a substantial monetary dwdoreover, a product liability claim could genteraubstantial negative publicity about our
vehicles and business and inhibit or prevent coroiakzation of other future vehicle candidates vhieould have material adverse effect on
our brand, business, prospects and operating seS\i#t self-insure against the risk of product ligbclaims. Any lawsuit seeking significant
monetary damages may have a material adverse effemtr reputation, business and financial condlitie may not be able to secure
additional product liability insurance coveragecmmmercially acceptable terms or at reasonables eaistn needed, particularly if we do face
liability for our products and are forced to makel@m under such a policy.

We are currently expanding and improving our inforation technology systems. If these implementati@ns not successful, our busine
and operations could be disrupted and our operatirggults could be harmed.

We are currently expanding and improving our infation technology systems, including implementing ireternally developed
systems, to assist us in the management of oundsssiIn particular, our volume production of Mo8eh the U.S. and abroad necessitates
continued development, maintenance and improveofemr information technology systems, which ingdystoduct data management,
procurement, inventory management, production pregnand execution, sales, service and logisticaledenanagement, financial, tax and
regulatory compliance systems. These systems suppooperations and enable us to produce Modeh®lume. The implementation,
maintenance and improvement of these systems eesjiginificant management time, support and costeb\eer, there are inherent risks
associated with developing, improving and expandimgcore systems as well as implementing new systencluding the disruption of our
data management, procurement processes, manufi@caxgcution, finance, supply chain and sales andce processes that may affect our
ability to manage our data and inventory, procurespor supplies or manufacture, sell, deliver senice vehicles, or achieve and maintain
compliance with, or realize available benefits untiex laws and other applicable regulations. Wenoabe sure that these expanded syste!
their required functionality will be fully or eff¢éiwely implemented on a timely basis, if at all,paintained. If we do not successfully
implement, improve or maintain these systems, perations may be disrupted and our operating iesolild be harmed. In addition, these
systems or their functionality may not operate asewpect them to, and we may be required to expigmificant resources to correct problems
or find alternative sources for performing thesections.

We may not realize the benefits of our Superchargetwork, which could harm our business, brand angerating results.

We have only recently started to deploy Tesla Saiegers in the United States and Europe. TeslarShbi@argers are a network of
charging stations designed to provide fast-chaagalaility to owners of Model S vehicles with thep8rcharging option. We intend to expand
the Tesla Supercharger network throughout the &&ada, Europe and Asia, but we may be unable smdiue to a number of factors,
including the inability to secure, or delays inws@eg, suitable locations and permits, problemsotiating leases with landowners or obtaining
required permits for such locations, difficultiesinterfacing with the infrastructures of variousity companies and greater than expected «
and difficulties of installing, maintaining and aopéng the network.

We may also be unable to expand the Supercharggoneas fast as we intend or as the public expect® place the charging stations
in places our customers believe to be optimal.Heurhore, even where Superchargers exist, the isiaggaumber of Model S vehicles may
oversaturate the available charging bays at supkrShargers, leading to increased wait times asghtisfaction for customers. In addition, as
we have announced that we will not be chargingcostomers to access this network in addition totwhey have already paid for their
vehicles, any significant unexpected costs thaem@unter will entirely be borne by us and may haumoperating results. Although our
Supercharger network is intended to address custoomeerns regarding long-distance travel, thisvogt may not result in increased
reservations or sales of Model S
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or future vehicles. If our Supercharger networkas expanded as currently planned or as quickllasned, we may not realize the benefits of
our Supercharger network and our business and tipgrasults could be materially affected.

If we are unable to design, develop, market and selw electric vehicles that address additional rker opportunities, our business,
prospects and operating results will suffer.

We may not be able to successfully develop newtrsdeaehicles, address new market segments or dp\aekignificantly broader
customer base. In 2012, we publicly revealed aly gaototype of the Model X crossover as the firshicle we intend to develop by leverag
the Model S platform. We have also announced denirto develop Gen Ill based on a smaller platftran the Model S which we expect to
produce at the Tesla Factory after the introduatibilodel X. The Gen Il is currently planned to déower cost, smaller sedan designed for
the mass market. Therefore, we intend to the matwr& Gen Il in significantly higher volumes thilodel S and there can be no assurance
we can successfully scale our business accordihghddition, we have not yet finalized the desigmgineering or component sourcing plans
for Gen lll and there are no assurances that wiebeibble to bring this vehicle to market at thiegpoint and in the volume that we currently
intend, if at all. The market for vehicles in thécp range we expect for Gen Il is much more catitipe than for Models S and X, and
therefore margins are likely to be lower compaeibdel S margins. Our efforts to manufacture agltisssufficiently profitable Gen 11l may
not be as successful, and therefore our businesspgcts and operating results may suffer. Ouirailo address additional market
opportunities would harm our business, prospettantial condition and operating results.

We may experience significant delays in the desigranufacture and launch of Model X which could harimur business and prospects.

We expect to have Model X prototypes with produttiesign on the road by the end of 2014 and begjime deliveries to customers in
the spring of 2015. Any significant delay in thesidm, manufacture and launch of Model X could nialigrdamage our brand, business,
prospects, financial condition and operating ras#iitomobile manufacturers often experience delayise design, manufacture and
commercial release of new vehicle models. We erpedd significant delays in launching the Teslad®ter, which resulted in additional cc
and adverse publicity for our business. In 2012aige experienced delays in the ramp of Model Snvilg experience further delays in
launching Model X which may result in cost overramgl adverse publicity. We are in the design amgldpment stages of Model X.
Furthermore, we have not yet evaluated, qualifiesietected all of our suppliers for the planneddpiation of Model X. We may not be able to
engage suppliers for the components in a timelyrmagrat an acceptable price or in the necessanytitjea. We will also need to do extensive
testing to ensure that Model X is in compliancehwegipplicable NHTSA safety regulations and obtail\EBIRd CARB certification to emission
regulations prior to beginning volume productionl aelivery of the vehicles. In addition, we havmited resources and, to the extent that suc
engineering and manufacturing resources are devotetbdel S or are otherwise engaged such as ialdpment services activities, we may
have difficulty designing and delivering Model Xartimely manner. If we are not able to manufacame deliver Model X in a timely manner
and consistent with our production timeline, budaed cost projections, our business, prospectsatipg results and financial condition will
be negatively impacted and our ability to grow business will be harmed.

The automotive market is highly competitive, and mey not be successful in competing in this indyst¥We currently face competition
from new and established competitors and expedate competition from others in the future.

The worldwide automotive market, particularly fdteanative fuel vehicles, is highly competitive tydand we expect it will become ey
more so in the future. Other automobile manufactueatered the electric vehicle market at the drDd0 and we expect additional
competitors to enter this market. With respect twdel S, we face competition from existing and fatautomobile manufacturers in the
extremely competitive premium sedan market, inclgdhudi, BMW, Lexus and Mercedes.
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Many established and new automobile manufactur@ve kntered or have announced plans to entertdraative fuel vehicle market.
Mitsubishi has been selling its fully electric iMiEn Japan since April 2010 and Nissan has bedimgehe fully electric Nissan Leaf since
December 2010. In the past few years, Ford hasdated the fully electric Ford Focus, Renault mi®duced the fully electric Renault
Fluence, and Fiat has introduced the Fiat 500engmthers. Moreover, BMW intends to introduce thiéyfelectric BMW i3 in the second
quarter of 2014 and Volkswagen plans to introdteéuily electric e-Golf and in 2014. In additiseveral manufacturers, including General
Motors, Toyota, Ford, and Honda, are each sellyigil vehicles, and certain of these manufactuneke announced plug-in versions of their
hybrid vehicles. For example, in December 2010,eBa@rMotors introduced the Chevrolet Volt, whictaiplug-in hybrid vehicle that operates
purely on electric power for a limited number ofesi at which time an internal combustion engingagyes to recharge the battery pack.

Moreover, it has been reported that many of therddrge OEMSs, such as Daimler, Lexus and Audiatse developing electric vehicles.
Several new start-ups have also entered or anndysiaes to enter the market for performance elegghicles. Finally, electric vehicles have
already been brought to market in China and otti&idn countries and we expect a number of thosaufaaturers to enter the United States
market as well.

Most of our current and potential competitors hsigmificantly greater financial, technical, manutaeag, marketing and other resources
than we do and may be able to devote greater res®tw the design, development, manufacturingiloigion, promotion, sale and support of
their products. Virtually all of our competitorsweamore extensive customer bases and broader ceistord industry relationships than we do.
In addition, almost all of these companies havgéoroperating histories and greater name recogritian we do. Our competitors may be in &
stronger position to respond quickly to new tecbgis and may be able to design, develop, marldesalhtheir products more effectively.
Additionally, we have not in the past, and do natently, offer customary discounts on our vehidikes most of our competitors do.

We expect competition in our industry to intensifithe future in light of increased demand for ra&ive fuel vehicles, continuing
globalization and consolidation in the worldwideauotive industry. Factors affecting competitionlirde product quality and features,
innovation and development time, pricing, religijlsafety, fuel economy, customer service andiitirag terms. Increased competition may
lead to lower vehicle unit sales and increasedritorg, which may result in a further downward praressure and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, operating result$ prospects. Our ability to successfully competeunindustry will be fundamental to our
future success in existing and new markets ananauket share. There can be no assurances thatlileewvable to compete successfully in our
markets. If our competitors introduce new carsesvises that compete with or surpass the qualigepr performance of our cars or services,
we may be unable to satisfy existing customerstoaic new customers at the prices and levelswbald allow us to generate attractive rates
of return on our investment. Increased competitionld result in price reductions and revenue shlstfloss of customers and loss of market
share, which could harm our business, prospea@néial condition and operating results.

Demand in the automobile industry is highly volagil which may lead to lower vehicle unit sales ardizarsely affect our operating
results.

Volatility of demand in the automobile industry mamaterially and adversely affect our business, ggots, operating results and finan
condition. The markets in which we currently conegpaihd plan to compete in the future have been sutgjeonsiderable volatility in demand
in recent periods. For example, according to autorandustry sources, sales of passenger vehitlderth America during the fourth quarter
of 2008 were over 30% lower than those during Hmesperiod in the prior year. Demand for automoddles depends to a large extent on
general, economic, political and social conditiona given market and the introduction of new vids@nd technologies. As a new automobile
manufacturer and low volume producer, we haveflaasicial resources than more established automabénufacturers to withstand changes
in the market and disruptions in demand. As ouirtass grows, economic conditions and trends inratbentries and regions where we
currently or will sell
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our electric vehicles, such as Europe and Asid,imjpact our business, prospects and operatindtsessiwell. Demand for our electric vehic
may also be affected by factors directly impactmgomobile price or the cost of purchasing and aijregy automobiles, such as sales and
financing incentives, prices of raw materials and$and components, cost of fuel and governmeagallations, including tariffs, import
regulation and other taxes. Volatility in demandyrtead to lower vehicle unit sales and increasedrtory, which may result in further
downward price pressure and adversely affect osinkss, prospects, financial condition and opegatsults. These effects may have a more
pronounced impact on our business given our reltismaller scale and financial resources as coedp@ar many incumbent automobile
manufacturers.

Our financial results may vary significantly from griod-to-period due to the seasonality of our busss, fluctuations in our operating
costs and other factors.

Our operating results may vary significantly froeripd-to-period due to many factors, including seas factors that may have an effect
on the demand for our electric vehicles. Demandéw cars in the automobile industry typically dee$ over the winter season, while sales
are generally higher during the spring and sumnnths. Sales of the Tesla Roadster fluctuated sgaaonal basis with increased sales dt
the spring and summer months in our second andl fistal quarters relative to our fourth and flistal quarters. We note that, in general,
automotive sales tend to decline over the wintasse and we anticipate that our sales of ModeldSfature models may have similar
seasonality. However, our limited operating histargkes it difficult for us to judge the exact nator extent of the seasonality of our busines:
Also, any unusually severe weather conditions meanarkets may impact demand for our vehicles.dperating results could also suffer if
we do not achieve revenue consistent with our eggieas for this seasonal demand because manyr@xpenses are based on anticipated
levels of annual revenue.

In addition, we expect our period-to-period opemgtiesults to vary based on our operating costsiwive anticipate will increase
significantly in future periods as we, among otténgs, design, develop and manufacture Model Xfatute products, increase the produc
capacity at our manufacturing facilities to prodwedicles at higher volumes, develop the Tesla faiiary, open new Tesla service centers
with maintenance and repair capabilities, open S8epercharger locations, increase our sales andatiragkactivities, and increase our general
and administrative functions to support our growapgrations. As a result of these factors, we beltbat quarter-to-quarter comparisons of
our operating results, especially in the short-teare not necessarily meaningful and that thesepaoisons cannot be relied upon as indicator:
of future performance. Moreover, our operating issmay not meet expectations of equity researatyats or investors. If any of this occurs,
the trading price of our common stock could fathstantially, either suddenly or over time.

If we are unable to establish and maintain confidesin our long-term business prospects among conswsnanalysts and within our
industry, then our financial condition, operatingasults, business prospects and stock price mayesuffaterially.

Our vehicles are highly technical products thatiremaintenance and support. If we were to ceasatdack operations, even years
from now, buyers of our vehicles from years eamigght have much more difficulty in maintaining theehicles and obtaining satisfactory
support. As a result, consumers may be less likkepurchase our vehicles now if they are not coreththat our business will succeed or that
our operations will continue for many years. Simylasuppliers and other third parties will be I&i&ely to invest time and resources in
developing business relationships with us if theyreot convinced that our business will succeedelfare required to curtail our expansion
plans in the future as we have done in the pastnthy result in negative perceptions regardinglang-term business prospects and may leac
to cancellations of Model S or Model X orders aeservations.

Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our mess, we must maintain confidence among custoraepgliers, analysts and other
parties in our liquidity and long-term businessgmects. In contrast to some more
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established automakers, we believe that, in ow,dhe task of maintaining such confidence mayaréqularly complicated by factors such as
the following:

» our limited operating history

» unfamiliarity with or uncertainty about Model .

* uncertainty about the lo-term marketplace acceptance of alternative fueicketigenerally, or electric vehicles specifica
» the perceived prospect that we will need ongoiffigsions of external capital to fund our plannedragiens;

» the size of our expansion plans in comparison toeaisting capital base and scope and history efatons; anc

» the prospect or actual emergence of direct, sielainmpetitive pressure from more established aakens, which may be more
likely if our initial efforts are perceived to bermmercially successfu

Many of these factors are largely outside our adpémd any negative perceptions about our longH-teusiness prospects, even if
exaggerated or unfounded, would likely harm ouiitess and make it more difficult to raise additicinads when needed.

We may need or want to raise additional funds aheés$e funds may not be available to us when we rtbedh. If we cannot raise
additional funds when we need or want them, our ogons and prospects could be negatively affected.

The design, manufacture, sale and servicing ofraobiles is a capital intensive business. We exghattour principal sources of liquidi
will provide us adequate liquidity based on ourrent plans. However, until we are consistently gatieg positive free cash flows, if the costs
for developing and manufacturing Model X exceed expectations or if we incur any significant unplad expenses or embark on or
accelerate new significant strategic investmenish @s the Tesla Gigafactory, we may need to ealdéional funds through the issuance of
equity, equity-related or debt securities or thtoogtaining credit from government or financialtingions. This capital will be necessary to
fund our ongoing operations, continue researchdavelopment projects, including those for our pthModel X crossover and Gen |l
vehicle, establish sales and service centers, haiddeploy Superchargers and to make the investriretooling and manufacturing capital
required to introduce Model X. We cannot be certhat additional funds will be available to us endrable terms when required, or at all. If
we cannot raise additional funds when we need tlo@mfinancial condition, results of operationssiness and prospects could be materially
adversely affected.

We have limited experience servicing our vehicleslave are using a different service model from thee typically used in the industry.
we are unable to address the service requiremefisup existing and future customers, our businesdlloe materially and adversely
affected.

If we are unable to successfully address the sereiquirements of our existing and future custoraackmeet customer expectations
regarding service, our business and prospectdwithaterially and adversely affected. We have éthiéxperience servicing our vehicles.
Servicing electric vehicles is different than seiwyj vehicles with internal combustion engines esglires specialized skills, including high
voltage training and servicing techniques. If we anable to satisfactorily service our customersthe various service related issues that the
are facing and may face in the future, our abtlitgenerate customer loyalty, grow our businesssafichdditional Model S vehicles could be
impaired.

We service our performance electric vehicles thiooigr company-owned Tesla service centers, cesfadur stores, and through our
mobile service technicians known as the Tesla Rangtowever, certain service centers have been fopesthort periods, and to date we have
only limited experience servicing our performanedicles at these locations. We will need to opem standalone service centers and hire an
train significant numbers of new
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employees to staff these service centers and dasla Rangers, in order to successfully maintairfleet of delivered performance electric
vehicles. We only implemented our Tesla Rangergnara in October 2009 and have limited experienaeploying them to service our
customers’ vehicles. There can be no assurancéhibse service arrangements or our limited expegiservicing our vehicles will adequately
address the service requirements of our custorndteir satisfaction, or that we will have sufficigesources to meet these service
requirements in a timely manner as the volume bfcles we are able to deliver annually increases.

We do not expect to be able to open Tesla serdneecs in all the geographic areas in which oustand and potential customers may
reside. In order to address the service needssbéieiers who are not in geographical proximity to service centers, we plan to either
transport those vehicles to the nearest Tesla stagervice center for servicing or deploy our neBiesla Rangers to service the vehicles a
customer’s location. These special arrangementshaaxpensive and we may not be able to recoupasis of providing these services to oul
customers. In addition, a number of potential austic may choose not to purchase our vehicles beadube lack of a more widespread
service network. If we do not adequately addressostomers’ service needs, our brand and reputatilb be adversely affected, which in
turn, could have a material and adverse impactuorbosiness, financial condition, operating resaitd prospects.

Traditional automobile manufacturers in the Unigdtes do not provide maintenance and repair srdicectly. Consumers must rather
service their vehicles through franchised dealgssbr through third party maintenance service plerd. We do not have any such
arrangements with third party service providers iamslunclear when or even whether such thirdypsetrvice providers will be able to acquire
the expertise to service our vehicles. At this poire anticipate that we will be providing substalhy all of the service for our vehicles for the
foreseeable future. As our vehicles are placeddrenocations, we may encounter negative reacfimms our consumers who are frustrated
that they cannot use local service stations te#me extent as they have with their convention@raabiles and this frustration may result in
negative publicity and reduced sales, thereby hagraur business and prospects.

In addition, the motor vehicle industry laws in ryaatates require that service facilities be avédlatith respect to vehicles physically
sold from locations in the state. Whether theseslaxuld also require that service facilities beilade with respect to vehicles sold over the
internet to consumers in a state in which we havphysical presence is uncertain. While we bel@mweTesla Ranger program and our prac
of shipping customers’ vehicles to our nearestd egire for service would satisfy regulators irstheircumstances, without seeking formal
regulatory guidance, there are no assurancesegalators will not attempt to require that we pdevphysical service facilities in their states.
Further, certain state franchise laws which prdahitanufacturers from being licensed as a dealacting in the capacity of dealer also restrict
manufacturers from providing vehicle service. #ues arise in connection with these laws, certspeets of Tesla’'s service program would
need to be restructured to comply with state lahictv may harm our business.

We may not succeed in maintaining and strengthenihg Tesla brand, which would materially and advelg affect customer acceptance
of our vehicles and components and our businessierues and prospects.

Our business and prospects are heavily dependemtraability to develop, maintain and strengthem Tiesla brand. Any failure to
develop, maintain and strengthen our brand maynma#yeand adversely affect our ability to sell thiodel S, Model X, Gen Ill and other
future planned electric vehicles, and sell ourtelepowertrain components. If we do not contina@stablish, maintain and strengthen our
brand, we may lose the opportunity to build a caitimass of customers. Promoting and positioningocand will likely depend significantly ¢
our ability to provide high quality electric cansdamaintenance and repair services, and we haydimgted experience in these areas. Any
problems associated with the Toyota RAV4 EV tha&sus Tesla powertrain, the Mercedes-Benz B-ClasthBMwill use a Tesla powertrain or
the Model X may hurt the Tesla brand.

39



Table of Contents

In addition, we expect that our ability to develaggintain and strengthen the Tesla brand will dispend heavily on the success of our
marketing efforts. To date, we have limited expgegewith marketing activities as we have reliedngarniilly on the internet, word of mouth and
attendance at industry trade shows to promote iandb To further promote our brand, we may be meglio change our marketing practices,
which could result in substantially increased atisiglg expenses, including the need to use tratitimedia such as television, radio and print
The automobile industry is intensely competitived &e may not be successful in building, maintajrand strengthening our brand. Many of
our current and potential competitors, particulalyomobile manufacturers headquartered in Detiafian and the European Union, have
greater name recognition, broader customer relstiips and substantially greater marketing resout@swe do. If we do not develop and
maintain a strong brand, our business, prospéantmdial condition and operating results will betemilly and adversely impacted.

If our vehicle owners customize our vehicles or cigge the charging infrastructure with aftermarket pducts, the vehicle may not oper:
properly, which could harm our business.

Automobile enthusiasts may seek to “hack” our vielsito modify its performance which could compramighicle safety systems. Also,
we are aware of customers who have customizedwhbhicles with after-market parts that may compsmmdriver safety. For example, some
customers have installed seats that elevate therdsuch that airbag and other safety systems dmultbmpromised. Other customers have
changed wheels and tires, while others have iestddirge speaker systems that may impact the ieldclystems of the vehicle. We have not
tested, nor do we endorse, such changes or prodineddition, customer use of improper externaliog or unsafe charging outlets can
expose our customers to injury from high voltage#lcity. Such unauthorized modifications coulduee the safety of our vehicles and any
injuries resulting from such modifications couldué in adverse publicity which would negativelyeaft our brand and harm our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating rasult

Our deposits for Model S and reservations for Modemay be refundable to customers, and significaaincellations could harm our
financial condition and business prospects.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $163.2 millionustomer deposits, primarily for Model S and ModelMtodel S deposits are
generally subject to cancellation by the custonmerfally refundable up until two weeks after plagitne order. Model X reservations are fully
refundable until such time when customers beguottfigure their vehicles for delivery. We have exgeced order cancellations for our
vehicles and have had to refund the related dep@sitl cancellations may continue.

Given the lead times that we have historically eiqreed between customer reservation and delivethe Tesla Roadster and on Mode!
S and that we expect to experience on Model Xgtierisk that customers who have placed ordensaute reservations for our vehicles may
cancel such orders or reservations and not ultimé&ake delivery on vehicles due to potential chemin customer preferences, competitive
developments and other factors.

Additionally, if we encounter delays in our plandadnch and ramp in Asia, or further delays initltieoduction of Model X, a significal
number of our customers could similarly cancelrtioeilers or reservations and demand refunds aof degiosits. As a result, no assurance can
be made that orders and reservations will not bealled and will ultimately result in the final minvase, delivery, and sale of the vehicle.

Our plan to expand our network of Tesla stores, Wee centers and Superchargers will require sigodint cash investments and
management resources and may not meet our expemtativith respect to additional sales of our electviehicles. In addition, we may n
be able to open stores or service centers in cartdates or Superchargers in desired locations.

Our plan to expand our network of Tesla storesjisercenters and Superchargers will require sigaifi cash investments and
management resources and may not meet our expestatith respect to additional sales
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of our electric vehicles. This ongoing global exgian may not have the desired effect of increasalgs and expanding our brand presence t
the degree we are anticipating. Furthermore, tbanebe no assurances that we will be able to exparide budget or timeline we have
established. We will also need to ensure we aceinpliance with any regulatory requirements appliedo the sale and service of our vehi

in those jurisdictions, which could take considégabme and expense. If we experience any delaggfpanding our network of Tesla stores,
service centers and Superchargers, this coulditeadiecrease in sales of our vehicles and cogdtively impact our business, prospects,
financial condition and operating results. We hapened Tesla stores and service centers in majiwopaditan areas throughout North
America, Europe and Asia, and we plan to open exidit stores and service centers worldwide to sttppg ongoing worldwide Model S
rollout. We have also rapidly expanded our Supegdranetwork in the U.S .and Europe. However, wg n@ be able to expand at a suffici
rate and our planned expansion will require sigaiit cash investment and management resourceglleasvefficiency in the execution of
establishing these locations and in hiring andhingj the necessary employees to effectively sellservice our vehicles.

Furthermore, certain states and foreign jurisdictilmay have permit requirements, franchise deales br similar laws or regulations t
may preclude or restrict our ability to open stavesell vehicles out of such states and jurisdicti Any such prohibition or restriction may
lead to decreased sales in such jurisdictions, wbazild harm our business, prospects and openasuts. See Risk FactoM/e may face
regulatory limitations on our ability to sell velés directly or over the internet which could mé&d#y and adversely affect our ability to sell
our electric vehicles.’Additionally, we may face potential difficulties finding suitable Supercharger sites in desiredtioos, negotiating
leases or obtaining required permits for such looat

We face risks associated with our international spgons, including unfavorable regulatory, politidatax and labor conditions and
establishing ourselves in new markets, all of whicbuld harm our business.

We face various risks associated with our inteamati operations. We currently have internationarapons and subsidiaries in various
countries and jurisdictions in Europe and Asia Hratsubject to the legal, political, regulatorg @ocial requirements and economic condition
in these jurisdictions. Additionally, as part ofr@rowth strategy, we will continue to expand oalles, maintenance, repair and Supercharger
services internationally, particularly in China.Wever, we have limited experience to date sellimg servicing our vehicles internationally ¢
such expansion requires us to make significantredipgres, including the establishment of local agieg entities, hiring of local employees
and establishing facilities, in advance of genaratiny revenue. We are subject to a number of a@skeciated with international business
activities that may increase our costs, impactauility to sell our electric vehicles and requirgngficant management attention. These risks
include:

» conforming our vehicles to various internationagukatory and safety requirements where our vehatessold, or homologatio
« difficulty in establishing, staffing and managiraréign operations
» difficulties attracting customers in new jurisdaris;

» foreign government taxes, regulations and permjirements, including foreign taxes that we maybetble to offset against
taxes imposed upon us in the United States, amigiotax and other laws limiting our ability to egpate funds to the United
States

« fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratesiatetest rates, including risks related to angriest rate swap or other hedging
activities we undertake

« our ability to enforce our contractual and intelled property rights, especially in those foreigmatries that do not respect and
protect intellectual property rights to the samtepkas do the United States, Japan and Europeatriess, which increases the risk
of unauthorized, and uncompensated, use of ountéoty;

» United States and foreign government trade regtrisf customs regulations, tariffs and price orhaxgye controls
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» foreign labor laws, regulations and restrictic

» preferences of foreign nations for domesticallyduwed vehicles

» changes in diplomatic and trade relationsh

» political instability, natural disasters, war oreets of terrorism; an
» the strength of international economi

Additionally, as we have expanded into new intaomatl markets, we have faced challenges with enguhat our charging equipment
works successfully with the charging infrastructirsuch markets. For example, we have encountereld challenges in Norway. These types
of issues could also arise as we enter into oteermarkets, such as China. If customers experipraddems with the way our charging
equipment works with the local charging infrastruwet or we are unable to adapt our equipment tvesuch problems, then the viability and
acceptance of our vehicles in such markets coultidterially and adversely affected.

If we fail to successfully address these risks,lmsiness, prospects, operating results and finhoondition could be materially harmed.

Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S.ldolkcould harm our financial results.

Our revenues and costs denominated in foreign iecigs are not completely matched. A portion of @asts and expenses have been an
we anticipate will continue to be denominated irefgn currencies, including the Japanese yen,uh® ¢he Chinese yuan and the British
pound. If we do not have fully offsetting revenureshese currencies and if the value of the U.8addepreciates significantly against these
currencies (especially against the Japanese yengosts as measured in U.S. dollars as a peréentr sevenues will correspondingly increase
and our margins will suffer. As a result, our opiegresults could be adversely affected. As werdically increase Model S deliveries
overseas during 2014 and beyond, as well as be&jjvedng powertrain units to Daimler, we may hayreater revenues than costs denomir
in other currencies, in which case a strengtheafrtfe dollar would tend to reduce our revenuesaasured in U.S. dollars.

Developments in alternative technologies or improwents in the internal combustion engine may matédiyaadversely affect the demand
for our electric vehicles.

Significant developments in alternative technoleg®ich as advanced diesel, ethanol, fuel celtsrmpressed natural gas, or
improvements in the fuel economy of the internahbastion engine, may materially and adversely affiec business and prospects in way:
do not currently anticipate. Any failure by us ®veélop new or enhanced technologies or processéseact to changes in existing
technologies, could materially delay our develophemd introduction of new and enhanced electrigotes, which could result in the loss of
competitiveness of our vehicles, decreased revande loss of market share to competitors.

The unavailability, reduction or elimination of garnment and economic incentives could have a matksidverse effect on our business,
financial condition, operating results and prospect

Any reduction, elimination or discriminatory apg@ton of government subsidies and economic incestbecause of policy changes, the
reduced need for such subsidies and incentivesodiline customer base of our electric vehiclesafiightening or other reasons may result in
the diminished competitiveness of the alternatived ¥ehicle industry generally or our electric \v@és in particular. This could materially and
adversely affect the growth of the alternative falomobile markets and our business, prospentmdial condition and operating results.

Our growth depends in part on the availability antbunts of government subsidies and economic iiveenfor alternative fuel vehicles
generally and performance electric vehicles speallfi. For example, we
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currently benefit from exemptions from Californiate sales and use taxes for purchases of up @&illlon of manufacturing equipment
from our arrangements with the California AltermatEnergy and Advanced Transportation Financindnéuity. To the extent all of this
equipment is purchased and would otherwise be sutgeCalifornia state sales and use tax, we belthis incentive would result in tax savir
by us through December 2016. This exemption is axbilable for equipment that would otherwise bigject to California sales and use taxes
and that would be used only for specified purpodesge fail to meet these conditions, we would In@able to take full advantage of this tax
incentive and our financial position could be hadme

In addition, certain regulations and laws that emage sales of electric cars through tax creditsttoer subsidies could be reduced,
eliminated or applied in a way that creates an es#veffect against our vehicles, either currentlgtaany time in the future. For example, while
the federal, state and foreign governments hava fime to time enacted tax credits and other ingestfor the purchase of alternative fuel
cars, funding for these programs is limited andehg no guarantee that our vehicles will be elafor tax credits or other incentives provided
to alternative fuel vehicles in the future. Thisulput our vehicles at a competitive disadvantdgean example at the state level, California
renewed the Clean Vehicle Rebate Program, a rg@baggam for the purchase of qualified alternateehnhology vehicles for 2013. Such fun
however, may run out or be limited in ways that lddoe adverse to purchasers of our vehicles. Sulesgegurchasers could face a delay in
receiving rebates since they would have to wai the next fiscal year's funding became availatnde unable to obtain a rebate at all.
Moreover, as more and more eligible EVs are produCalifornia will need to find additional sourcefsfunding for this program or implement
other options for removing eligibility for vehiclémsed on MSRP or customer income levels. Thessuresawould almost certainly impact us
in an adverse manner by making either our vehmiesistomers ineligible for rebates. As an addalaxample, there is considerable
discussion at the federal level over tax refornscDssions have included reducing or even elimigatie current $7,500 tax credit available to
purchasers of qualified alternative fuel vehiclas|uding Model S.

Also, government programs have been enacted inpéuevoring the purchase of electric vehicles,udirlg disincentives that discoure
the use of gas-powered vehicles. In Norway, formgXa, the purchase of electric vehicles is notanily subject to import taxes, taxes on non-
recurring vehicle fees, or the 25% value addedtanther purchase taxes that apply to the purcbgas-powered vehicles. In the event that
such government programs are reduced or eliminatatie available benefits thereunder are exhawestdaer than anticipated, sales of electric
vehicles, including our Model S, could be adversdfgcted.

Our relationship with Daimler is subject to varioussks which could adversely affect our businessddfiuture prospects.

Our relationship with Daimler poses various risksi$, including potential loss of access to pdwas Daimler is providing for Model S
and potential loss of business and adverse puptizibur brand image if there are defects or ofineblems discovered with our electric
powertrain components that Daimler has incorporattmitheir vehicles. The occurrence of any offivegoing could adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition and opeyaesults.

The operation of our vehicles is different from ietnal combustion engine vehicles and our customaray experience difficulty operatir
them properly, including difficulty transitioning btween different methods of braking.

We have designed our vehicles to minimize incormecé and inadvertent driver damage to the powerthaicertain instances, these
protections may cause the vehicle to behave in Watsare unfamiliar to drivers of internal combostvehicles. For example, we employ
regenerative braking to recharge the battery packdst modes of vehicle operation. Our customensimaome accustomed to using this
regenerative braking instead of the wheel braketow the vehicle. However, when the vehicle imakimum charge, the regenerative braking
is not needed and is not employed by the vehiabeoAdingly, our customers may have difficulty sihigt between different methods of braki
In addition, we use safety mechanisms to limit médoque when the
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powertrain system reaches elevated temperaturesichninstances, the vehicle’s acceleration anddspdll decrease. Finally, if the driver
permits the battery pack to substantially depletelarge, the vehicle will progressively limit motorque and speed to preserve the charg
remains. The vehicle will lose speed and ultimatalgist to a stop. Despite several warnings aboiraninent loss of charge, the ultimate loss
of speed may be unexpected. There can be no assutat our customers will operate the vehiclep@nry, especially in these situations. Any
accidents resulting from such failure to operatevalnicles properly could harm our brand and refmraresult in adverse publicity and
product liability claims, and have a material acdeeeffect on our business, prospects, financiadlition and operating results. In addition, if
consumers dislike these features, they may chaais® muy additional cars from us, which could disom our business and prospects.

If we are unable to keep up with advances in elécirehicle technology, we may suffer a decline iar@ompetitive position.

We may be unable to keep up with changes in eteetfiicle technology and, as a result, may suffégaine in our competitive position.
Any failure to keep up with advances in electribiete technology would result in a decline in oompetitive position which would materially
and adversely affect our business, prospects, tipgr@sults and financial condition. Our reseanod development efforts may not be
sufficient to adapt to changes in electric vehielthnology. As technologies change, we plan toaggor adapt our vehicles and introduce
models in order to continue to provide vehicledwtiite latest technology, in particular battery tethnology. However, our vehicles may not
compete effectively with alternative vehicles if ae not able to source and integrate the latebhtdogy into our vehicles. For example, we
do not manufacture battery cells, which makes peddent upon other suppliers of battery cell tetdgyofor our battery packs.

If we are unable to attract and/or retain key empkes and hire qualified management, technical, w@&iengineering and manufacturin
personnel, our ability to compete could be harmewaur stock price may decline.

The loss of the services of any of our key emplsyerild disrupt our operations, delay the develaprard introduction of our vehicles
and services, and negatively impact our businessppcts and operating results as well as causst@ek price to decline. In particular, we are
highly dependent on the services of Elon Musk,©@hief Executive Officer, Product Architect and Ghaan of our Board of Directors, and JB
Straubel, our Chief Technical Officer. None of &ey employees is bound by an employment agreememity specific term. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfullaett@nd retain senior leadership necessary to guovbusiness. Our future success depends
upon our ability to attract and retain our exeogitbfficers and other key technology, sales, mangetngineering, manufacturing and support
personnel and any failure to do so could advelisghact our business, prospects, financial cond#iod operating results. We have in the pas
and may in the future experience difficulty in iatag members of our senior management team asasaéchnical, vehicle engineering and
manufacturing personnel due to various factordh sisca very competitive labor market for talentethiiduals with automotive experience. In
addition, we do not have “key person” life insuramolicies covering any of our officers or othey leenployees.

Currently in Northern California, there is increagicompetition for talented individuals with theesjalized knowledge of electric
vehicles, software engineers, manufacturing enginaed other skilled employees and this competdibects both our ability to retain key
employees and hire new ones. Our continued sudegEnds upon our continued ability to hire andimezenployees. Additionally, we compt
with many mature and prosperous companies in Nort@alifornia that have far greater financial reses than we do and thus can offer
current or perspective employees more lucrativernitige packages than we can. Any difficulties ifirng current employees or recruiting
new ones would have an adverse effect on our pedoce.
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We are highly dependent on the services of Elon Musur Chief Executive Officer.

We are highly dependent on the services of Elonkylosr Chief Executive Officer, Product Archite€hairman of our Board of
Directors and largest stockholder. Although Mr. Mgpends significant time with Tesla and is hightyive in our management, he does not
devote his full time and attention to Tesla. Mr.$¥walso currently serves as Chief Executive Offareat Chief Technical Officer of Space
Exploration Technologies, a developer and manufactf space launch vehicles, and Chairman of Salara solar equipment installation
company.

We are subject to various environmental and safietys and regulations that could impose substantiakts upon us and negatively
impact our ability to operate our manufacturing faies.

As an automobile manufacturer, we and our operatibath in the United States and abroad, are sugje@tional, state, provincial
and/or local environmental, health and safety lang regulations, including laws relating to the,sdling, storage, disposal and human
exposure to hazardous materials. Environmentahaatth and safety laws and regulations can be aamphd we expect that our business an
operations will be affected by future amendmentsuich laws or other new environmental and healthsarfety laws which may require us to
change our operations, potentially resulting inaarial adverse effect on our business. Thesedawgive rise to liability for administrative
oversight costs, cleanup costs, property damaghlytiajury and fines and penalties. Capital aném@ing expenses needed to comply with
environmental, health and safety laws and regulat@an be significant, and violations may resufitibstantial fines and penalties, third party
damages, suspension of production or a cessatioaraiperations.

Contamination at properties formerly owned or opetdy us, as well as at properties we will own apdrate, and properties to which
hazardous substances were sent by us, may resiabiiity for us under environmental laws and rkgions, including, but not limited to the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatidhiability Act (CERCLA), which can impose liaiyl for the full amount of
remediation-related costs without regard to fdoltthe investigation and cleanup of contaminat@tiand ground water, for building
contamination and impacts to human health anddaratjes to natural resources. The costs of complyitigenvironmental laws and
regulations and any claims concerning noncompliaockability with respect to contamination in theure, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition or operating ésuWe may face unexpected delays in obtainingygeessary permits and approvals requirec
by environmental laws in connection with our mawtifising facilities that could require significaithe and financial resources and negatively
impact our ability to operate these facilities, ehivould adversely impact our business prospeaparating results.

New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. (NUMMI) hasqwiously identified environmental conditions at fhesla Factory which could
affect soil and groundwater, and has undertakatsffo address these conditions. Although we h@es advised by NUMMI that it has
documented and managed the environmental issiles Btemont site, we cannot currently determiné wértainty the total potential costs to
remediate pre-existing contamination, and we magxX{p®sed to material liability as a result of tlkéseence of any environmental
contamination at the Fremont site.

As the owner of the Fremont site, we may be resptmander federal and state laws and regulationghe entire investigation and
remediation of any environmental contaminatiorhatEremont site, whether it occurred before or dffte date we purchased the property. We
have reached an agreement with NUMMI under whiglker @ ten year period, we will pay the first $1mlion of any costs of any
governmentally-required remediation activities dontamination that existed prior to the closingha purchase for any known or unknown
environmental conditions (Remediation Activitieaij)d NUMMI has agreed to pay the next $15.0 milfimnsuch Remediation Activities. Our
agreement provides, in part, that NUMMI will pay tapthe first $15.0 million on our behalf if suchpenses are incurred in the first four years
of our agreement, subject to our reimbursementich £osts on the fourth anniversary date of thsitp
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On the ten-year anniversary of the closing or wkien&30.0 million has been spent on Remediationvaigts, whichever comes first,
NUMMI s liability to us with respect to Remediation Agties ceases, and we are responsible for any lhedvaronmental conditions at the
Fremont site. At that point in time, we have agreethdemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUMMI fraithliability, including attorney fees,
or any costs or penalties it may incur arisingafutr in connection with any claim relating to emrimental conditions and we have released
NUMMI for any known or unknown claims except for MMI s obligations for representations and warrantiedeun the agreement. As of
December 31, 2013, we have accrued $5.5 millicatedito these environmental liabilities.

There are no assurances that NUMMI will perfornoitéigations under our agreement and NUMMI's fadlto perform would require us
to undertake these obligations at a potentiallpificant cost and risk to our ability to increake production capacity of, and operate, our T
Factory. Any Remediation Activities or other envinsental conditions at the Fremont site could hanmoperations and the future use and
value of the Fremont site and could delay our petida plans for Model S.

Our business may be adversely affected by unionvit@s.

Although none of our employees are currently regméed by a labor union, it is common throughoutab®mobile industry generally f
many employees at automobile companies to beloagutdon, which can result in higher employee castsincreased risk of work stoppages
Our employees may join or seek recognition to farlabor union, or we may be required to becomei@nusignatory. Our automobile
production facility in Fremont, California was phiesed from NUMMI. Prior employees of NUMMI were animembers and our future work
force at this facility may be inclined to vote swvbr of forming a labor union. We are also directhindirectly dependent upon companies with
unionized work forces, such as parts supplierstaraking and freight companies, and work stoppagestrikes organized by such unions cc
have a material adverse impact on our businesmdial condition or operating results. If a woriage occurs, it could delay the
manufacture and sale of our performance electfiicles and have a material adverse effect on osinbas, prospects, operating results or
financial condition. The mere fact that our labarck could be unionized may harm our reputatiaihéneyes of some investors and thereby
negatively affect our stock price. Consequentlg, uhionization of our labor force could negativiehpact the company’s health.

We are subject to substantial regulation, whichegolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by tescomply with these regulations
could substantially harm our business and operatinggults.

Our performance electric vehicles, the sale of me¢hicles in general and the electronic componesesl in our vehicles are subject to
substantial regulation under international, fedestate, and local laws. We have incurred, and@xpeancur in the future, significant costs in
complying with these regulations.

Regulations related to the electric vehicle induatrd alternative energy are currently evolving aedace risks associated with changes
to these regulations, such as in the United States:
» the imposition of a carbon tax or the introductadra caj-anc-trade system on electric utilities could incredsedost of electricity

» increasingly stringent Clean Air Act emission regjidns affecting power plants used to generatdréeég could increase the cost
of electricity;

» changes to the regulations governing the assenmolyransportation of lithiunwmn battery packs, such as the UN Recommenda
of the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods Model Ré¢igaus or regulations adopted by the U.S. Pipediné Hazardous Materials
Safety Administration (PHMSA) could increase thetaaf lithiun-ion battery packs or restrict their transp

« the amendment or rescission of the federal lawragdlations mandating increased fuel economy irllhieed States, referred to as
the Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standaaldd reduce new business opportunities for auweptrain sales and
development activities
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» the amendment or rescission of federal greenhoaséadpipe emission regulations administered b BERder the authority of the
Clean Air Act could reduce new business opportasifor our powertrain sales and development aietsy

* the amendment or rescission of California’s zer@ssion vehicle regulations administered by the fGalia Air Resources Board
under the California Health & Safety Code coulduazinew business opportunities for our powertralessand development
activities, as well as our ability to monetize ZEkdits not only in California, but also in theaa additional states that have
adopted the California prograi

e increased sensitivity by regulators to the needsstdblished automobile manufacturers with largplepment bases, high fixed
costs and business models based on the interndustion engine could lead them to pass regulativeitscould reduce the
compliance costs of such established manufactorarstigate the effects of government efforts torpote alternative fuel vehicle
and

» changes to regulations governing the export ofppaducts could increase our costs incurred to defivoducts outside the United
States or force us to charge a higher price fowvehicles in such jurisdiction

In addition, as the automotive industry moves talsagreater use of electronics for vehicle systéhE[SA and other regulatory bodies
may in the future increase regulation for thesetedaic systems as concerns about distracted grivicrease. Such concerns could affect
electronic systems in Model S, including those usiid the 17 inch display screen in Model S, whictuld reduce the appeal of Model S or
require adjustments to the display screen’s funetity.

As we are currently delivering vehicles in Europel as we begin to deliver vehicles in Asia, we &lscome subject to additional laws
and regulations applicable to the import, sale sarglice of automobiles in those regions, with whighhave little or no experience complying.

To the extent the laws change, some or all of etiictes may not comply with applicable internatipfederal, state or local laws, which
would have an adverse effect on our business. Gangd with changing regulations could be burdensdime consuming, and expensive. To
the extent compliance with new regulations is poshibitive, our business, prospects, financialditon and operating results will be
adversely affected.

We retain certain personal information about our stomers and may be subject to various privacy aodsuimer protection laws.

We use our vehicles’ electronic systems to logrimfation about each vehicle's condition, performasaé use in order to aid us in
providing customer service, including vehicle diagtics, repair and maintenance, as well as toueelwllect data regarding our customers’
charge time, battery usage, mileage and efficidratyts and to improve our vehicles. We also colilgfcirmation about our customers through
our website, at our stores and facilities, and@iephone. Our customers may object to the proegsdithis data, which may negatively imp
our ability to provide effective customer servicelalevelop new vehicles and products. Collectiahwse of our customers’ personal
information in conducting our business may be stthijefederal and/or state laws and regulatiorthénUnited States and foreign jurisdictions
including, in particular, various jurisdictions lturope, and such laws and regulations may restuicprocessing of such personal information
and hinder our ability to attract new customermarket to existing customers. We may incur sigaiftcexpenses to comply with privacy,
consumer protection and security standards andgwts imposed by law, regulation, industry standandcontractual obligations. Although
take steps to protect the security of our custohpEsonal information, we may be required to expagdificant resources to comply with d
breach requirements if third parties improperlyai&nd use the personal information of our custsroewe otherwise experience a data loss
with respect to customers’ personal informatiormajor breach of our network security and systemsdco
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have serious negative consequences for our busmassl future prospects, including possible fipesalties and damages, reduced customel
demand for our vehicles, and harm to our reputadiush brand.

We may be compelled to undertake product recallsae other actions, which could adversely affectrdrand image and financial
performance.

Any product recall in the future may result in acbeepublicity, damage our brand and adversely affecbusiness, prospects, operating
results and financial condition. We previously exgaced product recalls in May 2009, October 20d@ dune 2013, none of which was rel:
to our electric powertrain. In April 2009, we detened that a condition caused by insufficient tangwf the rear inner hub flange bolt existed
in some of our Tesla Roadsters, as a result okaadiprocess during the manufacture of the Tesd@$®er glider. In October 2010, we initia
a product recall after the 12 volt, low voltage iliary cable in a single vehicle chafed againstedge of a carbon fiber panel in the vehicle
causing a short, smoke and possible fire behindigf front headlamp of the vehicle. In June 2048, initiated a recall of slightly more than
one thousand Model S vehicles to inspect and reeairseat strikers that may have been comprondigedg the assembly process. Rear seat
strikers are used to retain the rear seat backs irpright position. Failure of this component rhaye resulted in collapse of the rear seat bac
during a crash. Finally, in January 2014, we impated a firmware update to address issues withinddniversal Mobile Connector NEMA
14-50 adapters, which are part of the chargingswant are not part of the vehicles themselvesppatly overheating during charging. In the
future, we may at various times, voluntarily orahuntarily, initiate a recall if any of our vehiggincluding Model S, or our electric powertrain
components prove to be defective or noncompliattt epplicable federal motor vehicle safety stanglaFdr example, in November 2013
NHTSA initiated a preliminary evaluation with regpéo two recent incidents in which Model S vehsctollided with road debris at highw
speeds. Although we believe that NHTSA should ctbsepreliminary evaluation without a finding offeet, it is possible that NHTSA could
find that there is a defect and order Model S todmalled. Such recalls, voluntary or involuntanyolve significant expense and diversion of
management attention and other resources, and aduktsely affect our brand image in our targetkaidr as well as our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our current and future warranty reserves may be iricient to cover future warranty claims which cdd adversely affect our financial
performance.

If our warranty reserves are inadequate to covtréuvarranty claims on our vehicles, our businpesspects, financial condition and
operating results could be materially and advera#fgcted. We provide a three year or 36,000 magevN/ehicle Limited Warranty with every
Tesla Roadster, which we extended to four yeaBOdI00 miles for the purchasers of our 2008 TesladRter. In addition, customers have the
opportunity to purchase Extended Service planghi®period after the end of the New Vehicle Limiwdrranty for the Tesla Roadster to cc
additional services for up to an additional threang or 36,000 miles, provided they are purchastdmnva specified period of time. Subject to
separate limited warranties for the supplementtaet system and battery, we provide a four we&0,000 mile New Vehicle Limited
Warranty for the purchasers of Model S. The NewitleH.imited Warranty for Model S covers the bajtéor a period of eight years or
125,000 miles or unlimited miles, depending ondize of the vehicle’s battery, although the battecharging capacity is not covered under
the New Vehicle Limited Warranty or any ExtendedvB= plan. In addition, customers have the oppuotyuo purchase an Extended Service
plan for the period after the end of the New Vehidmited Warranty for Model S to cover additiosarvices for an additional four years or
50,000 miles, provided it is purchased within acfjed period of time. The New Vehicle Limited Wanty and Extended Service plans for the
Tesla Roadster and Model S are subject to ceiitaitations, exclusions or separate warrantiesyidiclg certain wear items, such as tires, b
pads, paint and general appearance, and battdgrmpance, and is intended to cover parts and labogpair defects in material or
workmanship in the vehicle including the body, digssuspension, interior, electronic systems, piwaia and brake system. We have
previously provided our Tesla Roadster custometis abattery replacement option to replace theebatih their vehicles at any time after the
expiration of the New Vehicle Limited Warranty tagfore the tenth anniversary of the purchase dateeo vehicles.
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We record and adjust warranty reserves based amgekadn estimated costs and actual warranty déstsew vehicles in particular, we
record warranty reserves based on management'eft@siate of projected warranty experience ungcqaéte historical data is accumulated
over a period of time, generally a few quarterswishave limited operating experience with Modehi&] therefore little experience with
warranty claims for this vehicle, reserves thatreerded for Model S may be insufficient to coviéfiture warranty claims. Additionally, in
2013, as part of our ongoing efforts to improvedhstomer ownership experience, we expanded therpatack warranty and also eliminated
the annual service requirement that was neededép the New Vehicle Limited Warranty in effect. 8lbthis change in warranty coverage
lead to an increase in warranty claims, we may needcord additional warranty reserves which waddatively affect our profitability.

Since we began initiating sales of our vehicleshaee continued to refine our warranty reservesdas our actual warranty claim
experience and we may be required to undertakbduchanges in the future. As of December 31, 2@&3Had warranty reserves of $53.2
million, and such reserve amount will increase i§icemtly in the future as our product offeringsdagales grow. We could in the future becom
subject to a significant and unexpected warranpease. There can be no assurances that our cyresrgting or future warranty reserves will
be sufficient to cover all claims due to potentiher average warranty expenses over the prodedyicle or that our limited experience with
warranty claims will adequately address the neédsiocustomers to their satisfaction.

Unauthorized control or manipulation of our vehict systems may cause them to operate improperigairat all, or compromise their
safety and data security, which could result in osf confidence in us and our vehicles and harm dursiness.

There have been reports of vehicles of other aubdmmanufacturers being “hacked” to grant accessaperation of the vehicles to
unauthorized persons and would-be thieves. Ourclehiand in particular Model S, are technologjcatlvanced machines requiring the
interoperation of numerous complex and evolvinglhare and software systems. Subject to our cussrakility to opt out pursuant to our
privacy policy, Model S is designed with built-iatd connectivity to accept and install periodic oggrupdates from us to improve or update
the functionality of these systems. Although weéhdesigned, implemented and tested security mesaBuprevent unauthorized access to oul
vehicles and their systems, our information tecbggplinetworks and communications with our vehicles e vulnerable to interception,
manipulation, damage, disruptions or shutdownstdwgtacks by hackers or breaches due to erropeizonnel who have access to our
networks and systems. Any such attacks or breamhed result in unexpected changes to our vehiéle=tionality, user interface and
performance characteristics. Hackers may alsoinslasmeans to gain access to data stored in oegged by the vehicle, such as its current
geographical position, previous and stored destinatddress history and web browser “favoritégyy such unauthorized control of vehicle:
access to or loss of information could result galeclaims or proceedings and negative publicityiclw would negatively affect our brand and
harm our business, prospects, financial conditimh@perating results.

The range and power of our electric vehicles oniagde charge declines over time, and this may negaly influence potential customers’
decisions whether to purchase our vehicles.

The range and power of our electric vehicles oimgles charge declines principally as a functiorusége, time and charging patterns as
well as other factors. How a customer uses thestaleshicle, the frequency of recharging the bpfpack at a low state of charge and the
means of charging can result in additional detation of the battery pack’s ability to hold a creamyer the long term. For example, we
currently expect that our battery pack for the adsbadster will retain approximately 70% of itsliépto hold its initial charge after
approximately 100,000 miles or seven years, whiidhr@sult in a decrease to the vehicle’s initiahge and power. Deterioration of the Model
S battery pack is expected to be less than the Skeradhowever, such battery pack deteriorationthadelated decrease in range and power
over time as well as any perceived deterioratiofiuatuation in range may negatively influence i@ customer decisions whether to
purchase our vehicles, which may harm our abititynarket and sell our vehicles.
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We may face regulatory limitations on our abilitg sell vehicles directly or over the internet whicbuld materially and adversely affect
our ability to sell our electric vehicles.

We sell our vehicles from our Tesla stores as a&lbver the internet. We may not be able to sellsebicles through this sales model in
each state in the United States as many stateddasdhat may be interpreted to prohibit intersedes by manufacturers to residents of the
state or to impose other limitations on this sateslel, including laws that prohibit manufacturerni selling vehicles directly to consumers
without the use of an independent dealership drawit a physical presence in the state. In certabesin which we are not able to obtain de¢
licenses, we have worked with state regulatorgptnayalleries, which are locations where potegtigtomers can view our vehicles but are nc
full retail locations. It is possible that a staggulator could later determine that the actividesur gallery constitute unlicensed sales of moto
vehicles.

In many states, the application of state motoraleHaws to our specific sales model is largelyesteéd under state motor vehicle industry
laws and is being determined by a fact specifidyamaof numerous factors, including whether weénavphysical presence or employees in th
applicable state, whether we advertise or condilgractivities in the applicable state, how tHe s@nsaction is structured, the volume of
sales into the state, and whether the state irtigngzrohibits manufacturers from acting as deal&ssa result of the fact specific and largely
untested nature of these issues, and the facapipdying these laws intended for the traditionabanobile distribution model to our sales ma
allows for some interpretation and discretion by thgulators, the manner in which the applicabtbaities are applying their state laws to
distribution model continues to be difficult to dret. Laws in some states have limited our abtlitybtain dealer licenses from state motor
vehicle regulators and may continue to do so.

In addition, decisions by regulators permittingasell vehicles may be subject to challenges aghtether such decisions comply with
applicable state motor vehicle industry laws. Bareple, in October 2012, vehicle dealer associatinomNew York and Massachusetts filed
lawsuits to revoke the dealer license issued téaldstors New York in New York and to limit the bnsss activity of Tesla Motors MA, Inc.
in Massachusetts. These lawsuits have been disinisseforcing our continuing belief that state tawere not designed to prevent our
distribution model. A similar litigation was recénfiled in the state of Ohio. Possible additionbhllenges in other states, if successful, could
restrict or prohibit our ability to sell our vehéd to residents in such states. In some states, hee also been legislative efforts by vehicle
dealer associations to propose bills that, if eeatvould prevent us from obtaining dealer licerisdheir states given our current sales model

We are also registered as both a motor vehicle faaturer and dealer in Canada, Australia, and Japahhave obtained licenses to sell
vehicles in other places such as Hong Kong andaCkiarthermore, while we have performed an anabyfsike principal laws in the European
Union relating to our distribution model and bekewe comply with such laws, we have not performedraplete analysis in all foreign
jurisdictions in which we may sell vehicles. Accimigly, there may be laws in jurisdictions we hawe yet entered or laws we are unawar
in jurisdictions we have entered that may restigtsales or other business practices. Even faethwisdictions we have analyzed, the laws ir
this area can be complex, difficult to interpretlanay change over time.

Regulatory limitations on our ability to sell velds could materially and adversely affect our &piid sell our electric vehicles.

We may need to defend ourselves against patentaatemark infringement claims, which may be time-cmming and would cause us to
incur substantial costs.

Companies, organizations or individuals, including competitors, may hold or obtain patents, traatéshor other proprietary rights that
would prevent, limit or interfere with our abilitp make, use, develop, sell or market our vehiostesomponents, which could make it more
difficult for us to operate our business. From titméime, we may receive inquiries from holderpaftents or trademarks regarding their
proprietary rights. Companies holding patents beptntellectual property rights may bring suiteging infringement of such
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rights or otherwise assert their rights and semakes. In addition, if we are determined to hafrniged upon a third party’s intellectual
property rights, we may be required to do one orentd the following:

» cease selling, incorporating or using vehiclesftering goods or services that incorporate or igechallenged intellectual
property;
* pay substantial damage

» obtain a license from the holder of the infringeteilectual property right, which license may netdvailable on reasonable term
at all; or

» redesign our vehicles or other goods or servi

In the event of a successful claim of infringemagainst us and our failure or inability to obtailicense to the infringed technology or
other intellectual property right, our businessgmects, operating results and financial conditiounld be materially adversely affected. In
addition, any litigation or claims, whether or malid, could result in substantial costs and diver®f resources and management attention.

We may also face claims that our use of technoliogysed or otherwise obtained from a third panfyimnges the rights of others. In such
cases, we may seek indemnification from our licesfsappliers under our contracts with them. Howgwelemnification may be unavailable
insufficient to cover our costs and losses, dependn our use of the technology, whether we chtmsetain control over conduct of the
litigation, and other factors.

Our business will be adversely affected if we areable to protect our intellectual property rightsdm unauthorized use or infringement
by third parties.

Any failure to adequately protect our proprietaghts could result in weakening or loss of suclhtsgwhich may allow our competitors
to offer similar or identical products or use ideat or confusingly similar branding, potentiallgsulting in the loss of some of our competitive
advantage, a decrease in our revenue and an &tinitof potentially lower quality products to ushieh would adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating res@ur success depends, at least in part, on dity &b protect our core technology and
intellectual property. To accomplish this, we retya combination of patents, patent applicatiaglg secrets, including know-how, employee
and third party nondisclosure agreements, copypgbtiection, trademarks, intellectual propertyises and other contractual rights to esta
and protect our proprietary rights in our technglog/e have also received from third parties pafieatses related to manufacturing our
vehicles.

The protection provided by the patent laws is aildb& important to our future opportunities. Hovegysuch patents and agreements an
various other measures we take to protect ourléatelal property from use by others may not beotiffe for various reasons, including the
following:

* our pending patent applications may not resulb@issuance of paten
* our patents, if issued, may not be broad enougindtect our commercial endeava

» the patents we have been granted may be challemyadidated or circumvented because of the preterce of similar patented or
unpatented technology or for other reas:

» the costs associated with obtaining and enforcatgmis, confidentiality and invention agreementstber intellectual property
rights may make aggressive enforcement impracg

e current and future competitors may independentiyelig similar technology, duplicate our vehicleslesign new vehicles in a w
that circumvents our intellectual property; ¢

» ourir-licensed patents may be invalidated or the holdktisese patents may seek to terminate or modifyjicense arrangement

Existing trademark and trade secret laws and cenfidlity agreements afford only limited protectiém addition, the laws of some
foreign countries do not protect our proprietaghts to the same extent as do the
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laws of the United States, and policing the unaukd use of our intellectual property is difficulinauthorized use or infringement of our
trademarks in countries which have a “first-to-fisgstem could affect our ability to successfullpy our business internationally.

Our patent applications may not result in issuedteats, which may have a material adverse effectoam ability to prevent others from
commercially exploiting products similar to ours.

The status of patents involves complex legal aotlitd questions and the breadth of patented clamscertain. We cannot be certain
that we are the first creator of inventions coverggending patent applications or the first te filatent applications on these inventions, nor
can we be certain that our pending patent apptinatwill result in issued patents or that any afisaued patents will afford sufficient
protection against a competitor with similar tedlogg. In addition, patent applications filed in éign countries are subject to laws, rules and
procedures that differ from those of the United&taand thus we cannot be certain that foreiganpapplications related to issued U.S.
patents will result in issued patents in thoseifprgurisdictions. Furthermore, even if these patgiplications do result in issued patents, som
foreign countries provide significantly less efieetpatent enforcement than in the United Stateaddition, patents issued to us may be
infringed upon or designed around by others andrstihay obtain patents that we need to licensesigd around, either of which would
increase costs and may adversely affect our busipesspects, financial condition and operatingltes

Our trademark applications in certain countries reamn subject to outstanding opposition proceedings.

We currently sell and market our products and sesvin various countries under our Tesla markshee filed trademark applications
for our Tesla marks and opposition proceedingsaemark applications of third parties in varioasiairies in which we currently sell and p
to sell our products and services. Certain of addmark applications are subject to outstandin@psition proceedings brought by owners or
applicants alleging prior use of similar markswH cannot resolve these oppositions and therehyaseegistered rights in these countries, our
ability to challenge third party users of the Taslarks will be reduced and the value of the magksasenting our exclusive brand name in
these countries will be diluted. In addition, thera risk that the prior rights owners could ie thture take actions to challenge our use of the
Tesla marks in these countries. Such actions duaNe a severe impact on our position in these ci@grend may inhibit our ability to use the
Tesla marks in these countries. If we were prevkfrtam using the Tesla marks in any or all of thesentries, we would need to expend
significant additional financial and marketing resmes on establishing an alternative brand ideitithese markets.

Our facilities or operations could be damaged onadsely affected as a result of disasters or ungcéable events.

Our corporate headquarters in Palo Alto and Teatadfy in Fremont are located in Northern Califarra region known for seismic
activity. If major disasters such as earthquakiess ffloods, hurricanes, wars, terrorist attacksnputer viruses, pandemics or other events
occur, or our information system or communicatinasvork breaks down or operates improperly, oudfearters and production facilities
may be seriously damaged, or we may have to stdglay production and shipment of our productaddition, our lease for our Palo Alto
facility permits the landlord to terminate the ledsllowing a casualty event if the needed repaiesin excess of certain thresholds and we do
not agree to pay for any uninsured amounts. Wein@ay expenses relating to such damages, whiclddwaite a material adverse impact on
our business, operating results and financial d¢andi

If our suppliers fail to use ethical business pramts and comply with applicable laws and regulatsmur brand image could be harmed
due to negative publicity.

Our core values, which include developing the higjlggiality electric vehicles while operating withégrity, are an important component
of our brand image, which makes our reputationipa€rly sensitive to
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allegations of unethical business practices. Waataontrol our independent suppliers or their beiss practices. Accordingly, we cannot
guarantee their compliance with ethical busineastfres, such as environmental responsibility, &ige practices, appropriate sourcing of
materials, and compliance with child labor lawspag others. A lack of demonstrated compliance ctedd us to seek alternative suppliers,
which could increase our costs and result in delaaivery of our products, product shortages beotlisruptions of our operations.

Violation of labor or other laws by our supplierstioe divergence of an independent supplier’s lalvather practices from those
generally accepted as ethical in the United Statedher markets in which we do business could atsact negative publicity for us and our
brand. This could diminish the value of our bramé&ge and reduce demand for our performance elegthicles if, as a result of such violati
we were to attract negative publicity. If we, on@t manufacturers in our industry, encounter singtablems in the future, it could harm our
brand image, business, prospects, financial camdénd operating results.

We are obligated to develop and maintain proper aftective internal control over financial reportig. We may not complete our analy
of our internal control over financial reporting ina timely manner, or these internal controls maytrize determined to be effective, whi
may adversely affect investor confidence in our quemy and, as a result, the value of our common &toc

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of theeBees-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by managemanamong other things, the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahegporting. This assessment includes disclosusngfmaterial weaknesses identified by our
management in our internal control over finanoigdarting, as well as a statement that our indepen@gistered public accounting firm has
issued an attestation report on the effectivenkesiointernal control over financial reporting.

Complying with Section 404 requires a rigorous chamze program as well as adequate time and ressufs a result of developing,
improving and expanding our core information tedbgy systems as well as implementing new systenssipport our sales, engineering,
supply chain and manufacturing activities, all dfieh require significant management time and suppgr may not be able to complete our
internal control evaluation, testing and any reegliremediation in a timely fashion. Additionalliyyie identify one or more material
weaknesses in our internal control over finan@glorting, we may be unable to assert that ournataontrols are effective. For example, our
management concluded that our internal control éimancial reporting was ineffective as of DecemBg&y 2012 because a material weakness
existed in our internal control over financial rejing related to the presentation and disclosuneonfcash capital expenditures in our
consolidated statements of cash flows. If we agblento assert that our internal control over fiahreporting is effective, or if our
independent registered public accounting firm ighle to express an opinion on the effectivenessipfnternal controls, we could lose inve:
confidence in the accuracy and completeness ofimamcial reports, which would have a material adee=ffect on the price of our common
stock.

Servicing our convertible senior notes requiresigrsficant amount of cash, and we may not have saiént cash flow from our business
to pay our substantial debt.

We incurred $660.0 million in aggregate principalaunt of senior indebtedness in May 2013 when weid pursuant to registered
public offerings 1.50% convertible senior notes @0&8 (the Notes). Our ability to make scheduleghpents of the principal of, to pay interest
on, make payments upon conversion or to refinamedbtes, depends on our future performance, whishbject to economic, financial,
competitive and other factors beyond our contrait Business may not continue to generate cashfflmw operations in the future sufficient
satisfy our obligations under the Notes and anyreuindebtedness we may incur and to make necesapital expenditures. If we are unabl
generate such cash flow, we may be required totam@or more alternatives, such as reducing @yitej investments or capital expenditu
selling assets, refinancing or obtaining additicelity capital on terms that may be onerous dnlizidilutive. Our ability to refinance the
Notes or future indebtedness will depend on théalamarkets and our financial condition at suchdi We may not be able to engage in ar
these activities or engage in these activitiesasirdble terms, which could result in a defaultimNotes or future indebtedness.
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Pursuant to their terms, holders may convert thetes at their option at any time prior to the ela$ business on the business day
immediately preceding March 1, 2018 only underaiartircumstances. For example, holders may cortlreit Notes at their option during a
guarter commencing after the third quarter of 2(H® only during such quarter) if the last repogat price of our common stock for at least
20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) duaipgriod of 30 consecutive trading days endintherast trading day of the immediately
preceding quarter is greater than or equal to 18D#e conversion price for such series of notesaxrh applicable trading day. This condition
was met in the third quarter of 2013, and consetlyuéme Notes were convertible by their holdersinigithe fourth quarter of 2013. However,
the sales price condition was not met in the foqrthrter of 2013 and, therefore, the Notes areowtertible during the first quarter of 2014
but may be convertible in future periods. Shoulchssales price condition be met in any future aqrathe Notes will again be convertible by
their holders during the immediately following gtgar Upon conversion of the Notes, we will be oalep to make cash payments in respect c
the principal amounts thereof, and we may also bawkeliver cash and, if applicable, shares ofammmon stock, in respect of such Notes.
Any conversion of the Notes prior to their maturiby acceleration of the repayment of the Notefsiture indebtedness after any applicable
notice or grace periods could have a material agveffect on our business, results of operatiodsiaancial condition. Even if holders do not
elect to convert their Notes, if the Notes becowrvertible we could be required under applicablmaanting rules to reclassify all or a portion
of the outstanding principal of the Notes as aentrrather than long-term liability, which wouldstdt in a material adverse impact on our
reported financial results.

In addition, holders of the Notes will have thehtigp require us to purchase their Notes upon tteimence of a fundamental change at ¢
purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amhofithe Notes, plus accrued and unpaid intertahy, to, but not including, the
fundamental change purchase date. However, we widyave enough available cash or be able to olitaincing at the time we are required
to make purchases of Notes surrendered therefdotas being converted. In addition, our abilityptorchase the Notes or to pay cash upon
conversions of the Notes may be limited by lawrdgulatory authority or by agreements governingfoture indebtedness. Our failure to
purchase Notes at a time when the purchase isreghby the indenture or to pay cash payable ondutanversions of the Notes as required b
the indenture would constitute a default underitidenture. If the repayment of the related indeiésd were to be accelerated after any
applicable notice or grace periods, we may not saNficient funds to repay the indebtedness andhmse the Notes or make cash payments
upon conversions thereof.

We may still incur substantially more debt or takéher actions, which would intensify the risks disgsed above.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur sanbatadditional debt in the future. We are notrieted under the terms of the inden
governing the Notes, or the indenture, from inagradditional debt, securing existing or futuretdedcapitalizing our debt or taking a number
of other actions that are not limited by the teohthe indenture that could have the effect of distiing our ability to make payments on the
Notes when due

The classification of our Notes may have a matergfect on our reported financial results.

Holders may convert their Notes at their optioarat time prior to the close of business on thermss day immediately preceding
March 1, 2018 only under certain circumstances.@xample, holders may convert their Notes at thgfion during any quarter commencing
after the third quarter of 2013 (and only duringtsquarter) if the last reported sale price of @mmon stock for at least 20 trading days
(whether or not consecutive) during a period ot8fAsecutive trading days ending on the last tradagof the immediately preceding quarter
is greater than or equal to 130% of the converpriare for the Notes on each trading day. This cimalivas met in the third quarter of 2013,
and consequently the Notes were convertible by ti@ders during the fourth quarter of 2013. Howetee sales price condition was not met
in the fourth quarter of 2013 and, therefore, tloeeld are not convertible during the first quarfe2@l4 but may be convertible in future
periods. If the Notes become convertible prior tarth 1, 2018, we would be required to reclassifiyates and the related debt issuance
as current liabilities and certain portions of equity outside of equity to
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mezzanine equity, which would have an adverse itnpaour reported financial results for such quadead could have an adverse impact on
the market price of our common stock.

Risks Related to the Ownership of our Common Stock

Concentration of ownership among our existing exdise officers, directors and their affiliates maygvent new investors from
influencing significant corporate decisions.

As of December 31, 2013, our executive officersgctors and their affiliates beneficially ownedilie aggregate, approximately 28.4%
of our outstanding shares of common stock. In paldr, Elon Musk, our Chief Executive Officer, Puatl Architect and Chairman of our Boi
of Directors, beneficially owned approximately Z6.0f our outstanding shares of common stock asezeinber 31, 2013. As a result, these
stockholders will be able to exercise a signifidantl of control over all matters requiring stookder approval, including the election of
directors, amendment of our certificate of incogtimn and approval of significant corporate tratisas. This control could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control of campany or changes in management and will makeghegal of certain transactions
difficult or impossible without the support of tleestockholders.

The trading price of our common stock is likely tmntinue to be volatile.

Our shares of common stock began trading on the@tp&lobal Select Market on June 29, 2010 andetbia, the trading history for o
common stock has been limited. In addition, thditra price of our common stock has been highly tileland could continue to be subject to
wide fluctuations in response to various factoosns of which are beyond our control. Our commoglsttas experienced an intra-day trading
high of $259.20 per share and a low of $33.80 paresover the last 52 weeks.

In addition, the stock market in general, and ttaekat for technology companies in particular, hgsegienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unrelated orrdisprtionate to the operating performance of ttamapanies. Broad market and industry
factors may seriously affect the market price ahpanies’ stock, including ours, regardless of datparating performance. These fluctuations
may be even more pronounced in the trading madkeddr stock during the period following a secestoffering. In addition, in the past,
following periods of volatility in the overall magk and the market price of a particular comparsgcurities, securities class action litigatios
often been instituted against these companieseXample, a shareholder litigation like this haergly been instituted against us. While we dc
not believe that it has merit, this litigation dhers like it could result in substantial costs arttlversion of our management’s attention and
resources.

A substantial portion of our total outstanding shes are held by a small number of insiders and inees and may be sold in the near
future. The large number of shares eligible for plikbsale or subject to rights requiring us to regés them for public sale could depress
the market price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock could declisa result of sales of a large number of sharesrofommon stock in the market in
the future, and the perception that these saldsl ameur may also depress the market price of ommaon stock. Stockholders owning a
substantial portion of our total outstanding shamesentitled, under contracts providing for ragitson rights, to require us to register shares o
our common stock owned by them for public saldmWnited States, subject to the restrictions déRd4. In addition, we have registered
shares previously issued or reserved for futurgaisse under our equity compensation plans and mgrs, a portion of which are related to
outstanding option awards. Subject to the satisfaaif applicable exercise periods and, in certaises, lock-up agreements, the shares of
common stock issued upon exercise of outstanditigrapwill be available for immediate resale in theited States in the open market. Sales
of our common stock as restrictions end or purst@rggistration rights may make it more diffictdt us to sell equity securities in the future
at a time and at a price that we deem appropfidiese sales also could cause our stock priceltarfdlmake it more difficult to sell shares of
our common stock.
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Conversion of the Notes may dilute the ownershipeirest of existing stockholders, including holderho had previously converted their
Notes, or may otherwise depress the price of ounowmn stock.

The conversion of some or all of the Notes willitgl the ownership interests of existing stockhaderthe extent we deliver shares upon
conversion of any of the Notes. As described inRisk Factor “Servicing our convertible senior notes requiresgaig§icant amount of cash,
and we may not have sufficient cash flow from ausifess to pay our substantial debtlie Notes were convertible by their holders duthney
fourth quarter of 2013, and while they are not @tille during the first quarter of 2014, they namain become convertible in future perioc
a condition to conversion for the Notes is met. Aales in the public market of the common stockabte upon such conversion could
adversely affect prevailing market prices of oumawon stock. In addition, the existence of the Notey encourage short selling by market
participants because the conversion of the Notekidme used to satisfy short positions, or anttegaonversion of the Notes into shares ol
common stock could depress the price of our comshock.

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactioms entered into in connection with the issuanceMidtes may affect the value of the
Notes and our common stock.

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, wered into convertible note hedge transactions thighhedge counterparties. The
convertible note hedge transactions cover, subjectistomary anti-dilution adjustments, the numifeshares of our common stock that
initially underlay the Notes. The convertible nb&tige transactions are expected to reduce thetabiifution and/or offset potential cash
payments we are required to make in excess ofrtheipal amount upon conversion of the Notes. e &intered into warrant transactions
with the hedge counterparties relating to the saumeber of shares of our common stock, subject $toonary anti-dilution adjustments.
However, the warrant transactions could separ#igle a dilutive effect on our common stock to thieet that the market price per share of
our common stock exceeds the applicable strikeeriche warrants on the applicable expiration slate

In addition, the hedge counterparties or theitiafés may modify their hedge positions by enteifittg or unwinding various derivatives
with respect to our common stock and/or purchasimgglling our common stock or other securitiesufs in secondary market transactions
prior to the maturity of the Notes (and are likedydo so during any observation period related ¢oraversion of Notes). This activity could &
cause or prevent an increase or a decrease inatiehprice of our common stock or the Notes.

We do not make any representation or predicticio éise direction or magnitude of any potential effinat the transactions described
above may have on the price of the Notes or theesta our common stock. In addition, we do not enaky representation that the hedge
counterparties have engaged or will engage in tlhassactions or that these transactions, once emoed, will not be discontinued without
notice.

Mr. Musk borrowed funds from affiliates of certainnderwriters in our public offerings and/or privatplacements in 2011 and 2013 and
has pledged shares of our common stock to secues¢hborrowings. The forced sale of these sharespant to a margin caltould caus:
our stock price to decline and negatively impactrdusiness.

Beginning in June 2011, Goldman Sachs Bank USAsffiliate of Goldman, Sachs & Co., has made extarsof credit in the aggregate
amount of $275 million to Elon Musk and the Elon $kuRevocable Trust dated July 22, 2003, or thetTaugortion of which Mr. Musk used
to purchase shares of common stock in our pubfariofy in May 2013 and private placements in JubiEl2and June 2013. Interest on the loat
accrues at market rates. Goldman Sachs Bank USA#vestcustomary fees and expense reimbursemeotsiirection with these loans. As a
regulated entity, Goldman Sachs Bank USA makessiters regarding making and managing its loans iedéent of Goldman, Sachs & Co.
Mr. Musk and Goldman have a long-standing relatigqmsf almost a decade. In addition, Morgan Staeyjth Barney LLC, an affiliate of
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, has made a loan to Mrskiin the aggregate amount of $25 million. Intemesthis loan accrues at market rates.
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC received custonfags and expense reimbursements in connectiornthvittoan.
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We are not a party to these loans, which are éadburse against Mr. Musk and the Trust and arersddiy pledges of a portion of the
Tesla common stock currently owned by Mr. Musk #relTrust and other shares of capital stock oflated entities owned by Mr. Musk and
the Trust. The terms of these loans were negotiitedtly between Mr. Musk and Goldman Sachs BaBlAldnd Morgan Stanley Smith
Barney LLC.

If the price of our common stock declines, Mr. Musky be forced by Goldman Sachs Bank USA and/omgsioiStanley Smith Barney
LLC to provide additional collateral for the loamsto sell shares of Tesla common stock in ordeethsain within the margin limitations
imposed under the terms of his loans. The loansdet Goldman Sachs Bank USA and Morgan StanleyhIsaitney LLC on the one hand,
and Mr. Musk and the Trust on the other hand, fmibttie non-pledged shares currently owned by Muskand the Trust from being pledged
to secure any other loans. These factors may MnitMusk’s ability to either pledge additional sharof Tesla common stock or sell shares of
Tesla common stock as a means to avoid or satisfgrgin call with respect to his pledged Tesla camrstock in the event of a decline in our
stock price that is large enough to trigger a mracgill. Any sales of common stock following a margall that is not satisfied may cause the
price of our common stock to decline further.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certifit@ of incorporation and bylaws, the provisions oe@ware law, and the terms of our
convertible notes could impair a takeover attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, Delawgae and the terms of our Notes contain provisiohgtv could have the effect of
rendering more difficult, delaying or preventingasquisition deemed undesirable by our board @fctlirs. Our corporate governance
documents include provisions:

« creating a classified board of directors whose nemnberve staggered th-year terms

» authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whichuttbbe issued by the board without stockholder epglrand may contain voting,
liquidation, dividend and other rights superiootor common stock

« limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel
» limiting the ability of our stockholders to call ébring business before special meetir

* requiring advance notice of stockholder proposaiitisiness to be conducted at meetings of ouklstdders and for nominations
of candidates for election to our board of direst

» controlling the procedures for the conduct and datieg of board and stockholder meetings;

» providing the board of directors with the express/er to postpone previously scheduled annual mgetnd to cancel previously
scheduled special meetiny

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwigions of Delaware law, including Section 203wé Delaware General Corporation
law, which prevents some stockholders holding ntloa@ 15% of our outstanding common stock from emgpip certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofsgahtially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporatiom bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ofgiglg or deterring a change in control
could limit the opportunity for our stockholdersraxeive a premium for their shares of our comntonks and could also affect the price that
some investors are willing to pay for our commatkt

In addition, the terms of the convertible notesuiegjus to repurchase the convertible notes irettemt of a fundamental change. A
takeover of our company would trigger an optiorthaf holders of the convertible notes to requiréougpurchase the convertible notes. This
may have the effect of delaying or preventing &tader of our company that would otherwise be berafio our stockholders or investors in
the convertible notes.
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The fundamental change repurchase feature of thetBl® may delay or prevent an otherwise beneficia¢atpt to take over our company.

The terms of the Notes require us to repurchasalthies in the event of a fundamental change. Adedeof our company would trigger
an option of the holders of the Notes to requirégougpurchase the Notes. This may have the effedtlaying or preventing a takeover of our
company that would otherwise be beneficial to aaclkholders or investors in the Notes.

If securities or industry analysts publishing resezn or reports about us, our business or our markatange their recommendations
regarding our stock adversely or cease to publiss@arch or reports about us, our stock price anading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts may publish
about us, our business, our market or our compstitbany of the analysts who may cover us chahgi& recommendation regarding our st
adversely, or provide more favorable relative regmndations about our competitors, our stock pricaldvlikely decline. If any analyst who
may cover us were to cease coverage of our commaiaji to regularly publish reports on us, we abldse visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdiolume to decline.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in theeeeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividendsolders of our common stock in the foreseealileréu Consequently, investors may
need to rely on sales of their common stock afteepppreciation, which may never occur, as tHg way to realize any future gains on their
investment. Investors seeking cash dividends shoatighurchase our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is based in Palo Altifdtnia. We have a lease with Stanford University350,000 square feet which
expires in January 2020. In May 2010, we entertmlan agreement to purchase an existing autompinlduction facility located in Fremont,
California from NUMMI, which is a joint venture beéen Toyota, and Motors Liquidation Company, theemof selected assets of General
Motors. In October 2010, we completed the purclaaskreceived title to the facility and land (theslBeFactory). The total cash paid was $42.
million. The purchase totaled 210 acres, or appnaxely 55% of the land at the site, and includédfahe manufacturing facilities located
thereon totaling approximately 5.4 million squagetf We are required to comply with environmergglutations in connection with our Tesla
Factory in Fremont, California. In October 2010, avel NUMMI amended the May 2010 purchase agreetoéntlude the transfer to us of
certain operating permits, or emission creditsafiditional consideration of $6.5 million. We comeld the transfer of these permits in Octt
2010. We commenced the production of our Modell8cke and powertrain components and systems in 2002 at the Tesla Factory. We
also intend to build our future vehicles at theldésactory. In July 2013, we completed the purcledssgproximately 31 acres of land located
in Fremont, California that is adjacent to the &dshctory for potential future expansion. We pdi8.% million related to this purchase. Out:
of our Tesla Factory, we do not currently own ahgur facilities.
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The following table sets forth the location, appnoate size and primary use of our principal ledsedities:

Approximate

Size (Building) Lease
Expiration
Location (1) in Square Feet Primary Use Date
Palo Alto, California 350,00 Administration, engineering services and January 2020
powertrain development servic
Tilburg, Netherlands 203,77 Administration, engineering services, powertrain November 202

development services, parts warehousing, final
vehicle assembly and vehicle serv

Hawthorne, Californi: 132,25( Vehicle engineering and design servi December 202

Maidenhead, United Kingdom 8,87( Administration, sales, service and marketing November 201
services

Beijing, China 8,19( Administration, sales and marketing servi November 201

(1) We also lease a number of properties in North Acaefturope and Asia for our retail and servicetiooa as well as Supercharger si

We currently intend to add new facilities or expaul existing facilities as we add employees amhes our network of stores and
galleries, service locations and Supercharger. desbelieve that suitable additional or alternatpace will be available in the future on
commercially reasonable terms to accommodate agaséeable future expansion.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Litigation

In November 2013, a putative securities class addwsuit was filed against Tesla in U.S. Distficturt, Northern District of California,
alleging violations of, and seeking remedies pumstm, Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the SecuritieshBnge Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5. The
claims were originally asserted by plaintiff RobRehimi, against Tesla and two of its executivécefs, Elon Musk and Deepak Ahuja. On
February 14, 2014, the Court granted the motiokazfim Acar to serve as lead plaintiff, and gave heawve to file an amended complaint
within 60 days. The current complaint seeks damaafesrney fees and other relief, and alleges, another things, that Tesla made false
and/or misleading representations and omissiorsditg with respect to the safety of the Model &ivke and Tesla’s ability to meet public
expectations with respect to its financial perfongg The current complaint is brought on behaH pfitative class consisting of “all persons
other than Defendants who purchased Tesla’'s sesubietween May 10, 2013 and November 6, 2013 sna.” It is possible the amended
complaint will modify the class or the class peridde believe this lawsuit is without merit and imieto defend against it vigorously.

Other Matters

From time to time, we are subject to various otegal proceedings that arise from the normal coafdrisiness activities. In addition,
from time to time, third parties may assert intefilal property infringement claims against us i filrm of letters and other forms of
communication. If an unfavorable ruling were towgdhere exists the possibility of a material adeempact on our results of operations,
prospects, cash flows, financial position and brand
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has traded on The NASDAQ Globlddélarket under the symbol “TSLA” since it begaading on June 29, 2010.
Our initial public offering was priced at $17.00r ghare on June 28, 2010. The following table feth, for the time period indicated, the high
and low closing sales price of our common stoctepsrted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market.

2013 2012

High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 39.4¢ $ 32.91 $37.9¢ $22.7¢
Second Quarte 110.3¢ 40.5( 38.01 27.5¢
Third Quartel 193.3% 109.0¢ 35.9¢ 26.1(
Fourth Quarte 193.0( 120.5( 35.2¢ 27.3:

Holders

As of January 31, 2014, there were 699 holdersadnd of our common stock. A substantially greatenber of holders of our common
stock are “street name,” or beneficial, holderspsehshares are held by banks, brokers and otteercia institutions.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently do not anticipate pgyany cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination tol@ieccash dividends will be made at the discretibour board of directors, subject to
applicable laws, and will depend on our financihdition, results of operations, capital requiretaggeneral business conditions and other
factors that our board of directors may deem releva

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filéaf’ purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exghact of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), or incorporated by reference intg iling of Tesla Motors, Inc. under the Securithes of 1933, as amended, or the Excha
Act, except as shall be expressly set forth byipeeference in such filing

The following graph shows a comparison from June2®a0 through December 31, 2013, of the cumulatted return for our common
stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and a groupligiiblic companies sharing the same SIC code aghith is SIC code 3711, “Motor
Vehicles and Passenger Car Bodies” (Motor Vehiates Passenger Car Bodies Public Company Grouph i®terns are based on historical
results and are not intended to suggest futurepaence. Data for The NASDAQ Composite Index ardMotor Vehicles and Passenger Car
Bodies Public Company Group assumes an investnfiéitd® on June 29, 2010 and reinvestment of diddeVe have never declared or paic
cash dividends on our capital stock nor do we grgtte paying any such cash dividends in the fosdseduture.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers

None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with “Management’sddission and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operatioast our consolidated financial statements andetaed notes included elsewhere in this An
Report on Form 10-K.

The following selected consolidated financial dato reflects the 1-for-3 reverse stock split of outstanding common stock effected in
May 2010.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except share and per share dat
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Revenues
Automotive sale: $ 1,997,78 $  385,69¢ $  148,56¢ $ 97,07¢ $ 111,94
Development service 15,71( 27,551 55,67¢ 19,66¢ —
Total revenue 2,013,49 413,25t 204,24 116,74 111,94:
Cost of revenues (1
Automotive sale! 1,543,87 371,65¢ 115,48: 79,98: 102,40¢
Development service 13,35¢ 11,53 27,16¢ 6,031 —
Total cost of revenue 1,557,23. 383,18¢ 142,64 86,01 102,40¢
Gross profit 456,26. 30,061 61,59¢ 30,73 9,53t
Operating expenses (-
Research and development (net of
development compensation of $23,249
for the year ended December 31, 20 231,97¢ 273,97¢ 208,98: 92,99¢ 19,28:
Selling, general and administrati 285,56 150,37. 104,10: 84,57: 42,15(
Total operating expens 517,54! 424,35( 313,08: 177,56¢ 61,43:
Loss from operation (61,287) (394,28 (251,489 (146,83 (51,899
Interest incom 18¢ 28¢ 25k 25€ 15¢
Interest expense (. (32,939 (2549) (43 (992 (2,53))
Other income (expense), net 22,60: (1,829 (2,646 (6,589 (1,445
Loss before income tax (71,426 (396,07 (253,92) (154,159 (55,71
Provision for income taxe 2,58¢ 13€ 48¢ 172 26
Net loss $ (74,019 $  (396,21) $ (254,41) $ (154,32 $ (55,740
Net loss per share of common stock, basic
and diluted (4 $ (0.62) $ (3.69) $ (2.59) $ (3.049) $ (7.99)
Weighted average shares used in compt
net loss per share of common stock, b
and diluted (4 119,421,41 107,349,18 100,388,81 50,718,30 7,021,96:
(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc
Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Cost of revenues $ 9,071 $ 2,19¢ $ 67C $ 24: $ 61
Research and developmt 35,49 26,58( 13,371 4,13¢ 37€
Selling, general and administrati 39,09( 21,37 15,37: 16,77« 997
Total $83,65¢ $50,14¢ $29,41¢ $21,15¢ $1,43¢
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(2)

3)

(4)

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatacipal amount of 1.50% convertible senior natae June 2018 (Notes) in a public
offering. We incurred $12.0 million of debt issuarepsts in connection with the issuance of the flafieich we recorded in other assets
and are amortizing to interest expense using tleetafe interest method over the contractual tefithe Notes. The interest under the
Notes is fixed at 1.50% per annum and is payabta-annually in arrears on June 1 and December lakf g@ar, commencing on
December 1, 2013. During the year ended Decemhe&®@B, we recognized $1.2 million of interest engeerelated to the amortization
of debt issuance costs and $5.9 million of coupberest expense. In accordance with accountingageielon embedded conversion
features, we valued and bifurcated the conversption associated with the Notes from the host detitument and recorded the
conversion option of $82.8 million in equity. Thesulting debt discount on the Notes is being amedtio interest expense at an effec
interest rate of 4.29% over the contractual terthefNotes. During the year ended December 31,,204 3ecognized $9.1 million of
interest expense related to the amortization otii# discount. In May 2013, we used a portiorheflotes offering proceeds to repay
outstanding loan amounts under the Department efggn(DOE) Loan Facility. During the year ended Bmber 31, 2013, we recorded
total interest expense of $17.8 million relatedh® early repayment fee, coupon interest expenge¢henamortization of the remaining
loan origination costs on the DOE Loan Facility. adsesult of the extinguishment of our loans, undized loan origination costs
associated with the DOE Loan Facility of $5.6 rifliwere charged to interest exper

In January 2010, we issued a warrant to the DOd®nnection with the closing of the DOE Loan ilkgcto purchase shares of our
Series E convertible preferred stock. This conbkrtpreferred stock warrant became a warrant tohase shares of our common stock
upon the closing of our initial public offering @B. The warrant provided that beginning on Deceni2018 and until December 14,
2022, the shares subject to purchase under thamtamould become exercisable in quarterly amouepedding on the average
outstanding balance of the DOE Loan Facility, ijaturing the prior quarter. Since the number @freh of common stock ultimately
issuable under the warrant would vary, this warteatt been carried at its estimated fair value alithnges in the fair value of this
common stock warrant liability reflected in othecome (expense), net, until its expiration or vestWe entered into an amendment \
the DOE effective March 1, 2013. We agreed amohgrahings to: (i) modify certain future financ@venants; (ii) accelerate the
maturity date of the DOE Loan Facility to DecembBr 2017; (iii) create an obligation to repay apmately 1.0% of the outstanding
principal under the DOE Loan Facility on or befdume 15, 2013; and (iv) create additional contihgétigations based on excess cash
flow that could have resulted in accelerated repayof the DOE Loan Facility starting in 2015. Aotingly, the DOE warrants were no
longer expected to vest and we therefore recograzmuke-time nomash gain of $10.7 million from the eliminationtbfs warrant liability
in the quarter ended March 31, 2013. As a resuwiuofrepayment of all outstanding principal aneifast under the DOE Loan Facility
and the termination of the DOE Loan Facility in M&y13, the DOE warrant expire

Diluted net loss per share of common stock is cdebaxcluding common stock subject to repurchase, idilutive, potential shares
common stock outstanding during the period. Paiéshiares of common stock consist of stock optionmirchase shares of our commor
stock, the conversion of our convertible senioesdtsing the treasury stock method), warrantsitohfase shares of our common stock
issued in connection with our 1.50% convertiblei@enotes due 2018 (using the treasury stock métheairants to purchase shares of
our convertible preferred stock (using the treastiogk method) and the conversion of our convertireferred stock and convertible
notes payable (using the if-converted method).geoposes of these calculations, potential sharesminon stock have been excluded
from the calculation of diluted net loss per shafreommon stock as their effect is antidilutivecgirwe generated a net loss in each
period.
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As of December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash and cash equivale $ 845,88¢ 201,89(  $255,26¢ $ 99,55¢ $ 69,62
Shor-term marketable securitit — — 25,06: — —
Restricted cas—current (1) 3,012 19,09¢ 23,47¢ 73,59: —
Property, plant and equipment, net 738,49: 552,22¢ 298,41 114,63t 23,53t
Working capital (deficit 590,77¢ (14,340 181,49¢ 150,32: 43,07(
Total asset 2,416,93! 1,114,119 713,44¢ 386,08: 130,42:
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability | — — — — 1,73¢
Common stock warrant liability ( — 10,69: 8,83¢ 6,08¢ —
Capital lease obligations, less current por 12,85¢ 9,96¢ 2,83( 49¢ 80C
Convertible debt, less current portion 586,11¢ — — — —
Long-term debt, less current portion | — 401,49! 268,33! 71,82¢ —
Convertible preferred stoc — — — — 319,22!
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 667,12( 124,70( 224,04! 207,04¢ (253,52)

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

Upon the completion of our IPO and concurreoy@ta private placement in July 2010, we set a$id#.0 million to fund a restricted
dedicated account as required under the provisiboar DOE loan facility. This dedicated accouns b&en used by us to fund any cost
overruns for our projects and used as a mechawistafer advances under the DOE loan facility. Dejpanon the timing and magnitude
of our draw-downs and the funding requirementdefdedicated account, the balance of the dedieaisalint has fluctuated throughout
the period in which we made draw-downs under thé&Dgan facility. Upon completion of our final adwanunder the DOE loan facility
in August 2012, the balance in the dedicated addoath been fully transferred out of the dedicatexbant. We had utilized the dedicatec
account to pre-fund our planned loan repaymenteqsred by the DOE loan facility. Upon terminatioiithe DOE Loan Facility in May
2013, all remaining balance held in this dedicatecbunt was released by the D(

In October 2010, we completed the purchase of estalFactory and certain of the manufacturing adseated thereol

In January 2010, we issued a warrant to the DQd#®immection with the closing of our DOE loan fagilib purchase shares of our Seri¢
convertible preferred stock. This convertible prefd stock warrant became a warrant to purchageslfour common stock upon the
closing of our IPO in July 201!

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatacipal amount of Notes in a public offering.docordance with accounting guidance
on embedded conversion features, we valued antthikd the conversion option associated with thiedfsom the host debt instrument
and initially recorded the conversion option of $Bgillion in equity.

In January 2010, we closed our DOE loan facditd began making draw downs under the loan fiacilis of August 31, 2012, we had
fully drawn down our $465.0 million DOE loan fatyli In May 2013, we used a portion of the Note€iffy proceeds to repay all
outstanding loan amounts under the DOE Loan Fgac
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should belri@aconjunction with our consolidated financiahtgments and the related notes that
appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Overview and 2013 Highlights

We design, develop, manufacture and sell high-pexdiace fully electric vehicles and advanced eleatehicle powertrain components.
We are currently producing and selling our secaglticle, the Model S sedan. Model S is a four dfieg;passenger premium sedan that offer:
exceptional performance, functionality and attraestyling. The Model S inherited many of the eliegbowertrain innovations we introduced
with our first vehicle, the Tesla Roadster. Theld€®adster was launched in 2008 and was thecfirsimercially produced and federally
compliant EV in the United States. We commencet/eieés of Model S in June 2012 and delivered 22 Méhicles in 2013. In February 20
we revealed an early prototype of our Model X coess vehicle. We currently expect to have productesign Model X prototypes on the
road by the end of 2014 and begin volume delivanegistomers in the spring of 2015.

We sell our vehicles through our own sales andicenmvetwork. We are also building a network of Sapargers in the United States,
Europe and other international markets to allow Bdl owners to have the ability to travel long aigtes without a limitation on range by
charging their cars at a very fast rate for free.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we rezedrtdtal revenues of $2.01 billion, an increas$1060 billion over total revenues
of $413.3 million for the year ended December 3,2 primarily driven by the ramp up in Model Sideties which commenced in North
America in June 2012 and the launch of EuropeandVi8dieliveries which commenced in August 2013ulagry credit sales and powertrain
component sales to Toyota Motor Corporation (Toyfiiathe Toyota RAV4 EV; partially offset by a dease in development services activity
related to the Daimler AG (Daimler) Mercedes-BenrZ€Bss EV program.

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2@GE322.7%, a significant increase from 7.3% forythar ended December 31, 2012.
We experienced significant early-stage per unit owfficiencies during the production ramp of Mb&sfrom June to December 2012 as a
result of lower fixed cost absorption, manufactgrinefficiencies associated with the initial protiar ramp and higher logistics costs as our
supply chain processes were maturing. We also figgebhcomponent prices as many vendors suppligd paproduction prices later than
planned due to their own manufacturing inefficiescand production ramps. As a result of higherolehgroduction volume, manufacturing
and supply chain efficiencies and ongoing componest reductions, we achieved total and automafiess margins of 25.5% and 25.7%,
respectively, during the fourth quarter of 2013g®atory credits sales, higher average sellingeptlige to the start of European Signature
Series deliveries in August, and a strong mix ok®fh battery packs and other options in all markdste contributed to higher gross margin in
2013.

Research and development (R&D) expenses for thegyeed December 31, 2013 were $232.0 million,caedese from $274.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. R&D expens2@13 reflected our activities on manufacturimggess improvements, Model S cost
reductions, the right-hand drive Model S and Ia@zlon efforts for foreign markets, as well as depment work on Model X. R&D expenses
in 2012 included expenses related to our ModeleSgpoduction activities, including manufacturingparedness, process validation, prototyp
builds and extensive testing at both the vehictt@mponent levels; development of the Tesla Factmvelopment and testing of Model S;
and other research and development activities] Wiatidlel S production started in the Tesla Factor2012, Model S related manufacturing
costs, including labor costs, manufacturing ovedrerad logistics, were no longer captured in R&Deanges but instead fully reflected in cost
of automotive sales.

During 2013, we continued to expand our sales andce footprint both in North America and Europs,well as opened our first store
China. With the higher expenses associated witlylihlgal expansion of our
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customer infrastructure and the business in geniaciliding our information technology infrastruetuselling, general and administrative
expenses were $285.6 million for the year endedeBer 31, 2013, compared to $150.4 million forytear ended December 31, 2012.

We ended the year with $848.9 million in cash amshcequivalents, and current restricted cash,réfisignt increase from cash held at
end of 2012.

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregataeg@pal amount of 1.50% convertible senior notes 2&8 (Notes). The net proceeds
from the offering, after deducting transaction spstere approximately $648.0 million. We incurrd®® million of debt issuance costs in
connection with the issuance of the Notes whichre@eerded in other assets and are amortizing toastexpense using the effective interest
method over the contractual term of the Notes. Utiteterms of the Notes, 1.50% coupon interesapaum on the principal amount of the
Notes is payable se-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1dbf g@ar, commencing on December 1, 2013. Approxin&450
million of the offering proceeds were used to replyf our outstanding Department of Energy (D@&n principal and interest, including a
$10.8 million early repayment fee.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, weezad into convertible note hedge transactions alhewe have the option to purchase
up to 5.3 million shares of our common stock atiegpof approximately $124.52 per share. The cbti@convertible note hedge transactions
was $177.5 million. In addition, we sold warrantsereby the holders of the warrants have the optiqgrurchase up to approximately
5.3 million shares of our common stock at a pric&184.48 per share. We received $120.3 millionash proceeds from the sale of these
warrants. Taken together, the purchase of the ctihleenote hedges and the sale of warrants aemd®d to offset any actual dilution from the
conversion of the Notes and to effectively incretageoverall conversion price from $124.52 to $48%er share. For more information on the
Notes, convertible note hedge and warrant trarmasstisee Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Bt@tés included in this Annual Report
Form 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements angpfmental Data.

Concurrent with the execution of the Notes andteelaransactions, we also completed a public affedaf common stock and sold a total
of 3,902,862 shares of our common stock for taaahoroceeds of approximately $355.1 million (whiatludes 487,857 shares or
$45.0 million sold to Elon Musk, our Chief Execwi®@fficer and cofounder (CEO)), net of underwritaigcounts and offering costs. We also
sold 596,272 shares of our common stock to our @aDreceived total cash proceeds of $55.0 millipa private placement at the public
offering price.

We expect that our current sources of liquidityetigpr with our current projections of cash flownfroperating activities, will provide us
adequate liquidity based on our current plans. Handf market conditions are favorable, we mayleate alternatives to opportunistically
pursue liquidity options.

Management Opportunities, Challenges and Risks

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we maghfisant progress in increasing production aidgdranufacturing, design and
quality improvements, but also through strong eéfédmrom our supply chain. We expect productiomtzréase from 600 vehicles per week
presently to about 1,000 vehicles per week by titead 2014 as we expand our factory capacity awmlless supplier bottlenecks. Battery cell
supply will continue to constrain our productiorridg the first half of 2014, but should significgnimprove in the second half of the year as
our cell supplier brings new production capacitjiran Based on our higher production level, we entlly expect to deliver over 35,000 Model
S vehicles in 2014, representing a more than 55%gase over 2013.

In 2013, Model S was the top selling vehicle in tkokmerica among comparably priced vehicles. Nogles, we believe there is room
to improve in 2014 as we complete the Supercharg®vork and expand the network of service centeMarth America. Given the potential
we see in Europe and Asia, we expect sales in tfeggens combined to comprise almost twice thatafth America by the end of 2014.
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Through the first half of 2013, we had deliveredddbS vehicles solely to customers in North AmerlnaAugust 2013, we started
European deliveries of Model S. Similar to theiatitaunch of Model S in the United States and @an&da, we experienced an increase in our
average selling price during the third quarter@f2 due to the start of delivery of European SigreaSeries vehicles, and a higher mix of 85
kWh vehicles and other options in all markets.

We intend to commence deliveries into China ingheng of 2014. We recently announced that theepfiac a Model S in China will be
the same as the price for a Model S in the UnitateS, with the addition of only unavoidable taxastoms duties and transportation costs.
While we believe that this is consistent with objeztive of offering transparent and fair pricimgeivery market, this pricing strategy is counte
to prevailing auto industry practices. As such, Edd in China would be priced comparable to a gizbd premium vehicle in China insteac
a large luxury vehicle.

Expansion into the right hand drive markets, sietha United Kingdom, Japan, Hong Kong and Austnaiil occur gradually over the
year starting this spring. We have not deliverediM& vehicles outside of North America and Europeolume; thus, we may face difficulti
meeting our delivery plans in Asia and other righhd drive markets later this year, which may inbjpac ability to achieve our worldwide
delivery goals.

In April 2013, we began offering a resale valuergutee to all customers who purchased a ModeltBeiftunited States and financed t|
vehicle through one of our specified commercialkiag partners, and in October 2013, we introdutésigrogram in Canada. Under the
program, Model S customers have the option ofregtiieir vehicle back to us during the period ot@89 months after delivery for a pre-
determined resale value. We account for transastioiier the resale value guarantee program astimgeleases and accordingly, we defer
amortize to automotive sales revenue the initiatpase consideration less resale value guaranteeraron a straight-line basis, over the
contractual term of the guarantee program. Sinyilave capitalize and depreciate the cost of thpaetive operating lease vehicles less
expected salvage value to cost of automotive salesthe same period. If a customer decides nsgltdheir vehicle back to us by the end of
the resale value guarantee term, the amount okiede value guarantee and operating lease vetgtleook value are then recognized in
automotive sales and cost of automotive salesectisgly.

The resale value guarantee amount represents nraaatie best estimate as to the resale value dittieel S vehicle and related vehicle
options during the 36 to 39 month period aftend®ly. We are depreciating our operating lease lehio expected salvage value of our
operating lease vehicles at the end of their ecamaseful life (i.e., the end of their expected @ptimg lease term), and we will adjust our
depreciation estimates as needed if the expechealggavalue decreases in future periods. As weraataie more actual data related to the
resale experience of Model S, we may be requiredake significant changes to our estimates.

In 2013, we provided the resale value guarante@pooximately 5,200 Model S deliveries in North Aioa. During the fourth quarter of
2013, we provided the resale value guarantee tmajppately 40% of Model S deliveries in North Aneai We expect the penetration rate of
the resale value guarantee to remain at the cueeeltin the near-term. Model S deliveries witk tiesale value guarantee currently do not
impact our cash flows and liquidity, since we reedhe full amount of cash for the vehicle salésepat delivery. However, this program has
adversely impacted our 2013 revenues and openasts by requiring the amortization of revenued eosts under lease accounting, and wil
continue to adversely impact our future revenuesaperating results, based on the lease accouméiament applied to this program.
Furthermore, while we do not assume any creditretdted to the customer, we are exposed to thehé the vehicles’ resale value may be
lower than our estimates and the volume of vehidagned to us may be higher than our estimatéshwdould adversely impact our gross
margin.

In Germany and other European markets, we recantipunced new leasing and financing options irabollation with a number of
global financial partners. If customer interesttiase options is significant, we may be directlynglirectly subject to resale value risks for the
Model S. We are currently evaluating a number béotustomer financing products, including dirent$ business leases, as a way to better
serve our growing customer base.
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In addition to sales of Model S, we continue toogatze automotive sales from our supply of powartsgstems to Toyota for the Toyc
RAV4 EV. However, Toyota is expected to end theentr RAV4 EV model this year.

In 2012, we began work on a full electric powertrander the Mercedes-Benz B-Class EV program a2013, we continued to provide
development services and deliver prototype santpl@&aimler. We currently expect to substantiallyngdete our development services under
this program in early 2014 and commence produaifaglectric powertrains and battery packs shohréafter. Similar to our previous
development services agreements, due to timingreifices that may arise between the recognitiorileftone revenues and the underlying
costs of development services, the gross margin &ror development services activities may vary fpmriod to period.

We also plan to ramp up sales of stationary enst@age units for use in homes, commercial sitesudilities. The applications for these
battery systems include backup power, peak denmethection, demand response and wholesale electrietservices. However, we have not
yet entered into a significant number of agreem#émtsugh December 31, 201

Significant production cost improvements for Mo8elvere achieved in 2013, including part cost radustas well as manufacturing
efficiencies. We expect some of these trends tbirmom as we execute on our roadmap of achievirthducomponent cost reductions and
benefit from economies of scale. We therefore eixpacautomotive gross margin to increase to a8t in the fourth quarter of 2014,
excluding potential zero emission vehicle (ZEV)ditsales and assuming a lower option take rateeaget to a more mainstream market and
fewer people take the high performance options od@iS. If we are not able to achieve the planmet ieductions from our various cost
savings and process improvement initiatives, ouitglo reach our gross margin goals would be tivgly affected.

In October 2013, we entered into an amendmentit@xigting supply agreement with Panasonic CorpmrgPanasonic) to, among ott
things, extend the term of the agreement by twasyeatil December 31, 2017 and provide for the lergn preferential prices and a minimum
of 1.8 billion lithium-ion battery cells that we Mpurchase from Panasonic from 2014 through 2017.

We recognized $129.8 million in ZEV credit sale01.3 which contributed to our gross margin. AlthoZEV credit revenue was
strong for the year, over 90% of ZEV credit salesewecognized during the first half of 2013. Wpent the contribution of ZEV credit
revenue to remain low in the future relative to automotive sales as we continue to grow our saleside the United States. While we will
pursue opportunities to monetize ZEV credits wendarm the sales of our vehicles, we do not plaretp on these sales to be a contributor to
gross margin. Our business model and financial jglamot predicated on such ZEV credits. Other rauy credit sales recognized during 2!
were $64.7 million.

In February 2012, we revealed an early prototypta®Model X crossover as the first vehicle werndtéo develop by leveraging the
Model S platform. We continue to work on the desagid engineering work on Model X and expect to hareeluction design Model X
prototypes on the road by the end of 2014 and begjime deliveries to customers in the spring df20ur ability to launch the Model X
program on time and cost efficiently is dependgutrua variety of factors, including supplier readis, engineering completion and testing.

We continued to expand our stores and servicestrfreture during 2013 in order to expand our gealgial presence and to provide
better service in areas with a high concentratfdda@del S customers. To help drive demand in neaggaphic areas, we have also begun
complementing our store strategy with sales caipahiithin service centers to more rapidly and @éfntly expand our retail footprint. As of
the end of the year, we had stores, galleries andce centers in over 110 locations around thddyand plan to open many additional stores,
galleries and service centers in 2014, includirapngng rapidly in multiple regions in China. We cimte to build service infrastructure in
advance of demand to ensure that after-sale seraieeavailable when and where needed, and tachedpe further demand.
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At the end of May 2013, we announced the signitieapansion of our Supercharger network as wetlass to reduce charging time at
our Superchargers. Since the time of our announceme have been installing Superchargers at aglerating pace. As of February 19, 2C
we had 90 Supercharger stations open and are aomgito expand our network in both North America &urope. During 2014, we also
intend to establish a Supercharger network in Chlapan and Hong Kong. If we experience difficsliie finding suitable sites, negotiating
leases or obtaining required permits for such looat our planned expansion of such Superchargeld be delayed.

Operating expense and capital expenditures arectegbo significantly increase in absolute term20d4, as we plan to invest in the
long-term growth of the company. In 2014, we plasignificantly expand production capacity for Mb8eand Model X, invest in our
customer support infrastructure, complete the dgmrekent of Model X and start early design work onthird generation vehicle, which we
refer to as “Gen llI”. Our research and developnexmtenses in particular are expected to increadesign and engineering work accelerates
on Model X. Our selling, general and administratax@enses will continue to grow in absolute tersisva expand our customer and corporate
infrastructure globally.

We have recently indicated our intention to bulld Tesla Gigafactory, a facility where we intenavirk together with our suppliers to
integrate battery precursor material, cell, moaurld battery pack production in one location. Whitehave not identified a final site for this
facility, we currently expect that it will be loaat in one of the following states: Arizona, Nevadayw Mexico or Texas. We currently expect
the facility to be built on a lot between 500 and0D acres in size, with up to approximately 1Qiarilsquare feet of production space with
or two levels. At full implementation, the Teslagafactory is expected to have 6,500 dedicated Beslgproduction partner employees. We
currently plan to commence supplying battery panksiufactured at the Tesla Gigafactory for our Mekidncluding the Gen Il vehicle, and
stationary storage applications, in approximatbheé years. The Tesla Gigafactory is currently etqubto attain full production capacity in
2020, which is anticipated to be sufficient for gfreduction of approximately 500,000 vehicles afiguend stationary storage applications.

We believe that the Tesla Gigafactory will allowtasachieve a major reduction in the cost of outedsg packs of greater than 30% on a
per kWh basis by the end of the first year of vadupnoduction of Gen lll. The total capital expendis associated with the Tesla Gigafactory
through 2020 are expected to be $4-5 billion, ofclwlapproximately $2 billion is expected to comenfrTesla.

While our plan is to attempt to produce lithiiom cells and finished battery packs for our Géwéhicles at a new Tesla Gigafactory,
plans for such production are at a very early sté¢gehave no experience in the production of litivion cells, and accordingly we intend to
engage partners with significant experience inmedtiuction and to date we have not formalized garinerships. In addition, the cost of
building and operating the Tesla Gigafactory caXdeed our current expectations and the Tesla &itafy may take longer to bring online
than we anticipate.

During the third quarter of 2013, certain condidamith respect to the closing prices of our comrsimtk in accordance with the terms of
our Notes were met and accordingly, the Notes weneertible at the holder’s option during the fouguarter of 2013. Although these
conditions were not met during the fourth quarfe2@l3 and therefore the Notes are not convertlbkéng the first quarter of 2014, should
such closing price conditions be met in a futurartgr, the Notes will be convertible by their haklduring the immediately following quarter.
Upon conversion of the Notes, we will be obligategay cash for the principal amount of the coradflotes and we may also have to delive
shares of our common stock in respect of such ctenyéotes. Any conversion of the Notes prior teitlmaturity or acceleration of the
repayment of the Notes could have a material advefifect on our cash flows, business, results efatpns and financial condition.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generadigepted in the United States. The
preparation of these consolidated financial statesnequires us to make estimates and assumpliahaftect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses ancerkllisclosures. We base our estimates on hist@iarience, as appropriate, and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasommler the circumstances. Changes in the accouesiiipates are reasonably likely to occur
from period to period. Accordingly, actual resudtuld differ significantly from the estimates mageour management. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basisieTextent that there are material differences batviieese estimates and actual results, our
future financial statement presentation, financaldition, results of operations and cash flows$ el affected. We believe that the following
critical accounting policies involve a greater dagof judgment and complexity than our other actingrpolicies. Accordingly, these are the
policies we believe are the most critical to untierding and evaluating our consolidated finanadaldition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition
Automotive Sales

We recognize automotive sales revenue from sal&odkl S, including vehicle options, accessories @estination charges, vehicle
service and sales of regulatory credits, such as &l greenhouse gas emission (GHG) credits. Weratgnize automotive sales revenue
from the sales of electric vehicle powertrain comgrats and systems, such as battery packs anduthitge to other manufacturers. We
recognize revenue when (i) persuasive evidence afimngement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred tere are no uncertainties regarding
customer acceptance; (iii) fees are fixed or deftgabie; and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.

Model S revenue is generally recognized when sitlsrand rewards of ownership are transferred t@wostomers. In certain
circumstances, we may deliver a vehicle to a customithout all of the options ordered by the custoifithe options do not limit the
functionality of the vehicle. In such cases, wd adntinue to defer the related revenue based emidelivered item’s fair value, as evidenced
by the contractual price of the option in standaaléransactions, where available, or using thénggfirice hierarchy where such prices do not
exist. Additionally, if a customer purchases a eihoption that requires us to provide servicethefuture, we will defer the related revenue
based on the undelivered items’ fair value andge® the associated revenue over our expectedrpehce period. While these sales may
take place separately from a vehicle sale, theyfiem part of a single vehicle sales agreemenitiag in multiple element arrangements.

For multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, Meeate revenue to each element based on a selliog hierarchy. The selling price
for a deliverable is based on its vendor spectiiective evidence (VSOE) if available, third pagtyidence (TPE) if VSOE is not available, or
estimated selling price if neither VSOE nor TPRvsilable. To date, we have generally been abéstablish the fair value for each of the
deliverables within multiple element arrangemermsaduse we sell each of the vehicles, vehicle asdessand options separately, outside of
any multiple element arrangements. To determin@fipeopriate accounting for recognition of our v, we consider whether the
deliverables specified in the multiple element agement should be treated as separate units ofiatiieg, and, if so, how the price should be
allocated among the elements, when to recogniznteyfor each element, and the period over whigdmee should be recognized. We also
evaluate whether a delivered item has value oaradsalone basis prior to delivery of the remaintegs by determining whether we have
made separate sales of such items or whether tldivered items are essential to the functionalftthe delivered items. Further, we assess
whether we know the fair value of the undeliverednis, determined by reference to stand-alone sékagch items. As each of these items has
stand-alone value to the customer, revenue froessdlvehicle accessories and options are recajmiben those specific items are delivered
to the customer.
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Resale Value Guarantee

In April 2013, we began offering a resale valuergutee to all customers who purchased a ModeltBeiftunited States and financed t|
vehicle through one of our specified commercialkiag partners, and in October 2013, we introdutésigrogram in Canada. Under the
program, Model S customers have the option ofregtiieir vehicle back to us during the period ot@89 months after delivery for a pre-
determined resale value. Although we receive tHeafaount of cash for the vehicle sales price divdey, we account for transactions under
the resale value guarantee program as operatingdeAccordingly, we defer and amortize to autoneosiales revenue the initial purchase
consideration less resale value guarantee amouastmaight-line basis, over the contractual tefithe guarantee program (i.e. the proxy
operating lease term). Similarly, we capitalize deg@reciate the cost of the respective operatiagel@ehicles less expected salvage value to
cost of automotive sales over the same periodcifstomer decides not to sell their vehicle badksty the end of the resale value guarantee
term, the amount of the resale value guarante@parhting lease vehicle net book value is thengeized in automotive sales and cost of
automotive sales, respectively.

We estimated the expected residual value based emauation of market indicators, competitive fastas well as a third party valuat
study. We will adjust our depreciation estimateseaded, if the expected salvage value is projegoteé lower in future periods. As we
accumulate more actual data related to the regpkrience of Model S, we may be required to mageiicant changes to our estimates.

Regulatory Credit Sales

California and certain other states have laws aglrequiring vehicle manufacturers to ensureahpdrtion of the vehicles delivered for
sale in that state during each model year areemission vehicles. These laws and regulations geotfiat a manufacturer of zero emission
vehicles may earn regulatory credits, and mayesealéss credits to other manufacturers who applly stedits to comply with these regulatory
requirements. Similar regulations exist at the fabievel which require compliance related to GH@issions and also allow for the sale of
excess credits by one manufacturer to other matwrérs. As a manufacturer solely of zero emissieiicies, we have earned regulatory
credits, such as ZEV and GHG credits on vehicled,vee expect to continue to earn these creditsarfuture. Since our commercial vehicles
are electric, we do not receive any compliance fitefinem the generation of these credits, and adiemly look to sell them to other vehicle
manufacturers. In order to facilitate the salehese credits, we enter into contractual agreenveittighird parties requiring them to purchase
our regulatory credits at pre-determined prices.rééegnize revenue on the sale of these crediledime legal title to the credits are
transferred to the purchasing party by the govemal@gency issuing these credits.

Maintenance and Service Plans

We offer a prepaid maintenance program for Modetl8ch includes plans covering maintenance foraigight years or up to 100,000
miles, provided these services are purchased watlsipecified period of time. The maintenance ptanver annual inspections and the
replacement of wear and tear parts, excluding &inesthe battery, with either a fixed fee per VisitTesla Ranger service or unlimited Tesla
Ranger visits for a higher initial purchase prieayments collected in advance of the performansevice are initially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets anghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our periance obligations.

We also offer an extended service plan, which otiee repair or replacement of Model S parts foaddhitional four years or up to an
additional 50,000 miles, after the end of our alitiew Vehicle Limited Warranty, provided they gu&rchased within a specified period of
time. For customers that are not covered by our Nehicle Limited Warranties or our extended seryitans, we offer Tesla Ranger servici
a higher cost. Payments collected in advance gbénarmance of service are initially recorded @fadred revenues on the consolidated
balance sheets and recognized in automotive sati@isly over the service coverage periods.
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We provided Tesla Roadster customers with the dppity to purchase an extended warranty plan ferpieriod after the end of our
initial New Vehicle Limited Warranty to cover addital services for an additional three years 0036 miles. We refer to this program as our
Extended Service plan. Amounts collected on thaks are initially recorded in deferred revenueshenconsolidated balance sheets and
recognized in automotive sales over the extendecawty period.

Additionally, we have previously provided customef®ur Tesla Roadsters with a one-time optiorefdace the battery packs in their
vehicles at any time after the expiration of theMNéehicle Limited Warranty but before the tenth mensary of the purchase date of their
vehicles. We refer to this program as our BattegplRcement program. Amounts collected on these saeinitially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets amghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our obtign to replace the battery packs.

Development Services

Revenue from development services arrangementsstafisevenue earned from the development of gteeehicle powertrain
components and systems for other automobile maturas, including the design and development diebapacks, drive units and sample
vehicles to meet a customer’s specifications. Regés recognized as a development arrangememiakzied, the performance requirements o
each development arrangement are met and collesti@asonably assured. Where development arramgennelude substantive at-risk
milestones, revenue is recognized based upon ttievanent of the contractualtjefined milestones. Amounts collected in advancaeéting
all of the revenue recognition criteria are nobgadzed in the consolidated statement of operatmuasare instead recorded as deferred rev
on the consolidated balance sheet. Increased cgitydle our development agreements or changes iijuaigments and estimates regarding
application of these revenue recognition guidelicadd result in a change in the timing or amouneeenue recognized in future periods.

Costs of development services are expensed agéacuosts of development services incurred inogerprior to the finalization of an
agreement are recorded as research and developrpeises; once an agreement is finalized, these a@srecorded in cost of development
services.

Inventory Valuation

We value our inventories at the lower of cost orket Cost is computed using standard cost, whighiaximates actual cost on a firat-
first-out basis. We record inventory write-downs éstimated obsolescence or unmarketable investbased upon assumptions about future
demand forecasts. If our inventory on hand is icess of our future demand forecast, the excessm@isate written off.

We also review inventory to determine whether #gying value exceeds the net amount realizabla tipe ultimate sale of the
inventory. This requires us to determine the edtahaelling price of our vehicles less the estigaiast to convert inventory on hand into a
finished product.

Once inventory is written-down, a new, lower-caasik for that inventory is established and subsgiqeleanges in facts and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorgase in that newly established cost basis.

Inventory amounts are based on our current estéadtdemand, selling prices and production costeufsl our estimates of future selli
prices or production costs change, material chatwgsese reserves may be required. Further, d shaige in our estimates may result in a
material charge to our reported financial results.

Warranties

We accrue warranty reserves at the time reventee@gnized for the sale of a vehicle or powertcmimponent. Warranty reserves
include management’s best estimate of the projesists to repair or to replace
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any items under warranty, based on actual warraxpgrience as it becomes available and other kriagtars that may impact our evaluation
of historical data. We review our reserves at lgastrterly to ensure that our accruals are adequaeeting expected future warranty
obligations, and we will adjust our estimates asdeel. Initial warranty data can be limited earlyhia launch of a new vehicle or powertrain
component and accordingly, the adjustments thaeserd may be material.

It is likely that as we sell additional vehicledgmowertrain components and as we repair or replenes under warranty, we will acquire
additional information on the projected costs twige work under warranty and may need to maketimofdil adjustments. Further, a small
change in our warranty estimates may result in gerizh charge to our reported financial results.

Valuation of Stock-Based Awards and Warrants
Stock-Based Compensation

We use the fair value method of accounting forsiack options and restricted stock units (RSUshighto employees and our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) which reqaite measure the cost of employee services rec@ivexthange for the stock-based
awards, based on the grant date fair value ofwregds. The fair value of stock options and ESPReatienated on the grant date and offering
date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing moiibk fair value of RSUs is measured on the grar based on the closing fair market value
of our common stock. The resulting cost is recoguhiaver the period during which an employee isireduo provide service in exchange for
the awards, usually the vesting period which isegelty four years for stock options and RSUs amdrenths for the ESPP. Stock-based
compensation expense is recognized on a straighblasis, net of estimated forfeitures.

The fair value of stock options and the ESPP wstienated on the grant date for the periods belanguthe Black-Scholes optigoricing
model and the following assumptions.

Year Ended
December 31
201¢ 201z 2011
Risk-free interest rate
Stock options 1.3% 1.C% 2.C%
ESPF 0.1% 0.2% 0.2%
Expected term (in years
Stock options 6.1 5.¢ 6.C
ESPF 0.t 0.t 0.5
Expected volatility:
Stock options 57% 63% 70%
ESPF 43% 51% 59%
Dividend yield:
Stock options 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
ESPF 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

If in the future we determine that another methardchlculating the fair value of our stock-basedwals is more reasonable, or if another
method for calculating the above input assumptismsescribed by authoritative guidance, the falue calculated for our stock-based awards
could change significantly.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requireduitspsuch as the risk-free interest rate, expeetaed and expected volatility. Further,
the forfeiture rate also affects the amount of aggte compensation. These inputs are subjectivgemetally require significant judgment.
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The risk-free interest rate that we use is basetth@tnited States Treasury yield in effect attthee of grant for zero coupon United
States Treasury notes with maturities approximadismch grant’'s expected life. Given our limited digtwith employee grants, we use the
“simplified” method in estimating the expected tefionour employee grants. The “simplifiediethod, as permitted by the SEC, is calculats
the average of the time-to-vesting and the conieddife of the options.

Our expected volatility is derived from our impliedlatility and the historical volatilities of senad unrelated public companies within
industries related to our business, including ttemotive OEM, automotive retail, automotive pantsl battery technology industries, becaus
we have limited trading history on our common stadken making the selections of our peer companitsn industries related to our
business to be used in the volatility calculatior,also considered the stage of development, siddimancial leverage of potential compara
companies. Our historical volatility and impliediatility are weighted based on certain qualitafi@etors and combined to produce a single
volatility factor.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsbfsbur actual forfeitures and will continue tabiate the appropriateness of the
forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture expeanggranalysis of employee turnover behavior andrddetors. Quarterly changes in the
estimated forfeiture rate can have a significafgatfon reported stock-based compensation expasghe cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate for all expense amortization is recognizetheperiod the forfeiture estimate is changed.rthased forfeiture rate is higher than the
previously estimated forfeiture rate, an adjustni@mbade that will result in a decrease to thekstmsed compensation expense recognized ir
the consolidated financial statements. If a revisefktiture rate is lower than the previously estied forfeiture rate, an adjustment is made th:
will result in an increase to the stock-based camp#don expense recognized in the consolidateddinhstatements.

As we accumulate additional employee stbalsed awards data over time and as we incorpoiatestdata related to our common stc
we may calculate significantly different volatiés, expected lives and forfeiture rates, whichaooditerially impact the valuation of our stock-
based awards and the stock-based compensationsexiiet we will recognize in future periods. Stbelsed compensation expense is recc
in our cost of revenues, research and developnxpeinses, and selling, general and administratiperses.

In August 2012, our Board of Directors granted 8,201 stock options to our CEO (2012 CEO Grante Z812 CEO Grant consists of
ten vesting tranches with a vesting schedule basgrkly on the attainment of both performance @mts and market conditions, assuming
continued employment and service to us through easting date.

Each of the vesting tranches requires a combinatiame of the ten pre-determined performance iaitess outlined below and an
incremental increase in our market capitalizatib40 billion, as compared to the initial markeaptalization of $3.2 billion measured at the
time of the 2012 CEO Grant.

e Successful completion of the Model X Engineeringtétype (Alpha)
e Successful completion of the Model X Vehicle Prgpet (Beta).

e Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic

e Successful completion of the Gen Il Engineeringttype (Alpha):
»  Successful completion of the Gen Il Vehicle Propet (Beta)

» Completion of the first Gen Ill Production Vehic

» Gross margin of 30% or more for four consecutivartgrs;

» Aggregate vehicle production of 100,000 vehic

» Aggregate vehicle production of 200,000 vehicles

» Aggregate vehicle production of 300,000 vehic
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The term of the 2012 CEO Grant is ten years, sarm@mmches that remain unvested at the expiratiaheo£012 CEO Grant will be
forfeited. In addition, unvested options will befsted if our CEO is no longer in that role, whetlior cause or otherwise. Based on our
current market valuation and operating plans, wiebe that up to the first three tranches of th&2CEO Grant (all relating to Model X) will
vest during 2014.

We measured the fair value of the 2012 CEO Grangus Monte Carlo simulation approach with thedaling assumptions: risk-free
interest rate of 1.65%, expected term of ten yeaqsected volatility of 55% and dividend yield &0

Stock-based compensation expense associated wig0t2 CEO Grant is recognized for each pair dioperance and market conditions
over the longer of the expected achievement paridlde performance and market conditions, beginaindpe point in time that the relevant
performance condition is considered probable afidpenet.

As of December 31, 2013, the market conditiongHoge vesting tranches were achieved and the folptinree performance milestones
were considered probable of achievement.
e Successful completion of the Model X Engineeringtétype (Alpha)
e Successful completion of the Model X Vehicle Prgpet (Beta).
e Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic
None of the stock options granted under the 2010 GiFant has vested as the performance milestorvesHud yet been achieved as of

December 31, 2013However, as the above three performance milestaeee considered probable of achievement, we dedostock-based
compensation expense of $14.5 million and $1.3anilfor the years ended December 31, 2013 and 26%@ectively.

Additionally, no cash compensation has been reddyeour CEO for his services to the Company.

Income Taxes

We record our provision for income taxes in oursawitlated statements of operations by estimatimgaxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate. We estimate our actual cuti@nexposure together with assessing temporafgrdiices arising from differing treatment
of items recognized for financial reporting versass return purposes. In general, deferred tax assptesent future tax benefits to be received
when certain expenses previously recognized irconsolidated statements of operations become dbtluekpenses under applicable income
tax laws, or loss or credit carryforwards are m¢iti. Valuation allowances are recorded when negesseeduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

Significant management judgment is required in mheiténg our provision for income taxes, our defdrtax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against our net dedetaix assets. We make these estimates and judgatenit our future taxable income that
are based on assumptions that are consistent witfuture plans. As of December 31, 2013, we hadnded a full valuation allowance on our
net U.S. deferred tax assets because we expedt ithatore likely than not that our U.S. defertad assets will not be realized in the
foreseeable future. Should the actual amountsrdiffen our estimates, the amount of our valuatiboweance could be materially impacted.

Furthermore, significant judgment is required imleating our tax positions. In the ordinary couéusiness, there are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultenatx settlement is uncertain. As a result, wegeize the effect of this uncertainty on our tax
attributes based on our estimates of the eventuiabme. These effects are recognized when, despitbelief that our tax return positions are
supportable, we believe that it is more likely timt that those positions may not be fully sustinpon review by tax authorities. We are
required to file income tax returns in the Unitadt8s and various foreign jurisdictions,
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which requires us to interpret the applicable taxd and regulations in effect in such jurisdictiocBsch returns are subject to audit by the
various federal, state and foreign taxing authesjtivho may disagree with respect to our tax mostiWe believe that our accounting
consideration is adequate for all open audit ybased on our assessment of many factors, inclysisgexperience and interpretations of tax
law. We review and update our estimates in lightt@nging facts and circumstances, such as thimglofa tax audit, the lapse of a statute of
limitations or a material change in estimate. T éftent that the final tax outcome of these matiéfers from our expectations, such
differences may impact income tax expense in thimgén which such determination is made. The ewahnimpact on our income tax expense
depends in part if we still have a valuation alloeerecorded against our deferred tax assets ipetied that such determination is made.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidatedestzents of operations data for the periods preddimahousands, except per share
data):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Revenues
Automotive sale: $1,997,78 $ 385,69! $ 148,56
Development service 15,71( 27,55’ 55,67+
Total revenue 2,013,49 413,25t 204,24
Cost of revenues
Automotive sale: 1,543,87 371,65¢ 115,48.
Development service 13,35¢ 11,53: 27,16:
Total cost of revenue 1,557,23. 383,18 142,64
Gross profit 456,26 30,06" 61,59:
Operating expense:
Research and developmt 231,97¢ 273,97¢ 208,98
Selling, general and administrati 285,56 150,37: 104,10:
Total operating expens: 517,54! 424,35( 313,08:
Loss from operation (61,287 (394,28 (251,48
Interest incom 18¢ 28¢ 25E
Interest expens (32,939 (259 43
Other income (expense), r 22,60: (1,82¢) (2,646
Loss before income tax (71,42¢) (396,07 (253,92)
Provision for income taxe 2,58¢ 13€ 48¢
Net loss $ (74,019 $(396,21)) $(254,41)
Revenue:

Automotive Sales

Automotive sales, which include vehicle, options aglated sales, and powertrain component andeceksles, consisted of the following

for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Vehicle, options and related sales $1,952,68. $354,34« $101,70¢
Powertrain component and related si 45,10 31,35¢ 46,86(
Total automotive sale $1,997,78 $385,69¢ $148,56¢

76




Table of Contents

Automotive sales for the year ended December 313 2@ere $2.0 billion, an increase from $385.7 mwillfor the year ended
December 31, 2012. Vehicle, options and relategsgalimarily represent revenues related to debgeof Model S, including vehicle options,
accessories and destination charges, vehicle seavid sales of regulatory credits to other autoreatianufacturers. Powertrain component
related sales represent the sales of electric epavertrain components and systems, such asyatieks and drive units, to other
manufacturers.

Vehicle, options and related sales during the geded December 31, 2013 were $1.95 billion, aregse from $354.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012. The significant &s&rén vehicle, options and related sales was pifinthiven by the delivery of 22,47
Model S vehicles for the year, including the composment of European deliveries in August 2013. Renjear ended December 31, 2012, we
had delivered about 2,650 Model S vehicles follaytine commencement of our Model S deliveries ire0i2. The increase also resulted
from higher sales of regulatory credits includiri$.8 million in ZEV credit sales for the year edd@ecember 31, 2013, compared to $32.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2012.

In April 2013, we began offering a resale valuerguagee to all customers who purchased a ModeltBeitunited States and financed tl
vehicle through one of our specified commercialkiag partners, and in October 2013, we introdutésiggirogram in Canada. Under the
program, Model S customers have the option ofregtiieir vehicle back to us during the period ot@89 months for a pre-determined resale
value. We account for transactions under the regdilee guarantee program as operating leases eratdingly, we defer and amortize to
revenues the initial purchase consideration lessleevalue guarantee amount on a straight-linespager the contractual term of the guarantec
program. If a customer decides not to sell thelicle back to us by the end of the resale valueaguee term, the amount of the resale value
guarantee is then recognized in automotive salemufgh December 31, 2013, we delivered approxim&&00 Model S vehicles under the
resale value guarantee program. As of Decembe2@13, we recorded $230.9 million in deferred rexenand $236.3 million in resale value
guarantee related to Model S deliveries with tlealevalue guarantee. For the year ended Decernib2033, we recognized revenue of $29.1
million in automotive sales related to this program

Powertrain component and related sales for thegerpresented were related to powertrain compa#es to Toyota under the RAV4
EV supply and services agreement which commencéthnch 2012. Powertrain component and related datebe year ended December 31,
2013 were $45.1 million, an increase from $34.liamlfor the year ended December 31, 2012.

Automotive sales for the year ended December 312 2¢ere $385.7 million, an increase from $148.8iamlfor the year ended
December 31, 2011.

Vehicle, options and related sales for the yeaedridecember 31, 2012 were $354.3 million, an ireerdeom $101.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. The increase in vehigt®res and related sales was primarily attributabltne commencement of Model S
customer deliveries in June 2012 and subsequemt aanwvell as sales of regulatory credits, partiaffget by a decrease in the number of Tesl
Roadsters sold as we completed production of tiséaTRoadster in January 2012 and were sellingeyaaining inventory primarily in Europe
and Asia.

Vehicle, options and related sales for the yeaedridecember 31, 2012 included regulatory credissaf $40.5 million compared to
regulatory credit sales of $2.7 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011. The significant incr@apeoduction and delivery of vehicles in
the United States allowed us to sell more regwatoedits to other automotive manufacturers.

Powertrain component and related sales for the greded December 31, 2012 were $31.4 million, aedeser from $46.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease in paimezomponent and related sales was primarilytddewer shipments of battery pac
and chargers to Daimler. Production for both
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the Daimler Smart fortwo and A-Class EV programs wabstantially completed as of December 31, 2Diiting the three months ended
March 31, 2012, we began supplying powertrain sgpstto Toyota under the RAV4 EV supply and servag®ement and recognized $29.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Development Services

Development services represent arrangements whetewelop electric vehicle powertrain componentsgystems for other automotive
manufacturers, including the design and developrokbattery packs, drive units and chargers to raestomers’ specifications.

Development services revenue for the year endedmier 31, 2013 was $15.7 million, a decrease fram@million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. Development services revenubdéoyear ended December 31, 2012 was $27.6 mibiaiecrease from $55.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Daimler engagsdo assist with the development of a full eleghewertrain for a Daimler Mercedes-
Benz B-Class EV vehicle. In 2012, we received twechase orders from Daimler to begin developmenkwad also entered into a separate
development agreement under which we would compketieus milestones and deliver prototype sampiesing the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized a tbfar$nillion and $15.9 million in development sees revenue, respectively, related to
this program.

In July 2010, we entered into an agreement withofayo initiate development of an electric powentfar the Toyota RAV4. Under this
Phase 0 development agreement, prototypes were loyagkeby combining the Toyota RAV4 model with aslBeelectric powertrain. In
October 2010, we entered into a Phase 1 contradtes agreement with Toyota for the developmera vélidated powertrain system,
including a battery pack, power electronics moduietor, gearbox and associated software, which avbalintegrated into an electric vehicle
version of the Toyota RAV4. During the year endest@nber 31, 2011, we completed various milestonéslalivered several samples under
the Phase 1 agreement and delivered all developseevites under the Phase 0 agreement. Duringptbe months ended March 31, 2012, we
completed our remaining milestones and deliveretpéas under the Phase 1 agreement. Developmenmtegrevenue under these
arrangements with Toyota for the years ended DeeefSih 2012 and 2011 was $10.7 million and $55I0amj respectively.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
Cost of revenues includes cost of automotive salelscosts related to our development services.

Cost of automotive sales for the year ended DeceBhe2013 was $1.54 billion, an increase from $3iillion for the year ended
December 31, 2012. Cost of automotive sales inslditect parts, material and labor costs, manufexgfwoverhead, including amortized
tooling costs, royalty fees, shipping and logistists and reserves for estimated warranty expe@sss of automotive sales also includes
adjustments to warranty expense and charges te doitvn the carrying value of our inventory wheexiteeds its estimated net realizable v
and to provide for obsolete and on-hand inventorgxcess of forecasted demand. The increase irotastomotive sales was driven primarily
by Model S deliveries, including the commencemdrEuropean deliveries in August 2013, as well dvelBes of electric powertrain
component and systems to Toyota under the ToyotddR2V supply and services agreement.

In April 2013, we began offering a resale valuerguagee to all customers who purchased a ModeltBeitunited States and financed tl
vehicle and vehicle options through one of our getcommercial banking partners, and in Octol@t2 we introduced this program in
Canada. Under the program, we capitalize the dddiodel S into operating lease vehicles and deptedhe respective operating lease veh
less expected salvage value to cost of automodiles ®n a straight-line basis, over the contraderat of the guarantee
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program. If a customer decides not to sell thelicle back to us by the end of the resale valueagueae term, the remaining operating lease
vehicle net book value is then recognized in autbrasales. As of December 31, 2013, we recorddd $8million in operating lease vehicli
net, related to Model S deliveries with the resalieie guarantee. For the year ended December 33, 2@ recognized $19.4 million in cost of
automotive sales related to vehicle depreciatiateuthis program. Our warranty reserves do noubhelprojected warranty costs associated
with our resale value guarantee vehicles as sutlalagarranty costs are expensed as incurred.Heoygar ended December 31, 2013, wari
costs incurred for our resale value guarantee lehigere $1.6 million.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2048 $456.3 million, an increase from $30.1 million the year ended December 31,
2012. This increase was driven primarily by Modelediveries which began in June 2012 in North Areeand in August 2013 in Europe and
the sales of regulatory credits which carry no eiséed cost of revenues. The increase was alsbuttble to our continuing cost reduction
efforts including process efficiencies in manufaicty and supply chain, design improvements, as aseteduction of waste in the supply ch

Cost of automotive sales for the year ended DeceBthe2012 was $371.7 million, an increase from3& Inillion for the year ended
December 31, 2011. The increase in cost of autematles was driven primarily by the commenceméMaxlel S deliveries in June 2012 as
well as electric powertrain component and systestesgo Toyota as we began to deliver under thefBoRAV4 EV supply and services
agreement, partially offset by a decrease in thebar of Tesla Roadster deliveries and battery panklschargers delivered to Daimler.

Cost of development services for the year endeg:dber 31, 2012 was $11.5 million, a decrease fram2Zbmillion for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Cost of development servicdsdas engineering support and testing, direct paréderial and labor costs, manufacturing
overhead, including amortized tooling costs, shigmnd logistic costs and other development exgaihise we incur in the performance of our
services under development agreements. The dedreesst of development services was driven prilmdoy our activities for the Toyota
RAV4 EV program which we substantially completeding the three months ended March 31, 2012, pbridiset by costs associated with
development activities related to the Mercedes-B&itdass EV program which we commenced in 2012.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2042 $80.1 million, a decrease from $61.6 milliontfor year ended December 31,
2011. The decrease for the year ended Decemb@032, compared to the year ended December 31, @kldriven primarily by the
commencement of Model S deliveries and the assatidrly stage cost inefficiencies including lofeed cost absorption, manufacturing
inefficiencies related to production ramp, highetial parts costs and higher logistics costs assapply chain took time to mature as well as
lower sales of the Tesla Roadster, partially offsethe sales of regulatory credits which carryassociated cost of revenues.

We expect our development services gross profitgrags margin may fluctuate in future periods astitming of revenue recognition
may not coincide with the period in which the cepgending cost of revenues is recognized.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development (R&D) expenses consisaply of personnel costs for our teams in engimgeand research, supply chain,
quality, manufacturing engineering and manufactutest organizations, prototyping expense, contiadtprofessional services and amortizec
equipment expense. Overhead costs related to ttla Factory prior to the start of production of Mb& are also included in R&D expenses.
Also included in R&D expenses are development sesvcosts that we incur, if any, prior to the firaion of agreements with our
development services customers as reaching adgrabment and revenue recognition is
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not assured. Development services costs incurtedth finalization of an agreement are recordetbst of revenues.

R&D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2@18 $232.0 million, a decrease from $274.0 milfionthe year ended
December 31, 2012. R&D expenses decreased dugnificint development, prototyping and testing erqes related to the Model S launch ir
2012, partially offset by an increase in similastsan 2013 for Model X and right-hand drive Mo&eand other programs. The $42.0 million
decrease in R&D expenses during the year endednilre31, 2013 consisted primarily of an $18.2 wrilldecrease in expensed materials, al
$8.5 million decrease in employee compensationresgm a $7.8 million decrease in costs relateddadeVlS engineering, design and testing
activities, a $6.6 million decrease in shippingrges for Model S prototype materials and a $4.%anildecrease in office, information
technology and facilities-related costs. The desgegas partially offset by a $5.0 million incre@sstock-based compensation expense relate
to a larger number of outstanding equity awardstdwalditional headcount and generally an incrggstimmon stock valuation applied to n
grants.

Research and development expenses for the yead &etember 31, 2012 were $274.0 million, an inadesm $209.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011. The $65.0 milliorease in research and development expenses dhangéar ended December 31, 2!
consisted primarily of a $54.3 million increaseemployee compensation expenses from higher heaj@®23.1 million increase in office,
information technology and facilities-related castsupport the growth of our business, a $15.lianiincrease in stock-based compensation
expense related to a larger number of outstandingyeawards due to additional headcount and gélgerna increasing common stock
valuation applied to new grants, and a $3.3 millmrease in shipping charges for prototype mdteimeurred in the first half of 2012. The
increase was partially offset by a $30.9 millior@®se in materials and prototyping expenses pitimiarsupport our Model S beta and rele
candidate builds as well as powertrain developraetitities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expermmssist primarily of personnel and facilities costlated to our Tesla stores,
marketing, sales, executive, finance, human regsuinformation technology and legal organizati@ssyell as litigation settlements and fees
for professional and contract services.

SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, @18 $285.6 million, an increase from $150.4 millfor the year ended
December 31, 2012. SG&A expenses increased priyrfasiin higher headcount and costs to support aardgd retail, service and
Supercharger footprint as well as the general dr@fthe business. The $135.2 million increaseun3G&A expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2013 consisted primarily of a $62 loniincrease in employee compensation expendateckto higher sales and marketing
headcount to support sales activities worldwide laigtier general and administrative headcount tparighe expansion of the business, a
$36.8 million increase in office, information techogy and facilities-related costs to support theagh of our business as well as sales and
marketing activities to handle our expanding magkesence, a $17.8 million increase in stock-basatpensation expense related to a larger
number of outstanding equity awards due to additibeadcount and generally an increasing commark staluation applied to new grants ¢
a $17.2 million increase in professional and o@services costs.

SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, @12 $150.4 million, an increase from $104.1 millfor the year ended
December 31, 2011. The $46.3 million increase inselling, general and administrative expensesndutie year ended December 31, 2012
consisted primarily of a $24.3 million increaseemployee compensation expenses related to higheer @iad marketing headcount to support
sales activities worldwide and higher general afmiaistrative headcount to support the expansiah@business, a $9.4 million increase in
office, information technology and facilities-reddtcosts to support an expanded store and semfe@rk and the growth of our business in
general, a $6.0 million increase in stock-basedpmmation expense related to a larger number sfamding equity awards due to additional
headcount and
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generally an increasing common stock valuationiadgb new grants, and a $6.0 million increaserafgssional and outside services costs.

Interest Expenst

Interest expense for the year ended December 3B, 28s $36.4 million, an increase from $7.9 millfonthe year ended December 31,
2012. Historically, we incurred interest expendengrily from our loans under the DOE Loan Facikityd capitalized interest to assets under
construction related to significant asset consitoact-or the year ended December 31, 2013 and 204 2apitalized $3.5 million and $7.6
million of interest expense to construction in pexs, respectively.

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatagpal amount of Notes. The net proceeds from ffexing, after deducting
transaction costs, were approximately $648.0 nmille incurred $12.0 million of debt issuance castsonnection with the issuance of the
Notes which we have recorded in other assets andraortizing to interest expense using the effedtiterest method over the contractual t
of the Notes. Under the terms of the Notes, 1.50%pon interest per annum on the principal amouth@iNotes is payable semi-annually in
arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, enaimg on December 1, 2013. For the year endedrbleee31, 2013, we recognized $1.2
million of interest expense related to the amotiiraof debt issuance costs and $5.9 million ofpmmuinterest expense.

In accordance with accounting guidance on embeddedersion features, we valued and bifurcated tmwersion option associated w
the Notes from the host debt instrument and recbtide conversion option of $82.8 million in equitihe resulting debt discount on the Notes
is being amortized to interest expense at an effeatterest rate of 4.29% over the contractuahtef the Notes. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recognized $9.1 million tfriest expense related to the amortization of &l discount.

In May 2013, we used a portion of the Notes offgfimoceeds to repay our outstanding Departmenthefdy (DOE) loan principal of
$439.6 million, a $10.8 million early repayment Be@l accrued interest of $1.4 million. As a restithe extinguishment of our loans,
unamortized loan origination costs associated thighDOE Loan Facility of $5.6 million were chargednterest expense. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recorded total interest esgpeh$17.8 million related to the early repaynfemst accrued interest and the amortization
of the remaining loan origination costs on the DIQf&an Facility.

Interest expense for the year ended December 32, &@d 2011 was $7.9 million and $5.1 million, exdjvely, incurred primarily from
our loans under the DOE Loan Facility to fund ousddl S and powertrain activities, and as of Au@@st2, we had fully drawn down on the
DOE Loan Facility. During the years ended Decen#ier2012 and 2011, we capitalized $7.6 million 86dL million of interest expense to
construction in progress, respectively.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, consists primaritthefchange in the fair value of our DOE commonlistearrant liability and foreign
exchange gains and losses related to our foreigemey-denominated assets and liabilities. We expeacforeign exchange gains and losses
will vary depending upon movements in the undegyéxchange rates. Prior to the expiration of theED@rrant in May 2013, the DOE
warrant had been carried at its estimated fairesalith changes in its fair value reflected in otimeome (expense), net.

Other income, net, for the year ended Decembe2@13 was $22.6 million, an increase in income caegbéo other expense, net, of $
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Tluegase in other income, net, was primarily duthéoreduction in fair value of our DOE
common stock warrant liability of $10.7 million feéwe year ended December 31, 2013. In March 20&3%mered into a fourth amendment to
the DOE Loan Facility which, among other things;ederated the maturity date of our DOE loans todbawer 15, 2017;
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therefore, the DOE warrant was no longer expedegst. The increase in other income, net, wasatsibutable to the favorable foreign
currency exchange impact from our foreign curredegominated liabilities during the year ended Ddmem31, 2013, especially related to the
Japanese yen.

Other expense, net, for the year ended Decemb&03P, was $1.8 million, a decrease in expense cedfa other expense, net, of $2.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Téerelase in expense for the year ended Decemb2032 ,was primarily due to a favorable
foreign currency exchange impact from our foreigrrency-denominated liabilities, partially offset the fair value change in our common
stock warrant liability during the year ended Debem31, 2012 resulting from a higher stock price.

Provision for Income Taxe:!

Our provision for income taxes for the year ended@nber 31, 2013 was $2.6 million, compared to $ollion for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase for the year ebdedmber 31, 2013 was due primarily to the incrégasaxable income in our international
jurisdictions as we commenced European deliveffiéddaalel S in August 201

Our provision for income taxes for the year endedénber 31, 2012 was $0.1 million, a decrease $0rm million for the year ended
December 31, 2011. The decrease was due primarihetdecrease in taxable income in our internatipmisdictions as we concluded sales of
the Tesla Roadster.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception and through the year ended DeceBhe2013, we had accumulated net operating laxfsg$.14 billion and have used
$466.7 million of cash in operations. As of Decembg, 2013, we had $845.9 million in principal stes of liquidity available from our cash
and cash equivalents including $460.3 million ofrep market funds.

Other sources of cash include cash from our désigesf Model S, customer deposits for Model S arati®d X, sales of regulatory
credits, cash from the provision of developmentises, and sales of powertrain components andregste the short term, we expect that our
current sources of liquidity, including cash andltaquivalents, together with our current projetiof cash flow from operating activities, v
continue to provide us with adequate liquidity lwhea our current plans. These capital sourcesenible us to fund our ongoing operations,
continue research and development projects, inouttiose for our planned Model X crossover andagefuture products, establish and
expand our stores, service centers and Superchaegeork and to make the investments in tooling maghufacturing capital required to
introduce Model X and to continue to ramp up prdaucof Model S. We may seek additional capitalrses to partially fund certain lortgrm
growth initiatives, such as to build the Tesla Gagtory and for future products such as our thiedeyation vehicle.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we inecktee number of Superchargers to nearly 90 latsiio North America and in
Europe. We expect to continue making investmentksarSupercharger network in 2014, including inr@hi

If market conditions are favorable, we will contidly evaluate alternatives to opportunistically gue liquidity options. Also, should
prevailing economic conditions and/or financialsimess or other factors adversely affect the estisnaf our future cash requirements, we
could be required to fund our cash requirementsutiin additional or alternative sources of financMie cannot be certain that additional fu
will be available to us on favorable terms wherurezg, or at all.

We currently anticipate making aggregate capitpeexlitures of between $650 million and $850 milléhming the year ending Decem
31, 2014.
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1.50% Convertible Senior Notes and Bond Hedge andrk&nt Transactions

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatagpal amount of 1.50% convertible senior notes 208 (the Notes) in a public
offering. The net proceeds from the offering, afteducting transaction costs, were approximatefA\8¥Bmillion. We incurred $12.0 million of
debt issuance costs in connection with the issuahtiee Notes which we have recorded in other assad are amortizing to interest expense
using the effective interest method over the cattid term of the Notes. The interest under theeBl@ fixed at 1.50% per annum and is
payable semi-annually in arrears on June 1 andibleeel of each year, commencing on December 1,.2013

Each $1,000 of principal of the Notes will initialbe convertible into 8.0306 shares of our comntooks which is equivalent to an initial
conversion price of approximately $124.52 per shsubject to adjustment upon the occurrence ofipé@vents. Holders of the Notes may
convert their Notes at their option on or after Mat, 2018. Further, holders of the Notes may cdrtlieir Notes at their option prior to
March 1, 2018, only under the following circumstesic(1) during any fiscal quarter beginning after fiscal quarter ending September 30,
2013, if the last reported sale price of our comrsimek for at least 20 trading days (whether oraootsecutive) during the last 30 consecutive
trading days of the immediately preceding fiscamger is greater than or equal to 130% of the crmiee price on each applicable trading day;
(2) during the five business day period followinty dive consecutive trading day period in which ttasing price for the Notes is less than
98% of the average of the closing sale price ofammmon stock for each day during such five tradiag period; or (3) if we make specified
distributions to holders of our common stock aspécified corporate transactions occur. Upon caierr we would pay the holders in cash
the principal amount of the Note and, if applicalsleares of our common stock (subject to our riglateliver cash in lieu of all or a portion of
such shares of our common stock) based on a ctdduliaily conversion value. If a fundamental chaoggurs prior to the maturity date,
holders of the Notes may require us to repurchthee a portion of their Notes for cash at a refnase price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Notes, plus any accrued and unpgadast. In addition, if specific corporate eventsur prior to the maturity date, we will
increase the conversion rate for a holder who lectonvert its Notes in connection with such ipomate event in certain circumstances.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, weezad into convertible note hedge transactions alhewe have the option to purchase
up to 5.3 million shares of our common stock atiegpof approximately $124.52 per share. The cbti@convertible note hedge transactions
was $177.5 million. In addition, we sold warrantsereby the holders of the warrants have the optigrurchase up to approximately
5.3 million shares of our common stock at a prit®184.48 per share. We received $120.3 milliondsh proceeds from the sale of these
warrants. Taken together, the purchase of the etihleenote hedges and the sale of warrants aemd®d to offset any actual dilution from the
conversion of the Notes and to effectively incretseoverall conversion price from $124.52 to $48%er share.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the closing erad our common stock did not meet or exceed 13Dheoapplicable conversion price
of our Notes on at least 20 of the last 30 consextitading days of the quarter; furthermore, neeotconditions allowing holders of the Notes
to convert have been met as of December 31, 2t&eTore, the Notes are not convertible duringfitise quarter of 2014 and are classified as
long-term debt. Should the closing price conditibesmet in the first quarter of 2014 or a futurewer, the Notes will be convertible at their
holders’ option during the immediately followingarter.

For more information on the Notes, see Note 6 toGansolidated Financial Statements included is Arinual Report on Form 10-K
under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemebtara.

Common Stock Offering and Concurrent Private Placen

Concurrent with the execution of the Notes andteelaransactions in May 2013, we also completeddi@offering of common stock
and sold a total of 3,902,862 shares of our comstock for total cash proceeds of approximately $B5&llion (which includes 487,857
shares or $45.0 million sold to our Chief
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Executive Officer (CEQ)), net of underwriting diseds and offering costs. We also sold 596,272 shaireur common stock to our CEO and
received total cash proceeds of $55.0 million prigate placement at the public offering price.

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits consist of payments that alla@mi@l customers to place an order for the fupunehase of a Model S or Model X.
These amounts are recorded as current liabilitiis the vehicle is delivered. We require full pagmt of the purchase price of the vehicle only
upon delivery of the vehicle to the customer. Antsurceived by us as customer deposits are generlrestricted as to their use by us. U
delivery of the vehicle, the related customer dépase applied against the customer’s total psetmice for the vehicle and recognized in
automotive sales as part of the respective vekalke

Historically, we have referred to such customerod@p as reservation payments and these initialvaton payments have been fully
refundable until such time that the customer setkthe vehicle specifications and entered intoralase agreement. We have eliminated the
reservation process for Model S in North Americd ammost of our markets in Europe, as vehicle potidn became more reliable and
customer wait times decreased. Customers nowtaitieeir purchase by ordering their customized M&deather than placing a generic
reservation in queue. As a result of this transiawvay from reservations, we have renamed thefiragen payments” caption on our
consolidated financial statements to “customer diégp8 Customer deposits related to Model X sglbresent fully refundable reservations. As
of December 31, 2013, we held customer deposi#d 68.2 million.

Summary of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 257,99: $(266,08:) $(128,039)
Net cash used in investing activiti (249,41) (206,93() (162,25
Net cash provided by financing activiti 635,42: 419,63! 446,00(

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are sigpaifitly affected by our cash investments to supih@&igrowth of our business in areas
such as manufacturing, research and developmersgadiiny, general and administrative. Our operatiagh flows are also affected by our
working capital needs to support growth and fluiares in inventory, personnel related expendituaespunts payable and other current asse
and liabilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2358illion during the year ended December 31, 204t3of adjustments for non-cash
items such as depreciation and amortization of #168llion, $80.7 million related to stock-basedmmensation expense, inventory write-
downs of $8.9 million, $5.6 million related to theortization of all remaining DOE loan originatioosts as a result of the repayment of our
outstanding loans under the DOE Loan Facility a&d $nillion related to the amortization of debtadiant on our Notes, partially offset by
other income associated with the reduction invalue of the DOE common stock warrant liability&df0.7 million. Significant operating cash
inflows were comprised primarily of automotive saté $2.00 billion, a $537.4 million net increasadeferred revenue, resale value guarante
and other long-term liabilities primarily associtgith Model S deliveries with the resale value rgudee, $15.7 million of development
services revenue and a $24.2 million net increaseistomer deposits, partially offset by a $21.Bioni increase in accounts receivable due to
regulatory credit sales recognized at the endefdbirth quarter and receivables from our finangagners.
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Significant operating cash outflows for the yeadesh December 31, 2013 were primarily related t&&billion of cost of revenues, a
$463.3 million increase in inventory and operatie@se vehicles, $517.5 million of operating expsnaad a $17.5 million increase in prepaid
expenses and other current assets, partially dffsat$66.3 million increase in accounts payabteaotrued liabilities primarily due to the
timing of vendor payments.

Net cash used in operating activities was $266Illomiduring the year ended December 31, 2012.[&tgest component of our cash
used during this period related to our net los$3#6.2 million, which included non-cash charge$%8.1 million related to stock-based
compensation expense, $28.8 million related toesation and amortization and $4.9 million relatedventory write-downs and adverse
purchase commitments. Significant operating casfiases were primarily related to $424.4 million operating expenses, a $194.7 million
increase in inventory and operating lease vehefes$383.2 million of cost of revenues, partiaffiset by a $197.4 million increase in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and & filllion decrease in prepaid expenses and otheemtassets.

Inventory increased to meet our planned productguirements for Model S and powertrain componadtsystem sales while the net
increase in accounts payable and accrued liakilti@s due to both the growth of our business aaditing of vendor payments.

Significant operating cash inflows for the year ethdecember 31, 2012 were comprised primarily tdraotive sales of $385.7 million,
a $47.1 million net increase in customer deposits$27.6 million of development services revenue.

Net cash used in operating activities was $128Iomifor the year ended December 31, 2011. Thgelstrcomponent of our cash used
during this period related to our net loss of $254illion, which included non-cash charges of $28@iHion related to stock-based
compensation expense, $16.9 million related toegation and amortization and $2.8 million relatedhe fair value change in our warrant
liability. Significant operating cash outflows wesemarily related to $313.1 million of operatingpenses, $142.6 million of cost of revenues
and a $13.6 million increase in inventory and ofegdease vehicles, partially offset by a $30.8iom increase in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, and a $2.6 million increas®iher long-term liabilities. Inventory increasednieet our production requirements for the
Tesla Roadster as we planned for the final prodaaif the Tesla Roadster and powertrain comporedas s well as leasing activities. The
increase in accounts payable and accrued liakilti@s due to both the growth of our business aaditing of vendor payments.

Significant operating cash inflows during the yeaded December 31, 2011 were comprised primarigutdmotive sales of $148.6
million, $55.7 million of development services raue and a $61.0 million net increase in customposi¢s, partially offset by a $2.8 million
increase in accounts receivable and a $1.9 mitlEgrease in deferred revenue. The increase in atxeceivable was related primarily to
receivables from Toyota for shipments of powert@mponents under the Toyota RAV4 EV Phase 1 cargexvices agreement and
shipments of battery packs and chargers to Daiarlder the Daimler Smart fortwo and A-Class EV paogs.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities primarily redao capital expenditures to support our growtbperations, including investments in
Model S manufacturing and our stores, service anef&harger network infrastructure, as well agictstl cash that we were required to
maintain in relation to our DOE Loan Facility, fétyi lease agreements, equipment financing, anthicevendor credit policies.

Net cash used in investing activities was $249 Mianiduring the year ended December 31, 2013 milyneelated to $264.2 million in
purchases of capital equipment and tooling to sttpper manufacturing facility and expand our staervice and a Supercharger network,
including $18.5 million related to the purchase of
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additional land at our Fremont factory and a $Milon net transfer out of our dedicated DOE aatoas a result of the termination of our
DOE Loan Facility.

Net cash used in investing activities was $206.8aniduring the year ended December 31, 2012 milyneelated to $239.2 million in
purchases of capital equipment and tooling, paytafset by a $25.0 million in maturities of shaerm marketable securities and an $8.6
million net transfer of cash out of our dedicate@Baccount in accordance with the provisions oD Loan Facility.

Net cash used in investing activities was $162/8aniduring the year ended December 31, 2011 milyneelated to $184.2 million in
purchases of capital equipment and $65.0 milliopurchases of short-term marketable securitiesigfigiroffset by $50.1 million of net
transfers out of our dedicated DOE account in atamoee with the provisions of the DOE Loan Faciihd $40.0 million from the maturity of
shortterm marketable securities. The increase in capitethases was primarily due to significant develept and construction activities at
Tesla Factory as well as purchases of Model Seglatanufacturing equipment and tooling.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $@3%illion during the year ended December 31, 20iBwas comprised primarily of
$660.0 million from our Notes offering in May 201%415.0 million received from our public offerinff@ommon stock and concurrent private
placement completed in May 2013, $120.3 milliomirthe sale of warrants as part of our bond heddenamrant transactions executed in May
2013, and $95.3 million received from the exeraseommon stock options by employees and the pseb&common stock under our
employee stock purchase plan; partially offset 85263 million related to our repayment of all oateting loan principal under the DOE Loan
Facility, $177.5 million related to the purchasecohvertible note hedges as part of our bond haddewvarrant transactions executed in May
2013, $16.9 million of Notes and common stock issgecosts and $8.4 million related to principalmpants on our capital leases.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $818illion during the year ended December 31, 20i®was comprised primarily of
$221.5 million received from our follow-on publi¢fering completed in October 2012, $188.8 milli@ceived from our draw-downs under the
DOE Loan Facility and $24.9 million received frohetexercise of common stock options by employedstsnpurchase of common stock
under our employee stock purchase plan, partidisebby $12.7 million related to our first qualjerepayment of principal related to our lo:
under the DOE Loan Facility, and $2.8 million rel&to principal repayments on capital leases.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $848illion during the year ended December 31, 20id vaas comprised primarily of
$231.5 million received from our follow-on publi¢fering and concurrent private placements complaietine 2011, $204.4 million received
from our drawdowns under the DOE Loan Facility and $10.5 millieneived from the exercise of common stock optlmnemployees and t
purchase of common stock under our employee stoadhpse plan.

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of DecemberZ113 certain significant cash obligations that wafflect our future liquidity (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 tﬁ(éga?tg?
Operating lease obligations $161,48( $27,00¢ $27,37: $26,62: $24,70¢ $ 55,78¢
Capital lease obligatior 21,79 8,92 7,752 4,512 59¢ 4
Convertible deb 704,53t 10,10: 9,891 9,891 9,89i 664,74
Total $887,81« $46,03. $45,02. $41,03( $35,19¢ $720,53:
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In October 2010, we completed the purchase of esgtalFactory located in Fremont, California fromaNénited Motor Manufacturing,
Inc. (NUMMI). NUMMI has previously identified envanmental conditions at the Fremont site which caifidct soil and groundwater, and is
currently undertaking efforts to address these itimmg. Although we have been advised by NUMMI tiditas documented and managed the
environmental issues, we cannot determine withrag®st the potential costs to remediate any pretiexjscontamination. Based on
management’s best estimate, we estimated thedhiewf the environmental liabilities that we assdno be $5.3 million. As NUMMI
continues with its decommissioning activities asdve continue with our construction and operatictiyaies, it is reasonably possible that our
estimate of environmental liabilities may changderally.

We reached an agreement with NUMMI under whichy@vten year period, we will pay the first $15.0liom of any costs of any
governmentally-required remediation activities dontamination that existed prior to the completiéthe facility and land purchase for any
known or unknown environmental conditions, and NUMMs agreed to pay the next $15.0 million for stezhediation activities. Our
agreement provides, in part, that NUMMI will pay tapthe first $15.0 million on our behalf if suchpenses are incurred in the first four years
of our agreement, subject to our reimbursementict £osts on the fourth anniversary date of thsitp Through December 31 2013,
remediation costs of $2.1 million had been incutsgdUMMI; therefore, we classified $2.1 million 6.5 million environmental liabilities 1
accrued liabilities on our consolidated balanceeshe of December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 20832012, we accrued a total of $5.5
million and $5.3 million related to these environtta liabilities, respectively.

On the ten-year anniversary of the closing or wkien&30.0 million has been spent on the remediattivities, whichever comes first,
NUMMI s liability to us with respect to remediation atties ceases, and we are responsible for any lheddronmental conditions at the
Fremont site. At that point in time, we have agreethdemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUMMI fraihliability and we have released
NUMMI for any known or unknown claims except for MMI s obligations for representations and warrantieden the agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not haveicglahips with unconsolidated entities or finangattnerships, such as entities often
referred to as structured finance or special pwemugities, which would have been establishediferpurpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or fhipurposes.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Foreign Currency Risk

Our revenues and costs denominated in foreign cige are not completely matched. We commencedattids of Model S in June 20
to customers in North America and to European eusts in August 2013. Through December 31, 2013ajanity of our revenues have been
denominated in U.S. dollars, with a growing expesioreuro and Norwegian krona; however, a portiosuo costs and expenses during the
year ended December 31, 2013 was denominatedaigfocurrencies, including the Japanese yen, enddatish pound. Accordingly, if th
value of the U.S. dollar depreciates significamiiyainst currencies where we have a net short exposur costs as measured in U.S. dollars a
a percent of our revenues will correspondingly éase which may adversely impact our operating tesile plan to start Asian deliveries in
2014. As we continue to launch Model S overseasnag have greater revenues than costs denomimatgher currencies, in which case a
strengthening of the dollar against such currenei®sld tend to reduce our revenues as measuredinddllars.

As a result of a favorable foreign currency excleimgpact from foreign currency-denominated lialafit especially related to the
Japanese yen, we recorded gains of $11.9 millicioign exchange transactions in other incomedrgp), net, for the year ended
December 31, 2013.
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Interest Rate Risk

We had cash and cash equivalents totaling $845l@mas of December 31, 2013. A significant pantiaf our cash and cash equivalents
were invested in money market funds. Cash and egsivalents are held for working capital purpo$®e.do not enter into investments for

trading or speculative purposes. We believe thatlavaot have any material exposure to change<ifeih value as a result of changes in
interest rates due to the short term nature otash equivalents.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $660.0 million eggte principal amount of convertible senior nateéstanding and capital lease
obligations of $20.6 million, all of which are fideate instruments. Therefore, our results of dpera are not subject to fluctuations in interes
rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of TéAtdors, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statenfeopei@ations, of comprehensive
loss, of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and of cdklws present fairly, in all material respectss financial position of Tesla Motors, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and 2012, anck¢hits of their operations and their cash floarsefach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accawgnfirinciples generally accepted in the Unitedestalf America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, éffedanternal control over financial reporting asecember 31, 2013, based on criteria
established ifnternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management ionssple for these financial statements, for mainitaj effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéveness of internal control over financial ogjing, included in Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appeatimgler Item 9A. Our responsibility is to expresgams on these financial statements and
on the Company’s internal control over financiadaging based on our integrated audits. We conduate audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States). Those standards requatevtl plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfal@tatements are free of material misstatemeditvehether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all materidpects. Our audits of the financial statemermsiited examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the éilahstatements, assessing the accounting prirscigled and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financé&éstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordx@r financial reporting included obtain
an understanding of internal control over finanogdorting, assessing the risk that a material wes&k exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrcbivased on the assessed risk. Our audits altadiedt performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclisdbose policies and procedures that (i) pertathéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readnaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 26, 2014
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Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

Operating lease vehicles, t
Property, plant and equipment, |
Restricted cas

Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Capital lease obligations, current port
Customer deposit
Convertible debt, current portic
Long-term debt, current portic
Total current liabilities
Common stock warrant liabilit
Capital lease obligations, less current por
Deferred revenue, less current port
Convertible debt, less current porti
Resale value guarant
Long-term debt, less current portir
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:

Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 100,000,000eshaunthorized; no shares issued and outstal
Common stock; $0.001 par value; 2,000,000,000 sterthorized as of December 31, 2013 and .
respectively; 123,090,990 and 114,214,274 shaseedsand outstanding as of December 31, 2

and 2012, respective
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31

December 31

2013 2012
$ 84588¢ $ 201,89
3,01z 19,09:
49,10¢ 26,84
340,35 268,50
27,57+ 8,43¢
1,265,93! 524,76t
382,42 10,07:
738,49 552,22
6,43¢ 5,15¢
23,63 21,96
$2,416,93  $1,114,19
$ 303,96¢ $ 30338
108,25: 39,79¢
91,88: 1,90¢
7,722 4,36¢
163,15: 138,81°
182 —
— 50,84
675,16( 539,10t
— 10,69:
12,85¢ 9,96¢
181,18( 3,06(
586,11 —
236,29 —
— 401,49
58,19; 25,17(
1,749,811 989,49
122 11F
1,806,61 1,190,19.
(1,139,62) (1,065,601
667,12( 124,70
$2,416,93  $1,114,19

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Revenues

Automotive sale:
Development service
Total revenue
Cost of revenues
Automotive sale!
Development service
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expense:
Research and developmt

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Selling, general and administrati
Total operating expens:

Loss from operation

Interest incomt

Interest expens

Other income (expense), r

Loss before income taxi
Provision for income taxe

Net loss

Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi

Weighted average shares used in computing nepksshare of common
stock, basic and dilute

Year Ended December 31

2013

$ 1,997,78

15,71(

2,013,49

1,543,87:

13,35¢

1,557,23.
456,26.

231,97t
285,56

517,541

(61,28%)
18¢
(32,939

22,60:

(71,426
2,58¢

$ (74,019
$ (0.67)

119,421,41

2012

$  385,69¢
27,55]
413,25¢

371,65¢
11,53!
383,18¢
30,06

273,97
150,37:
424,35

(394,28))

28¢

(254)

(1,826)
(396,07

13€

$  (396,21)

$ (3.69)

107,349,18

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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2011

$  148,56!
55,674
204,24

115,48:
27,16¢
142,64
61,59¢

208,98
104,10;
313,08

(251,48))

25¢

(43)

(2,646)
(253,92)

48¢

$  (254,41)

$ (2.59

100,388,81
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Unrealized net loss on sh-term marketable securiti
Reclassification adjustment for gain included ihloss
Other comprehensive income (lo
Comprehensive los

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011

$74,01¢ $396,21: $254,41:

— ©)
— 3 —
— 3 (©)
$74,01¢ $396,21( $254,41.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

93



Table of Contents

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Balance as of December 31, 20:
Issuance of common stock in June 2011 public ofteat $28.76 per share, net of
issuance costs of $3(
Issuance of common stock in June 2011 concurrértprplacements at $28.76 p
share
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodbmgtnet of repurchas
Issuance of common stock under employee stock paechlar
Stocl-based compensatic
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized loss on shterm marketable securities, r
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance as of December 31, 20:
Issuance of common stock in October 2012 publierofy at $28.25 per share, ne
issuance costs of $5t
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodbmgtnet of repurchas
Issuance of common stock under employee stock paechlar
Stocl-based compensatic
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized loss on sh-term marketable securities, r
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance as of December 31, 20:
Issuance of common stock in May 2013 public offgrn $92.20 per share, net of
issuance costs of $6,3
Issuance of common stock in May 2013 concurrenigpei placements at $92.20 per
share
Conversion feature of convertible senior notes 2048
Purchase of bond hedg
Sales of warrar
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmg
Issuance of common stock upon release of restrattexk units, net of shares
withheld for employee taxe
Issuance of common stock under employee stock peechlar
Stocl-based compensatic
Net loss
Balance as of December 31, 20:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

Common Stock

Accumulated

Other

Additional : Total

Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity
94,908,37 $ 95 $ 62193¢ $ (41498) $ = $ 207,04
6,095,001 6 172,40: — — 172,40¢
2,053,47! 2 59,05¢ — — 59,05¢
1,250,00: 1 6,64 — — 6,64:
223,45t — 3,88: — — 3,88:
— — 29,41¢ — — 29,41¢
_ — — (254,41) — (254,41))
— — — — 3) 3
— — — — — (254,419
104,530,30 104 893,33 (669,39:) 3) 224,04!
7,964,60. 8 221,48: — — 221,49:
1,345,84 2 16,49¢ — — 16,50(
373,52t 1 8,38¢ — — 8,38¢
— — 50,48t — — 50,48
— — — (396,21) — (396,21)
— — — — 3 3
— — — — — (396,21()
114,214,27 11E 1,190,19 (1,065,601 — 124,70(
3,902,86: 3 353,62 — — 353,63:
596,27. 1 55,00( — — 55,00:
— — 82,84: — — 82,84
— — (177,540 — — (177,540
— — 120,31¢ — — 120,31¢
3,852,67. 3 82,57( — — 82,57:
6,16€ — (1,116 — — (1,11¢)
518,74 1 13,84¢ — — 13,84¢
— — 86,87t — — 86,87!
— — — (74,019 — (74,019
123,09099 $ 12¢ $1,806,61 $ (1,139,62) $ = $ 667,12(
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby (used in) operating activiti¢
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensatic
Amortization of discount on convertible de
Inventory writedowns
Write-off of Department of Energy (DOE) loan originatiocosts
Change in fair value of DOE warrant liabili
Other noi-cash operating activitie
Foreign currency transaction g:
Changes in operating assets and liabili
Accounts receivabl
Inventories and operating lease vehic
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Customer deposi
Resale value guarant
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment excluding aldpase:
Withdrawals out of our dedicated Department of Byerccount, ne
(Increase) decrease in other restricted |
Purchases of marketable securi
Maturities of sho-term marketable securiti
Net cash used in investing activit
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from convertible de
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in pubfariofy
Proceeds from issuance of warrg
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and otioek$ssuance
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in priviaeemen
Principal payments on DOE loa
Purchase of convertible note hed
Common stock and convertible debt issuance ¢
Principal payments on capital leases and other
Proceeds from DOE loal
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental Disclosures

Interest paic

Income taxes pai

Supplemental noncash investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
$ (74,019  $(396,21)  $(254,41)
106,08 28,82 16,91
80,73’ 50,14¢ 29,41
9,14: — —
8,91¢ 4,92¢ 1,82¢
5,55¢ — —
(10,69:) 1,85¢ 2,75(
3,611 1,56( 232
3,65¢ — —
(21,91) (17,309 (2,829
(463,270 (194,72() (13,639
(17,46) 1,121 (249
(342) (482) (289)
(249 187,82 19,89
66,56’ 9,60: 10,62(
268,15 (526) (1,92)
24,24 47,05¢ 61,00
236,29 — —
32,07 10,25 2,641
257,99 (266,08) (128,03)
(264,229 (239,229 (184,221)
14,75: 8,62( 50,12;
55 (1,330 (3,209
— (14,99) (64,95)
— 40,00( 40,00(
(249,41) (206,93() (162,25
660,00( — —
360,00( 221,49 172,410
120,31t — —
95,30' 24,88t 10,52
55,00( — 59,05
(452,33) (12,710 —
(177,540 — —
(16,907 = =
(8,42 (2,839 (416)
— 188,79 204,42;
635,42; 419,63 446,001
643,99 (53,37¢) 155,70
201,89( 255,261 99,55t
$ 845,88 $ 201,89 $ 255,261
$ 9,041 $ 6,93t $ 347
257 117 282
38,78 44,89( 15,59:
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Tesla Motors, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Overview of the Company

Tesla Motors, Inc. (Tesla, we, us or our) was ipooated in the state of Delaware on July 1, 2008.d&sign, develop, manufacture and
sell high-performance fully electric vehicles amtyanced electric vehicle powertrain components.Hate whollyowned subsidiaries in Nor
America, Europe and Asia. The primary purpose e$¢hsubsidiaries is to market, manufacture, sdlloarservice our vehicles.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of Tesla and its wholly owned subsidiaddksignificant inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminatezhisotidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statementsd reported amounts of expenses during thetieggreriod, including revenue recognition,
residual value of operating lease vehicles, inugmialuation, warranties, fair value of financiaktruments and stock-based compensation.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues from sales of Model S and¢iséa Roadster, including vehicle options and s&aees, vehicle service and sales
of regulatory credits, such as zero emission veli€EV) and greenhouse gas emission (GHG) cregiiteiell as sales of electric vehicle
powertrain components and systems, such as batiels and drive units and sales of services retatéue development of these systems. We
recognize revenue when: (i) persuasive evidenes @frrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurrredithere are no uncertainties regarding
customer acceptance; (iii) fees are fixed or deitgabie; and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.

For multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, Meeate revenue to each element based on a selliog hierarchy. The selling price
for a deliverable is based on its vendor speciiiective evidence (VSOE) if available, third pagtyidence (TPE) if VSOE is not available, or
estimated selling price if neither VSOE nor TPBvsilable.
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Automotive Sales
Automotive sales consisted of the following for fferiods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Vebhicle, options and related sales $1,952,68. $354,34. $101,70¢
Powertrain component and related si 45,10: 31,35¢ 46,86(
Total automotive sale $1,997,78 $385,69! $148,56¢

Automotive sales consist primarily of revenue edrftem the sales of the Model S, Tesla Roadstéricleservice, and vehicle options,
accessories and destination charges as well asdfalegulatory credits. Automotive sales also @ind revenue earned from the sales of
electric vehicle powertrain components and systasmnsh as battery packs and drive units, to othemaotive manufacturers. Sales or other
amounts collected in advance of meeting all ofrehve@nue recognition criteria are not recognizethéconsolidated statements of operations
and are instead recorded as deferred revenue aotiselidated balance sheets.

In regards to the sale of Model S and the TesladRea, revenue is generally recognized when &srasd rewards of ownership are
transferred to our customers. In certain circuntstanwe may deliver a vehicle to a customer wittadiuadf the options ordered by the customel
if the options do not limit the functionality ofahvehicle. In such cases, we will continue to déferrelated revenue based on the undelivered
item’s fair value, as evidenced by the contracpuigde of the option in stand-alone transactionsenetavailable, or using the selling price
hierarchy where such prices do not exist. Additiign# a customer purchases a vehicle option thatires us to provide services in the future
we will defer the related revenue based on the liraded items'fair value and recognize the associated revenueaureexpected performan
period.

While the sale of vehicle option may take placessaiely from a vehicle sale, they are often pag single vehicle sales agreement
resulting in multiple element arrangements. To uheitee the appropriate accounting for recognitiomof revenue, we consider whether the
deliverables specified in the multiple element agement should be treated as separate units ofiaiieg, and, if so, how the price should be
allocated among the elements, when to recogniznteyfor each element, and the period over whigdmee should be recognized. We also
evaluate whether a delivered item has value oaradsalone basis prior to delivery of the remairitegs by determining whether we have
made separate sales of such items or whether tedivered items are essential to the functionalftthe delivered items. Further, we assess
whether we know the fair value of the undelivertetinis, determined by reference to stand-alone s&lsch items. To date, we have generally
been able to establish the fair value for eactefdeliverables within these multiple element agesments because we sell each of the vehicle
vehicle accessories and options separately, outidey multiple element arrangements. As eachedd items has stand-alone value to the
customer, revenue from sales of vehicle accessang®ptions are recognized when those specificsitere delivered to the customer. In the
case of access to our Supercharger network andectivity, we use our best estimate of selling peoe TPE, respectively, to allocate fair
value to the deliverables to be recognized overapected performance period. As of December 313 2@e had deferred $10.3 million
related to access to our Supercharger network @ntdriillion related to connectivity.

Resale Value Guarantee

In April 2013, we began offering a resale valuergutee to all customers who purchased a ModeltBeiftunited States and financed t|
vehicle through one of our specified commercialkiag partners, and in October 2013, we introdutésigrogram in Canada. Under the
program, Model S customers have the option ofregtiieir vehicle back to us during the period ot@89 months after delivery for a pre-
determined resale value. Although we receive tileafaount of cash for the vehicle sales price divdey, we account for transactions under
the resale value guarantee program as operatingdeAccordingly, we defer and amortize to
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automotive sales revenue the initial purchase denation less resale value guarantee amount aaigtstline basis, over the contractual term
of the guarantee program (i.e., the proxy operdgage term). Similarly, we capitalize and depitecibe cost of the respective operating lease
vehicles less expected salvage value to cost ofhaative sales over the same period. If a custoraeidds not to sell their vehicle back to us
the end of the resale value guarantee term, ae@e value guarantee is forfeited, any unamattiieferred revenue (including the amount of
the resale value guarantee) and operating leasele@let book value is then recognized in autongosiales and cost of automotive sales,
respectively.

The resale value guarantee amount represents nmaaage best estimate as to the resale value difitteel S vehicle and related vehicle
options during the 36 to 39 month period aftervd®ly. Since we are depreciating our operating leabéles to the resale value guarantee
amount, which approximates the expected salvage\al our operating lease vehicles at the endesf #tonomic useful life (i.e. the end of
their expected operating lease term), we will adjus depreciation estimates as needed, if theaegealvage value is projected to be lows
future periods. As we accumulate more actual datdaed to the resale experience of Model S, we neaequired to make significant changes
to our estimates.

Account activity related to our resale value gutgarprogram consisted of the following for the pénpresented (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31, 201
Operating lease vehicles under the resale valuagtee program—beginning of period $ —
Increase in operating lease vehicles under théergatue guarantee progre 396,36
Depreciation expense recorded in cost of automataes 17,17:
Additional depreciation expense recorded in costuwbmotive sales as a result of early cancellaifoesale valu
guarantet 2,211
Operating lease vehicles under the resale valuagtee progra—end of perioc $ 376,97¢
Deferred revenue related to the resale value gteggrogra—beginning of periot $ —
Increase in deferred revenue related to Model Batéts with resale value guaran 259,96:
Amortization of deferred revenue recorded in auttvecsales 27,654
Additional revenue recorded in automotive salea eesult of early cancellation of resale value gntee 1,452
Deferred revenue related to the resale value gteggrogra—end of perioc $ 230,85¢
Resale value guarantee liabi—beginning of perioc $ =
Increase in resale value guarar 237,62(
Additional revenue recorded in automotive salea eesult of early cancellation of resale value gntee 1,32
Resale value guarantee liabi—end of perioc $ 236,29¢

Regulatory Credits Sales

California and certain other states have laws atglrequiring vehicle manufacturers to ensureahmdrtion of the vehicles delivered for
sale in that state during each model year areamission vehicles. These laws and regulations geothiat a manufacturer of zero emission
vehicles may earn regulatory credits, and mayesaléss credits to other manufacturers who applly stedits to comply with these regulatory
requirements. Similar regulations exist at the fabtlievel that require compliance related to GHGssions and also allow for the sale of ex
credits by one manufacturer to other manufactufessa manufacturer solely of zero emission vehjaleshave earned emission credits, such
as ZEV and GHG credits on vehicles, and we exmecbhtinue to earn these credits in the futurec&all of our commercial vehicles are
electric, we do not receive any compliance beffiefin the generation of these credits, and accolyliogk to sell them to other vehicle
manufacturers. In order to facilitate the salehefe credits, we enter into contractual agreenveittighird
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parties requiring them to purchase our regulatoegits at pre-determined prices. We recognize nee@m the sale of these credits at the time
legal title to the credits is transferred to theghasing party by the governmental agency issuiegtedits. Revenue from the sale of regule
credits totaled $194.4 million, $40.5 million an2.% million for the years ended December 31, 2@032 and 2011, respectively.

Maintenance and Service Plans

We offer a prepaid maintenance program for Modetl8ch includes plans covering maintenance foraigight years or up to 100,000
miles, provided these services are purchased watlsipecified period of time. The maintenance ptanver annual inspections and the
replacement of wear and tear parts, excluding &inesthe battery, with either a fixed fee per VisitTesla Ranger service or unlimited Tesla
Ranger visits for a higher initial purchase prieayments collected in advance of the performansemvice are initially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets anghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our periance obligations.

We also offer an extended service plan, which otlee repair or replacement of Model S parts foaddhitional four years or up to an
additional 50,000 miles, after the end of our alitiew Vehicle Limited Warranty, provided they gu&rchased within a specified period of
time. For customers that are not covered by our Nehicle Limited Warranties or our extended seryitans, we offer Tesla Ranger servici
a higher cost. Payments collected in advance gbénarmance of service are initially recorded &fadred revenues on the consolidated
balance sheets and recognized in automotive sati@isly over the service coverage periods.

As of December 31, 2013, we had deferred $24.9anillelated to our maintenance and service plaosnD the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recognized revenue of $Al®mielated to these plans.

We provided Tesla Roadster customers with the dppity to purchase an extended warranty plan ferpriod after the end of our
initial New Vehicle Limited Warranty to cover addibal services for an additional three years 0086 miles. We refer to this program as our
Extended Service plan. Amounts collected on thakssre initially recorded in deferred revenueshenconsolidated balance sheets and
recognized in automotive sales over the extendedawty period. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012had:deferred $1.4 million and
$1.5 million, respectively. During the years en@mtember 31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized reveib@ 4 million and $0.1 million related
to this program, respectively.

Additionally, we have previously provided customef®ur Tesla Roadsters with a one-time optioreface the battery packs in their
vehicles at any time after the expiration of theMNéehicle Limited Warranty but before the tenth mensary of the purchase date of their
vehicles. We refer to this program as our BattegplRcement program. Amounts collected on these saeinitially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets anghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our ohtign to replace the battery packs. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had deferred $1idmand $1.2 million, respectively, related t@tBattery Replacement program and hav
not yet recognized any related revenues.

Development Services Revenue

Revenue from development services arrangementsstafisevenue earned from the development of gteeehicle powertrain
components and systems for other automobile maturas, including the design and development diebapacks, drive units and sample
vehicles to meet a customer’s specifications. Regeés recognized as the performance requiremergadaf development arrangement are me
and collection is reasonably assured. Where dem&op arrangements include substantive at-risk oifes, revenue is recognized based upo
the achievement of the contractually-defined miless. Amounts collected in advance of meetingfathe revenue recognition criteria are not
recognized in the consolidated statement of operatind are instead recorded as deferred reventire @onsolidated balance sheets. Costs ¢
development services are
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expensed as incurred. When development servicasgaments have multiple elements, we evaluatesiperability of the various deliverables
to ensure appropriate revenue recognition. Costiewélopment services incurred in periods prightofinalization of an agreement are
recorded as research and development expensesan@cgeement is finalized, these costs are redandeost of revenues.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with an original cemaining maturity of three months or less at the ddpurchase are considered to be
cash equivalents. We currently invest excess castaply in money market funds.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities have historically been cosgatiof commercial paper and corporate debt andlldesignated as available-for-sale
and reported at estimated fair value, with unrealigains and losses recorded in accumulated obhegprehensive loss which is included wit
stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and lossethersale of available-for-sale marketable secgriie recorded in other income (expense),
net. The cost of available-for-sale marketable sges sold is based on the specific identificatioathod. Interest, dividends, amortization and
accretion of purchase premiums and discounts omauketable securities are included in other incéexpense), net. Available-for-sale
marketable securities with maturities greater timee months at the date of purchase and remainatgrities of one year or less are classifiec
as short-term marketable securities. Where tempalexlines in fair value exist, we have the abidityd the intent to hold these securities for a
period of time sufficient to allow for any antictea recovery in fair value.

When held, we regularly review all of our marketabkcurities for other-than-temporary declinesinvalue. The review includes but is
not limited to (i) the consideration of the caus¢he impairment, (ii) the creditworthiness of thecurity issuers, (iii) the length of time a
security is in an unrealized loss position, andl ¢wr ability to hold the security for a periodtohe sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery in fair value.

Restricted Cash and Deposits

We maintain certain cash amounts restricted asttwlvawal or use. We maintained total restricteshcaf $9.4 million and $24.3 million
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectivelytrides! cash as of December 31, 2012 primarilyespnted cash held in separate dedicate
accounts required under our Department of EnergyEpPloan facility (see Note 6) and was used as ehar@sm to defer advances under the
DOE loan facility as well as to pifend planned loan repayments. Upon terminatiomef@OE loan facility in May 2013, $29.3 million deh
these dedicated accounts were released by the D@Eent and noncurrent restricted cash as of DeeeBib 2013 was comprised primarily
security deposits held by vendors as part of telees’ standard credit policies, security depasitated to lease agreements and equipment
financing, and certain refundable customer depssiggegated in accordance with state consumergiimigegulations.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acamts

Accounts receivable primarily include amounts rsliatio sales of powertrain systems and regulat@gity to other global automotive
manufacturers (OEMSs). In circumstances where wawasge of a specific customsiinability to meet its financial obligations to, wge provide
an allowance against amounts receivable to redwecadt recognized receivable to the amount we nedy believe will be collected. We
typically do not carry accounts receivable relatedur vehicle and related sales as customer pagnaea due prior to vehicle delivery, except
for the amounts due from commercial financial igibns for approved financing arrangements betvaarcustomers and the financial
institutions.
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Concentration of Risk
Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectaua ttoncentration of credit risk consist of cagtshcequivalents, restricted cash and
accounts receivable. Our cash equivalents are pghniavested in money market funds with high ctegliality financial institutions in the
United States. At times, these deposits and sézuritay be in excess of insured limits. We invashaot required for use in operations in |
credit quality securities based on our investmetitp. Our investment policy provides guidelinegldimits regarding credit quality,
investment concentration, investment type, and ritgtithat we believe will provide liquidity whileeducing risk of loss of capital. Historically,
when held, investments were of a short-term nanckincluded investments in corporate debt seesriti

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our accountsvaale were derived primarily from sales of regatgtcredits, as well as the
development and sales of powertrain componentsygsiems to OEMs. Accounts receivable also incliadedunts to be received from
commercial financial institutions for approved fiéng arrangements between our customers andrtéedial institutions.

The following summarizes the accounts receivaldefour OEM customers in excess of 10% of our @tabunts receivable:

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Customer A 3C% 56%
Customer E 9% 15%

Supply Risk

Although there may be multiple suppliers availabi@ny of the components used in our vehicles arehaised by us from a single
source. If these single source suppliers fail tsBaour requirements on a timely basis at contpetiprices, we could suffer manufacturing
delays, a possible loss of revenues, or incur higbst of sales, any of which could adversely dféer operating results.

Inventories and Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or maiRost is computed using standard cost, whichoxppates actual cost on a first-in,
first-out basis. We record inventory write-downséd on reviews for excess and obsolescence detsmpimarily by future demand
forecasts. We also adjust the carrying value ofiougntories when we believe that the net realizablue is less than the carrying value. Tt
write-downs are measured as the difference bettfeenost of the inventory, including estimated sastcomplete, and estimated selling
prices. Once inventory is written down, a new, lowest basis for that inventory is established, sutobsequent changes in facts and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorease in that newly established cost basis.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized atiess accumulated depreciation. Depreciation megsly computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives ofrtated assets as follows:

Computer equipment and softw 3 years
Office furniture, machinery and equipme¢ 3 to 12 year:
Building and building improvemen 30 years
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Depreciation for tooling is computed using the siufproduction method whereby capitalized costs arertized over the total estimat
productive life of the related assets. During tearyended December 31, 2013, we increased theagstimproductive life for tooling from
125,000 vehicles to 150,000 vehicles based on et estimates of production.

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a stréiightbasis over the shorter of their estimateduldiafes or the term of the related
lease.

Upon the retirement or sale of our property, pkrd equipment, the cost and related accumulategciafion are removed from the
balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss lisatefl in operations. Maintenance and repair exipged are expensed as incurred, while m
improvements that increase functionality of theeasse capitalized and depreciated ratably to esgpener the identified useful life. Land is
depreciated.

Interest expense on outstanding debt is capitatizeihg the period of significant capital assetstainction. Capitalized interest on
construction in progress is included in propertgnpand equipment, and is amortized over thedlifthe related assets.

Operating Lease Vehicles

Vehicles delivered under our resale value guargmtegram, vehicles that are leased as part ofeasithg program as well as any vehi
that are sold with a significant buy-back guaramteeclassified as operating lease vehicles asethted revenue transactions are treated as
operating leases. Operating lease vehicles areded@t cost less accumulated depreciation. Degireciis computed using the straight-line
method over the expected operating lease termtofhkcost of operating lease vehicles recordatiénconsolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $401.9 million dr&d4smillion, respectively. Accumulated depreciatielated to leased vehicles as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $19.5 million an8 $llion, respectively.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are atized over their estimated useful lives. As of Daber 31, 2013 and 2012, intangible
assets were comprised of emission permits relatedr Tesla Factory. Although these emission parfraive a longer useful life than the Tesle
Factory, they are related to the operation of cesld Factory and therefore, are amortized ovesdhee useful life.

Long-lived Assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets, including intialegassets, for indicators of possible impairmehén events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of aeta®r asset group) may not be recoverable. Inmgait exists if the carrying amounts of
such assets exceed the estimates of future netamuited cash flows expected to be generated thyamsets. Should impairment exist, the
impairment loss would be measured based on thesgxagrying value of the asset over the asseima®d fair value. As of December 31,
2013 and 2012, we did not record any material inmpaint losses on our long-lived assets.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed aethdResearch and development expenses consisdryi of payroll, benefits and
stock-based compensation of those employees engageskarch, design and development activitiestsa@lated to design tools, license
expenses related to intellectual property, suppliesservices, depreciation and other occupandg.caiso included in research and
development are development services costs ingufrady, prior to the finalization of agreementghiour development services customers a:
reaching a final agreement and revenue recogrigioot assured. Development services costs incaftedthe finalization of an agreement
recorded in cost of revenues.
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Advertising and Promotion Costs

Advertising and sales promotion costs are expeasedcurred. During the years ended December 313,2D12 and 2011, advertising,
promotion and related marketing expenses werer@flion, $3.9 million and $2.9 million, respectivel

Shipping and Handling Costs

Amounts billed to customers related to shipping baddling are classified as revenue, and relatggisty and handling costs are
included in cost of revenues.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are computed using the asset antitliabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatilities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement andteses of assets and liabilities using enactedatas in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incoraduation allowances are established when necessaegduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

We record liabilities related to uncertain tax piosis when, despite our belief that our tax refamsitions are supportable, we believe tha
it is more likely than not that those positions nmay be fully sustained upon review by tax authesitAccrued interest and penalties related tc
unrecognized tax benefits are classified as incamexpense.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for costs refataitl share-based payments, including stock opticestricted stock units (RSUS)
and our employee stock purchase plan (the ESPR)faiihvalue of stock options and the ESPP arenes#id on the grant date and offering «
using an option pricing model, respectively. Thie ¥alue of RSUs is measured on the grant datecbas¢he closing fair market value of our
common stock. Stock-based compensation expenseagiized on a straight-line basis over the regussrvice period, net of estimated
forfeitures.

We account for equity instruments issued to nonleyees based on the fair value of the awards. ainesélue of the awards granted to
non-employees is re-measured as the awards veshamesulting change in fair value, if any, isageized in the consolidated statements of
operations during the period the related servicesendered.

For performance-based awards, stock-based compEnsapense is recognized over the expected peafocmachievement period of
individual performance milestones when the achiev@of each individual performance milestone becprebable.

For performance-based awards with a vesting schdsaded entirely on the attainment of both perfocaand market conditions, the
stock-based compensation expense is recognizeshér pair of performance and market conditions twetonger of the expected
achievement period of the performance and markaditons, beginning at the point in time that te&want performance condition is
considered probable of being met (see Note 8).

Foreign Currency Remeasurement and Transactions

For each of our foreign subsidiaries, the functiamuarency is the U.S. Dollar. For these foreighsidiaries, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in non-U.S. currenciesaeneasured to U.S. Dollars using current exchaaigs in effect at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated inlddh currencies are maintained at historical @&lar exchange rates. Revenues and
expenses are re-measured at average U.S. Dollghiypoates.

103



Table of Contents

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses ezsudt of the effect of exchange rate changesamsactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency. Transactiomgaind losses are recognized in other income (sgpemet, in the consolidated statements o
operations. For the year ended December 31, 204 3eeorded foreign currency transaction gains dt$nillion. For the years ended
December 2012 and 2011, foreign currency transag#ns and losses were not significant.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss aner @bmprehensive income (loss). Other compreheimsdaene (loss) consists of
unrealized gains and losses on our available-fiersarketable securities that have been excluaed the determination of net loss.

Warranties

We provide a warranty on all vehicle, productiomveadrain components and systems sales, and weeaa@nuanty reserves at the time a
vehicle or production powertrain component or sysie delivered to the customer. Warranty resemefide management’s best estimate of
the projected costs to repair or to replace angstander warranty, based on actual warranty expezias it becomes available and other
known factors that may impact our evaluation ofdrisal data. For new vehicles, warranty reservesased on managemeniest estimate
projected warranty experience until adequate hibdata is accumulated. Our warranty reservesaddnclude projected warranty costs
associated with our resale value guarantee vehaslasich actual warranty costs are expensed asedcior the year ended December 31,
2013, warranty costs incurred for our resale vglug@rantee vehicles was $1.6 million. We may haveerizh changes as we accumulate more
actual data and experience. We review our resevieast quarterly to ensure that our accrualaideguate in meeting expected future
warranty obligations, and we will adjust our estiesaas needed. Warranty expense is recorded asmonent of cost of revenues in the
consolidated statements of operations. The podidhe warranty provision which is expected to teurred within 12 months from the balai
sheet date is classified as current, while the r@mgamount is classified as long-term.

We began recording warranty reserves with the comeeraent of Tesla Roadster sales in 2008. Initidlgsla Roadsters were sold wit
warranty of three years or 36,000 miles, which wierded to four years or 50,000 miles for the paseins of our 2008 Tesla Roadster. Tesla
Roadster customers had the opportunity to purcaagextended Service plan for the period after titceaf the New Vehicle Limited Warranty
to cover additional services for an additional ¢hyears or 36,000 miles, provided they are purchagthin a specified period of time.

In June 2012, we commenced deliveries of Modeld®.odr Model S customers, we provide a four yeadB®0O00 miles New Vehicle
Limited Warranty, subject to separate limited waties for the supplemental restraint system antkhatThe New Vehicle Limited Warranty
also covers the battery for a period of eight years25,000 miles or unlimited miles, dependinglum size of the vehicle’s battery, although
the battery’s charging capacity is not covered. B@&icustomers also have the opportunity to puechasExtended Service plan for the perioc
after the end of the New Vehicle Limited Warrardycbver additional services for an additional fgears or 50,000 miles, provided they are
purchased within a specified period of time. Thidrg packs charging capacity is not covered under the Nehidle Limited Warranty or ar
Extended Service plan. Accrued warranty activitpsisted of the following for the periods preseriadhousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Accrued warranty—beginning of period $ 13,01 $ 6,31¢ $ 5,417

Warranty costs incurre (19,160 (3,429 (2,750
Net changes in liability for p-existing warranties, including expiratio (2,072 — —

Provision for warrant 61,40: 10,12: 3,64¢

Accrued warrant—end of perioc $ 53,18: $13,01¢ $6,31¢
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Environmental Liabilities

We are subject to federal and state laws and réguntafor the protection of the environment, inghgithose related to the discharge of
hazardous materials and remediation of contamirgited. In October 2010, we completed the purcbéser Tesla Factory located in
Fremont, California from New United Motor Manufadhg, Inc. (NUMMI). NUMMI has previously identifieénvironmental conditions at the
Fremont site which could affect soil and groundwade the owner of the Fremont site, we may beaasible for the entire investigation and
remediation of any environmental contaminatiorhatEremont site, whether it occurred before on dffte date we purchased the property.
Upon the completion of the purchase in October 2@&0recorded the fair value of the environmerniéddilities that we estimated to be $5.3
million. The fair value of these liabilities wastdamined based on an expected value analysis oéthted potential costs to investigate,
remediate and manage various environmental conditizat were identified as part of NUMMI’s facililecommissioning activities as well as
our own diligence efforts. Estimated potential sagie not discounted to present value as the tiofipgyments cannot be reasonably
estimated. We assess adequacy of our accrued emardal liabilities for investigation and remedatiof any environmental contamination at
least quarterly and adjust our estimates as apiptepAs of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we accauethl of $5.5 million and $5.3 million
related to these environmental liabilities, resivety (see Note 12).

Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

Our basic and diluted net loss per share of comshaek is calculated by dividing net loss by theghd¢d-average shares of common
stock outstanding for the period. Potentially dilatshares, which are based on the number of shadeslying outstanding stock options and
warrants as well as our Notes, are not includedwtheir effect is antidilutive.

The following table presents the potential weightethmon shares outstanding that were excluded fhencomputation of basic and
diluted net loss per share of common stock forpméods, related to the following securities:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Stock options 13,881,35 25,007,77 15,806,66
Convertible senior note 411,56( — —

Employee stock purchase pl 23,29t 59,76: 39,13:
Restricted stock unit 224 — —

DOE warran 1,061,43! 2,342,35: 2,220,61
Common stock subject to repurchi — — 27¢

Since we will settle the principal amount of ousd% convertible senior notes (see Note 6) in cashjse the treasury stock method for
calculating any potential dilutive effect of thensersion spread on diluted net income per shaegpficable. The conversion spread will have
a dilutive impact on diluted net income per shdreamnmon stock when the average market price ofoarmon stock for a given period
exceeds the conversion price of $124.52 per share.

3. Balance Sheet Components
Inventory
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our inventonsisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
Raw materials $ 184,66 $ 163,63
Work in proces: 42,50( 24,53t
Finished good 69,32« 62,55¢
Service part: 43,86¢ 17,77:
Total $ 340,35 $ 268,50«
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We write down inventory as a result of excess dmblescence, or when we believe that the net eddéizzalue of inventories is less tt
the carrying value. During the years ended Decer@be013, 2012 and 2011, we recorded write-doviig8® million, $5.0 million and $1.8
million, respectively, in cost of automotive sales.

Property, Plant and Equipment
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our propertyitidad equipment, net, consisted of the followingliousands):

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
Machinery, equipment and office furniture $ 322,39 $ 223,74
Tooling 230,38! 172,58:
Leasehold improvemen 94,76 39,22/
Building and building improvemen 67,70" 50,57
Land 45,02( 26,391
Computer equipment and softw 42,07: 22,12¢
Construction in progres 76,29 75,12¢
878,63t 609,77:
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (140,149 (57,549
Total $ 738,49« $ 552,22

Construction in progress is comprised primarilyas$ets related to the manufacturing of our Mod@l@yding building improvements at
our Tesla Factory in Fremont, California as welt@ding and manufacturing equipment and capitdliréerest expense. Depreciation of these
assets begins when they are ready for their inttnde. Interest expense on outstanding debt isadiapd during the period of significant
capital asset construction. Capitalized interestamstruction in progress is included in propeptant and equipment, and is amortized ovel
life of the related assets. During the years ermdlectember 31, 2013 and 2012, we capitalized $3.5omiand $7.6 million of interest expense,
respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense during tteesyended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 wer8 88Hon, $25.3 million and
$14.6 million, respectively. Total property and gupent assets under capital lease as of Decembh@0328 and 2012 were $23.3 million and
$8.1 million, respectively. Accumulated depreciatielated to assets under capital lease as of ttaes were $5.0 million and $1.0 million,
respectively.

Other Assets
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our other assetsisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Emission permits $ 13,93( $ 14,26
Debt issuance costs, r 7,31¢ —
Loan facility issuance costs, r — 5,75¢
Other 2,39: 1,93
Total $ 23,63 $ 21,96:

Emission permits are related to the operation ofl@sla Factory; therefore, we amortize the emispigrmits over the same useful life.
Debt issuance costs are related to the 1.50% ctipleesenior notes (Notes) issued in May 2013 ($et 6). Loan facility issuance costs
associated with our DOE loan facility (see Notev&ye written-off to interest expense during theryeraded December 31, 2013 upon the
extinguishment of our DOE loan facility in May 2013
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Accrued Liabilities
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our accrueditiakiconsisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

Taxes payable $ 38,06 $ 9,71
Payroll and related cos 26,53t 15,52t
Accrued warranty, current portic 19,917 3,05¢
Accrued purchase 19,02: 10,33«
Environmental liabilities, current portic 2,13 —
Other 2,57¢ 1,17:
Total $ 108,25. $ 39,79¢

Other Long-Term Liabilities
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our other long+-teabilities consisted of the following (in thoarsds):

December 31 December 31
2013 2012

Accrued warranty, less current portion $ 33,26 $ 9,957
Deferred rent liability 9,88¢ 6,07t
Deferred tax liabilitie: 6,821 33C
Environmental liabilities, less current porti 3,36¢ 5,30(
Other 4,861 3,50¢
Total $ 58,19 $ 25,17(

4, Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of our financial instrumentsliding cash equivalents, marketable securitiesy@atts receivable and accounts
payable approximate their fair value due to thkarsterm nature. As a basis for determining thevialue of certain of our assets and
liabilities, we established a three-tier fair vahierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in meang fair value as follows: (Level 1)
observable inputs such as quoted prices in actarkets; (Level 1) inputs other than the quoteagsiin active markets that are observable
either directly or indirectly; and (Level Ill) unsbérvable inputs in which there is little or no netrlata which requires us to develop our own
assumptions. This hierarchy requires us to userediske market data, when available, and to minirttizeuse of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value. Our financial assets thatrmeasured at fair value on a recurring basisisbokcash equivalents and marketable
securities. Our liabilities that are measured atvaue on a recurring basis have consisted héstly of our common stock warrant liability.

All of our cash equivalents and current restriatadh, which are comprised primarily of money mafiatls, are classified within Level |
of the fair value hierarchy because they are valisig quoted market prices or market prices fimilar securities. Our common stock warran
liability (see Note 6) was classified within Le\#lof the fair value hierarchy.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair valeeanchy for our financial assets and financialilinés that are carried at fair value
was as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201;
Fair Value Level | Level Il Level Il Fair Value Level | Level Il Level Il
Money market funds $460,31¢ $460,31¢ $— $ —  $60,27: $6027: $— $ —
Common stock warrant liabilit $ - $ — $ — $ — $10,69: $ — $ —  $10,69:
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The changes in the fair value of our common stoakrant liability were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012
Fair value, beginning of period $ 10,69: $ 8,83¢
Change in fair valu (10,699 1,85¢
Fair value, end of peria $ — $10,69:

The estimated fair value of our Notes based onkehapproach was approximately $914.9 million (glue of $660.0 million) as of
December 31, 2013, and represents a Level Il vialuathe estimated fair value of our DOE loans Hame a market approach was
approximately $366.9 million (par value of $452.8lion) as of December 31, 2012, and representecLi valuations. When determining t
estimated fair value of our long-term debt, we us@dmmonly accepted valuation methodology and eiassed risk measurements that are
indirectly observable, such as credit risk.

5. Customer Deposits

Customer deposits consist of payments that allo@rg@l customers to place an order for the fupuneehase of a Model S or Model X.
These amounts are recorded as current liabilititis the vehicle is delivered. We require full pagmt of the purchase price of the vehicle only
upon delivery of the vehicle to the customer. Antsueceived by us as customer deposits are genedlrestricted as to their use by us. LU
delivery of the vehicle, the related customer dép@se applied against the customer’s total pwsetmice for the vehicle and recognized in
automotive sales as part of the respective vebalke

Historically, we have referred to such customerod@p as reservation payments and these initiatvason payments have been fully
refundable until such time that the customer setette vehicle specifications and entered intoralmse agreement. We have eliminated the
reservation process for Model S in North Americd anmost of our markets in Europe, as vehicle potidn became more reliable and
customer wait times decreased. Customers nowtmitieir purchase by ordering their customized M&dether than placing a generic
reservation in queue. As a result of this transigavay from reservations, we have renamed thefraen payments” caption on our
consolidated financial statements to “customer diégp8 Customer deposits related to Model X sgfpresent fully refundable reservations.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we held custalegosits of $163.2 million and $138.8 million, restively.

6. Convertible Notes and Long-term Debt Obligations
1.50% Convertible Senior Notes and Bond Hedge andrk&int Transactions

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregategpial amount of Notes in a public offering. The peceeds from the offering, after
deducting transaction costs, were approximateh\8¥b#illion. We incurred $12.0 million of debt issce costs in connection with the
issuance of the Notes which we recorded in othegtasand are amortizing to interest expense ubmegftective interest method over the
contractual term of the Notes. The interest undemotes is fixed at 1.50% per annum and is paysdit@-annually in arrears on June 1 and
December 1 of each year, commencing on Decem{®1B. During the year ended December 31, 2013ga@gnized $1.2 million of interest
expense related to the amortization of debt issuansts and $5.9 million of coupon interest expense

Each $1,000 of principal of the Notes will initialbe convertible into 8.0306 shares of our comntonks which is equivalent to an initial
conversion price of approximately $124.52 per shsubject to adjustment upon the occurrence ofiipg@vents. Holders of the Notes may
convert their Notes at their option on or after
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March 1, 2018. Further, holders of the Notes mawed their Notes at their option prior to March2D18, only under the following
circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter begigmafter the fiscal quarter ending September 8@32if the last reported sale price of our
common stock for at least 20 trading days (whetierot consecutive) during the last 30 consecutaging days of the immediately preceding
fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130%efconversion price on each applicable trading @3yduring the five business day period
following any five consecutive trading day periodwhich the trading price for the Notes is les1th8% of the average of the closing sale
price of our common stock for each day during dixahtrading day period; or (3) if we make spedifidistributions to holders of our common
stock or if specified corporate transactions octijgon conversion, we would pay the holders in daslthe principal amount of the Notes and,
if applicable, shares of our common stock (subieacur right to deliver cash in lieu of all or arpjon of such shares of our common stock)
based on a calculated daily conversion valuefuindamental change occurs prior to the maturite dadlders of the Notes may require us to
repurchase all or a portion of their Notes for cassh repurchase price equal to 100% of the prad@mount of the Notes, plus any accrued an
unpaid interest. In addition, if specific corporatgents occur prior to the maturity date, we wiltrease the conversion rate for a holder who
elects to convert its Notes in connection with saaorporate event in certain circumstances.

We valued and bifurcated the conversion option@ased with the Notes from the host debt instrunaemt recorded the conversion
option of $82.8 million in stockholders’ equity. @ mesulting debt discount on the Notes is beingrtimeal to interest expense at an effective
interest rate of 4.29% over the contractual terthefNotes. During the year ended December 31,,20& 3ecognized $9.1 million of interest
expense related to the amortization of the deloodist. As of December 31, 2013, the net carryirlgevaf the Notes was $586.3 million.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, weezad into convertible note hedge transactions athewe have the option to purchase
up to 5.3 million shares of our common stock atiegpof approximately $124.52 per share. The cbti@convertible note hedge transactions
was $177.5 million. In addition, we sold warrantsereby the holders of the warrants have the optiqgrurchase up to approximately
5.3 million shares of our common stock at a prit®184.48 per share. We received $120.3 milliondsh proceeds from the sale of these
warrants. Taken together, the purchase of the etihleenote hedges and the sale of warrants aemd®d to offset any actual dilution from the
conversion of the Notes and to effectively incretageoverall conversion price from $124.52 to $48%er share. As these transactions meet
certain accounting criteria, the convertible nateldes and warrants are recorded in stockholdevstyegand are not accounted for as
derivatives. The net cost incurred in connectiotihwhe convertible note hedge and warrant transastivas recorded as a reduction to
additional paid-in capital in the consolidated bakasheet as of December 31, 2013.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the closing erad our common stock did not meet or exceed 13Dheoapplicable conversion price
of our Notes on at least 20 of the last 30 consextitading days of the quarter; furthermore, neeotconditions allowing holders of the Notes
to convert have been met as of December 31, 20i&efore, the Notes are not convertible durindfitise quarter of 2014 and are classified as
long-term debt. Should the closing price conditibesmet in the first quarter of 2014 or a futurawer, the Notes will be convertible at their
holders’ option during the immediately followingarters.

Full Repayment of Department of Energy Loan Facifit

In May 2013, in connection with the closing of aifferings of common stock and Notes, we paid $45dilBon to settle all outstanding
loan amounts of $441.0 million, including princiadd interest, as well as an early repayment peo&$10.8 million which was recorded in
interest expense for the year ended December 3B, 2(pon termination of the DOE Loan Facility, 8®illion held in this dedicated accol
was released by the DOE.

On January 20, 2010, we entered into a loan faeilith the Federal Financing Bank (FFB), and theE)@ursuant to the Advanced
Technology Vehicles Manufacturing (ATVM) IncentifFgogram. This loan facility was amended in Junel2@lexpand our cash investment
options, in February 2012 to modify the timing of
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certain future financial covenants and fundinghef tlebt service reserve account, and in June aoenil®er 2012 to allow us to effect certain
initiatives in our business plan. In September 20d@entered into an amendment with the DOE to kenoaur obligation to comply with the
current ratio financial covenant as of Septembe28@2 and amend the timing of pre-funding thegpal payment due in June 2013. We
entered into another amendment with the DOE in M&@13 that, among other things, modified certainre financial covenants, accelerated
the maturity date of the DOE Loan Facility to Det®mn15, 2017, created an obligation to repay apprately 1.0% of the outstanding
principal under the DOE Loan Facility on or befdume 15, 2013, and created additional contingelidaifons based on excess cash flows tha
may result in accelerated repayment of the DOE Leamility starting in 2015. The original amortizatischedule for the DOE Loan Facility
was not affected by this amendment, and so thes#gbice payments remained the same until the naturity date when all outstanding loans
under the DOE Loan Facility were to be repaid. Wferto the loan facility with the DOE, as amendesithe DOE Loan Facility. Under the
DOE Loan Facility, the FFB made available to us twdlti-draw term loan facilities in an aggregatepipal amount of $465.0 million. As of
August 31, 2012, we had fully drawn down the afceationed facilities.

All outstanding amounts under the DOE Loan Facikigre repayable in quarterly installments, whicmogenced on December 15, 2012
and would be due on the maturity date of DecembeP@17. All obligations under the DOE Loan Fagilitere secured by substantially all of
our property.

The DOE Loan Facility documents contained custonsamenants that included, among others, a requinethat the projects be
conducted in accordance with the business plaauoh project, compliance with all requirementshef ATVM Program, and limitations on ¢
and our subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtednessur liens, make investments or loans, enter imérgers or acquisitions, dispose of assets,
pay dividends or make distributions on capital kigay indebtedness, pay management, advisoryrilasifees to affiliates, enter into certain
affiliate transactions, enter into new lines ofibass, and enter into certain restrictive agreemémteach case subject to customary exception
The DOE Loan Facility documents also containedarusaty financial covenants requiring us to maingiminimum ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, and (i) a limit on capital expditures, (ii) from December 31, 2013, a maximexetage ratio, a minimum interest coverage
ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, aiidffom March 31, 2014, a maximum ratio of totalbilities to shareholder equity. We were
in compliance with our current applicable finanaalenants as of March 31, 2013. The DOE Loan iBadibcuments also contained
customary events of default, subject in some ctmsegstomary cure periods for certain defaultsaddition, events of default included a failure
of Elon Musk, our Chief Executive Officer (CEO),chcertain of his affiliates, at any time prior toeoyear after we would complete the project
relating to the Model S Facility, to own at leaS#6 of capital stock held by Mr. Musk and such &ffés as of the date of the DOE Loan
Facility. As part of the amendment to the DOE L&agility in March 2013, we agreed to, among othérds, (i) make an early payment of
approximately 1.0% of the outstanding principal @intthe DOE Loan Facility on or before June 15, 2@ilBmake additional quarterly
prepayments equal to: 20% of our excess cash thowdch quarter of fiscal 2015; and 35% of our segxamsh flow for each quarter of fiscal
2016 and 2017.

Under the DOE Loan Facility, we had agreed to predfa dedicated debt service reserve account witiplanned loan repayments as
required by the DOE loan facility. As of Decembér 3012, $14.9 million was held in this dedicatedaunt and classified this cash as curren
restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet.

DOE Warrant Expiration

In connection with the closing of the DOE Loan kagiwe issued in January 2010 a warrant to theED@purchase up to 9,255,035
shares of our Series E convertible preferred séb@n exercise price of $2.51 per share. Upondhgptetion of our initial public offering on
July 2, 2010, this preferred stock warrant becamwarant to purchase up to 3,090,111 shares of aamstock at an exercise price of $7.54
share. Since the number of shares ultimately idsuaitler the warrants would vary depending on tlegame outstanding balance of the loan
during the contractual vesting period, and decistonprepay would be influenced by our
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future stock price as well as the interest rateswrioans in relation to market interest rateshae historically measured the fair value of the
warrant using a Monte Carlo simulation approachte Monte Carlo approach simulates and capturesptimal decisions to be made between
prepaying the DOE loan and the cancellation oDB¥E warrant. For the purposes of the simulatioa,aptimal decision represents the
scenario with the lowest economic cost to us. e tvarrant value would then be calculated asatlerage warrant payoff across all simul:
paths discounted to our valuation date. The pregayfeature which allowed us to prepay the DOE Liadility, and consequently affected
the number of shares ultimately issuable undeDB& warrant, was determined to represent an embledielévative. This embedded deriva
was inherently valued and accounted for as patiefvarrant liability on our consolidated balanbeets. Changes to the fair value of the
embedded derivative were reflected as part of theamt liability remeasurement to fair value at each balance sheattirgpdate. The warra
was recorded at its estimated fair value with clearig its fair value reflected in other income (@xge), net, until its expiration or vesting. As
of December 31, 2012, the fair value of the DOErauatrwas $10.7 million. During the years ended Dewmer 31, 2012 and 2011, we
recognized expense for the change in the fair valdbe DOE warrant in the amount of $1.9 milliamde$2.8 million through other income
(expense), net, in the consolidated statementp@fations, respectively. The fair value of the watrat issuance was $6.3 million, and along
with the DOE Loan Facility fee of $0.5 million anther debt issuance costs of $0.9 million, reprieska cost of closing the loan facility and
was being amortized to interest expense over thea®d term of the DOE Loan Facility. During therseended December 31, 2012 and 201
we amortized $0.6 million to interest expense, eesipely.

As a result of our repayment of all outstandingngipal and interest under the DOE Loan Facility #redtermination of the DOE Loan
Facility in May 2013, the DOE warrant expired. A&k, we recognized other income for the changhberfdir value of the DOE warrant in the
amount of $10.7 million for the year ended Decen8ier2013. Additionally, we amortized all remainimgamortized debt issuance costs of
$5.8 million related to the DOE Loan Facility tdeénest expense for the year ended December 31, 2013

7. Common Stock

In June 2011, we completed a follow-on offeringcommon stock in which we sold a total of 6,095,8B8res of our common stock and
received cash proceeds of $172.7 million from tt@asaction, net of underwriting discounts. Conentwith this offering, we also sold
1,416,000 shares of our common stock to our CEG68@¢¥ 75 shares of our common stock to Blackstagdito LLC, an affiliate of Daimler
and received total cash proceeds of $59.1 milliothé private placements. No underwriting discomntsommissions were paid in connection
with these private placements.

In October 2012, we completed a follow-on offerafgcommon stock in which we sold a total of 7,9®4,8hares of our common stock
and received cash proceeds of $222.1 million (whichuded 35,398 shares or $1.0 million sold to G&O) from this transaction, net of
underwriting discounts and offering costs.

In May 2013, we completed a public offering of coomstock and sold a total of 3,902,862 shares pEommon stock for total cash
proceeds of approximately $355.1 million (whichlirded 487,857 shares or $45.0 million sold to oHOG, net of underwriting discounts and
offering costs. We also sold 596,272 shares ofoormon stock to our CEO and received total casbgads of $55.0 million in a private
placement at the public offering price. Concurneith these equity transactions, we also issued $6@lion principal amount of 1.50%
convertible senior notes in a public offering aadeaived total cash proceeds of approximately $6d@ldn, net of underwriting discounts and
offering costs (see Note 6).

8. Equity Incentive Plans

In July 2003, we adopted the 2003 Equity Incenlen. Concurrent with the effectiveness of ourstgtion statement on Form S-1 on
June 28, 2010, we adopted the 2010 Equity Incemtiaa (the Plan) and all remaining common sharesrved for future grant or issuance
under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan were
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added to the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. The Ptawiges for the granting of stock options, RSUs stwtk purchase rights to our employees,
directors and consultants. Options granted undePthn may be either incentive options or nongieali§tock options. Incentive stock options
may be granted only to our employees includingcefs and directors. Nonqualified stock options stedk purchase rights may be granted to
our employees and consultants. Generally, our stptikns and RSUs vest over four years and areisadrle over a period not to exceed the
contractual term of ten years from the date thekstptions are granted. Continued vesting typicedlyninates when the employment or
consulting relationship ends. As of December 31,32@3,318,526 shares of common stock were reséovéssuance under the Plan.

The following table summarizes stock option and R&tivity under the Plan:

Qutstanding Stock Options Qutstanding RSUs
Weighted
Weighted Average Grant
Shares Available Number of Average Number Date Fair
for Grant Options Exercise Price of RSUs Value
Balance, December 31, 2010 9,407,97! 13,738,12 $ 8.62 — $ =
Additional options reserve 3,796,34. — — — —
Grantec (4,011,97) 4,011,97. 27.4¢ — —
Exercisec — (1,216,669 5.41 — —
Cancellec 726,76. (726,76 15.2¢ — —
Balance, December 31, 20 9,919,10 15,806,66 13.3¢ — —
Additional options reserve 1,064,04 — — — —
Grantec (11,854,94) 11,854,94 31.1¢ — —
Exercisec (1,312,43) 12.5 — —
Cancellec 1,341,31! (1,341,38) 25.51 — —
Balance, December 31, 20 469,53 25,007,77 21.2( — —
Additional options reserve 3,426,42: — — —
Grantec (3,345,89) 2,643,82. 74.17 702,07¢ 155.5;
Exercisec — (3,852,67) 21.42 — —
Cancellec 1,170,44! (1,157,98) 36.47 (12,467 154.9:
Release( — — — (12,03) 160.9¢
Balance, December 31, 20 1,720,50! 22,640,94 $ 26.7( 677,58: $ 155.4:

In addition to stock options issued from the Ptaere were 33,333 stock options as of Decembe2@l1, that we had previously gran
to non-employees outside of the Plan. These outstgmon-employee options had a weighted averagecise price of $1.80 as of
December 31, 2011. During the year ended Decentheé?® 2, these stock options were fully exercised.
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Additional information regarding all stock optiooststanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0dilBnmarized below:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining
Contractual Contractual
Average Average
Exercise Life (in Exercise Life (in
Range of Exercise Pric¢ Number Price years) Number Price years)
$0.15 - $6.15 523,18: $ 3.1¢ 516,72¢ $ 3.1¢
$6.63- $6.63 7,096,72! 6.6 7,093,02I 6.6°
$9.96- $28.35 2,266,05! 22.0¢ 1,302,49! 19.7(
$28.43- $31.07 2,136,72. 29.4¢ 864,05( 29.2¢
$31.07- $31.07 5,715,73. 31.1% 91,541 31.1%
$31.49- $34.00 2,288,99! 32.0% 707,05: 31.9¢
$34.57- $141.6C 2,266,35! 60.57 127,67- 45.62
$144.70- $147.38 252,94! 147.3: 11,54: 147.3¢
$160.70- $160.70 18,97¢ 160.7( — —
$179.72- $179.72 75,25¢ 179.7: — —
22,640,94 26.7( 6.37 10,714,10 12.37 4.01
Additional information regarding all stock optiooststanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0dilEmmarized below:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Weightec Remaining
Contractual Contractual
Average Average
Exercise Life (in Exercise Life (in
Range of Exercise Pric¢ Number Price years) Number Price years)
$0.15 - $6.15 1,037,66. $ 3.0¢ 924,80: $ 2.9¢
$6.63- $6.63 7,475,41. 6.65 6,456,26. 6.6%
$9.96- $25.27 2,682,73! 19.0¢ 1,446,36. 17.9¢
$27.25- $29.12 2,522,88! 28.1¢ 801,24t 28.3(
$29.25- $31.07 1,680,27 30.1¢ 158,30( 30.3¢
$31.17- $31.17 5,865,56! 31.1% 19,52 31.17
$31.49- $33.15 2,686,68 31.8( 318,91 31.5]
$33.22- $34.00 390,31 33.2¢ 103,18 33.2:
$34.57- $34.57 475,27! 34.57 1,75(C 34.57
$36.01- $36.01 190,97( 36.01 1,54¢ 36.01
25,007,77 21.2( 6.9¢ 10,231,89 11.0% 5.3%

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the po&thx intrinsic value (i.e., the difference betweeir common stock price and the

exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-theney options) that would have been received byfhi®n holders had all option holders
exercised their options. The aggregate intrinsiaeraf options outstanding as of December 31, 20182012 was $2.80 billion and $317.7
million, respectively. The intrinsic value of opti® exercisable was $1.48 billion and $233.3 millemd the intrinsic value of options vested
and expected to vest was $2.80 billion and $280lliomas of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respéelgtivighe total intrinsic value of options
exercised was $294.0 million and $35.1 milliontlee years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, reapecThe aggregate intrinsic value of
RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2013 was $10illion.
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Fair Value Adoption

We utilize the fair value method in recognizingcstdbased compensation expense. Under the fair vadibod, we estimated the fair
value of each option award and the ESPP on the deda generally using the Black-Scholes optionipg model and the weighted average
assumptions noted in the following table.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Risk-free interest rate

Stock options 1.2% 1.C% 2.(%

ESPF 0.1% 0.2% 0.2%
Expected term (in years

Stock options 6.1 5.¢ 6.C

ESPF 0.t 0.t 0.t
Expected volatility:

Stock options 57% 63% 70%

ESPF 43% 51% 59%
Dividend yield:

Stock options 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

ESPF 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

The weighted-average grant-date fair value foramptiwards granted during the years ended Decemb@023, 2012 and 2011 was
$40.72, $16.37 and $17.43 per share, respectiValy weighted-average grant-date fair value for E§RRRted during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $19.22, $818%7.52 per share, respectively. The fair vafuR3Us is measured on the grant date
based on the closing fair market value of our comstock.

Performance-Based Stock Options

In December 2009, our Board of Directors approvedgtion grant to our CEO representing 4% of olly{fdiluted share base prior to
such grant as of the grant date, or 3,355,986 siptikns, with 1/4th of the shares vesting immealjatand 1/36th of the remaining shares
scheduled to vest each month over three yearsnasguwontinued employment through each vesting itetecognition of his and our
company’s achievements and to create incentivelsifore success. In addition, to create incentfeeshe attainment of clear performance
objectives around a key element of our businegspléhe successful launch and commercialization ofl&d S—the Board of Directors
approved an additional option grant to our CEOlitagaan additional 4% of our fully-diluted sharesap to such grant as of the grant date, or
3,355,986 stock options, with a vesting schedusebantirely on the attainment of performance dbjes as follows, assuming our CEO’s
continued employment and service to us through easting date:

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sdbddo vest upon the successful completion of MM&Engineering Prototyp:
» 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sdbddo vest upon the successful completion of M&dealidation Prototype
« 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sdbddo vest upon the completion of the first Mo8dProduction Vehicle; ar
« 1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sdbddo vest upon the completion of the 10,000tld® & Production Vehicle

Through December 31, 2013, all performance mile=gtamere achieved. Stock-based compensation expelagsd to this grant to our
CEO was $0.4 million, $4.2 million and $6.3 milliéor the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 abd, 28spectively.
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Our Board of Directors also approved option grémtiune and September 2010 to purchase our comiook &f 666,300 and 20,000,
respectively, to various members of our senior rganmeent with a vesting schedule based entirely erattainment of the same performance
objectives as those outlined for our CEO aboveiriguthe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 ant #@&lrecognized $0.8 million, $1.4
million and $4.9 million, respectively, of stockd®l compensation expense related to the attairwhémtse performance objectives.

In August 2012, our Board of Directors granted 8,201 stock options to our CEO (2012 CEO Grante Z812 CEO Grant consists of
ten vesting tranches with a vesting schedule bestrkly on the attainment of both performance dios and market conditions, assuming
continued employment and service to us through easting date.

Each of the vesting tranches requires a combinatiame of the ten pre-determined performance aitess outlined below and an
incremental increase in our market capitalizatib40 billion, as compared to the initial markapitalization of $3.2 billion measured at the
time of the 2012 CEO Grant.

» Successful completion of the Model X Engineeringtétype (Alpha)
»  Successful completion of the Model X Vehicle Prgpet (Beta).

» Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic

»  Successful completion of the Gen Il Engineeringttype (Alpha):
» Successful completion of the Gen Il Vehicle Propat (Beta)

e Completion of the first Gen Ill Production Vehic

e Gross margin of 30% or more for four consecutivartgrs;

» Aggregate vehicle production of 100,000 vehic

» Aggregate vehicle production of 200,000 vehicles

» Aggregate vehicle production of 300,000 vehic

The term of the 2012 CEO Grant is ten years, sar@amches that remain unvested at the expiratiaheof012 CEO Grant will be
forfeited. In addition, unvested options will befated if our CEO is no longer in that role, whetlior cause or otherwise.

We measured the fair value of the 2012 CEO Grangus Monte Carlo simulation approach with thedwaling assumptions: risk-free
interest rate of 1.65%, expected term of ten yeagsected volatility of 55% and dividend yield ¢f0

Stock-based compensation expense associated wig0t2 CEO Grant is recognized for each pair dioperance and market conditions
over the longer of the expected achievement paridde performance and market conditions, beginainifpe point in time that the relevant
performance condition is considered probable afdpenet.

As of December 31, 2013, the market conditiongtioge vesting tranches were achieved and the foitptihnree performance milestones
were considered probable of achievement:

» Successful completion of the Model X Engineeringtétype (Alpha)
»  Successful completion of the Model X Vehicle Prgpet (Beta).
» Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic
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None of the stock options granted under the 2010 GiEant has vested thus far as the performancetmiles have not yet been achie
as of December 31, 2018owever, as the above three performance milestwres considered probable of achievement, we redostiek-
based compensation expense of $14.5 million ar@li$ilion for the years ended December 31, 2013201®, respectively.

Additionally, no cash compensation has been reddyeour CEO for his services to the company.

Summary Stock Based Compensation Information

The following table summarizes the stock-based @reation expense by line item in the consolidatagsents of operations (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cost of sales $ 9,071 $ 2,19¢ $ 67C
Research and developmt 35,49 26,58( 13,371
Selling, general and administrati 39,09( 21,37 15,37
Total $83,65¢ $50,14¢ $29,41¢

We realized no income tax benefit from stock opterrcises in each of the periods presented drectoring losses and valuation
allowances. As required, we present excess taxfibefrem the exercise of stock options, if anyfiasncing cash flows rather than operating
cash flows.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $227.3 millionotéltunrecognized compensation expense, net, iofi@std forfeitures, that will be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 5a2sye

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Employees are eligible to purchase common stodutiir payroll deductions of up to 15% of their édigicompensation, subject to any
plan limitations. The purchase price of the sharesach purchase date is equal to 85% of the lohte fair market value of our common
stock on the first and last trading days of eagmsinth offering period. During the years ended &eber 31, 2013 and 2012, 518,743 and
373,526 shares were issued under the ESPP for #filich and $8.4 million, respectively. A total 8{615,749 shares of common stock have
been reserved for issuance under the ESPP, areieee 2,500,022 shares available for issuancerthedd&SPP as of December 31, 2013.

9. Income Taxes

A provision for income taxes of $2.6 million, $0villion and $0.5 million has been recognized far Yfears ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively, related primarily wo subsidiaries located outside of the United Staair net loss before provision for income
taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013, 20d.2@l11 were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Domestic $75,27¢ $396,54¢ $254,76:
Internationa (3,859 (472) (839)
Loss before income tax $71,42¢ $396,07" $253,92.
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The components of the provision for income taxegtie years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 26#4isted of the following (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federa $ — $— $—
State 17¢ 23 29
Foreign 2,34¢ 282 437
Total current 2,52i 30& 46€
Deferred:
Federa — — —
State — — —
Foreign 61 (169) 23
Total deferrec 61 (169 23
Total provision for income taxe $2,58¢ $ 13€ $48¢
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December2B13 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thands):
December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss car-forwards $ 341,17. $ 365,47.
Research and development cre 32,17 21,42;
Other tax credit 16€ 12C
Deferred revenu 42,49 71¢
Inventory and warranty reserv 23,26( 8,27
Depreciation and amortizatic 68 74
Stoclk-based compensatic 27,66 18,13t
Convertible deb 22,93( —
Accruals and other 21,79¢ 5,31«
Total deferred tax asse 511,72( 419,53:
Valuation allowanct (472,379 (403,000
Deferred tax assets, net of valutaion allowe 39,34t 16,52°
Deferred tax liabilities:
Section 481(a) and othe — (400
Depreciation and amortizatic (39,249 (15,96
Total deferred tax liabilitie (39,249 (16,367
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowancedeidrred tax liabilitie: $ 101 $ 16€

We have revised our deferred tax assets as of Dmaredd, 2012 to correct immaterial errors. Suclisiens did not change the amoun
deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowancedaferred tax liabilities presented in the prioaye
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Reconciliation of statutory federal income taxesuo effective taxes for the years ended Decembgp@13, 2012 and 2011 is as follows
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Tax at statutory federal rate $(25,007) $(134,707) $(86,337)
State tax, net of federal bene 17¢ (12,580 (8,11¢)
Nondeductible expens: 733 9,891 10,74:
Foreign income rate differenti (259 262 (56)
U.S. tax credit: (6,682) (2,78%) (5,049
Other reconciling item 1,315 52t 1,58¢
Change in valuation allowan: 32,29¢ 139,51¢ 87,71«
Provision for income taxe $ 2,58¢ $ 13€ $  48¢

Management believes that based on the availabeniadtion, it is more likely than not that the deéektax assets will not be realized,
such that a full valuation allowance is requirediagt all U.S. deferred tax assets.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $billidn of federal and $663.5 million of Califomioperating loss carry-forwards
available to offset future taxable income, $246illion of which is associated with windfall tax befits that will be recorded as additional
paid-in capital when realized. These carryforwavidksexpire in varying amounts beginning in 2024 federal and 2019 for state if unused.
Additionally, we have research and developmenttaxits of approximately $23.5 million and $26.1lim for federal and state income tax
purposes, respectively. If not utilized, the fedleeary-forwards will expire in various amounts begng in 2019. However, the state credits
can be carried forward indefinitely.

We have indefinitely reinvested $5.1 million of istdbuted earnings of our foreign operations aewf our U.S. tax jurisdiction as of
December 31, 2013. No deferred tax liability hasrbeecognized for the remittance of such earniogkd United States since it is our inten
to utilize these earnings to fund future foreigpaxsions including but not limited to, hiring ofdétibnal personnel, capital purchases,
expansion into larger facilities, and potential rdsalerships.

Federal and state laws can impose substantialatéstis on the utilization of net operating lossldax credit carry-forwards in the event
of an “ownership changeds defined in Section 382 of the Internal RevenoeeCWe performed a study and had determined thaigmifican
limitation would be placed on the utilization ofrawet operating loss and tax credit carry-forwasls result of prior ownership changes.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The aggregate changes in the balance of our grossagnized tax benefits during the years endeeémber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 16,39
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeng current yee 1,035
December 31, 201 17,43(
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current yee 64C
December 31, 201 18,07(
Decreases in balances related to prior year taitiquus (7,802
Increases in balances related to current yeardaipns 3,10z
December 31, 201 $13,37(
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The decreases in our gross unrecognized tax beheifitg the year ended December 31, 2013 primeelbted to prior year errors
identified in the current year. Accrued interesdl penalties related to unrecognized tax benefégskssified as income tax expense and was
immaterial. As of December 31, 2013, unrecognizexbenefits of $11.8 million, if recognized, wouldt affect our effective tax rate as the
benefits would increase a deferred tax asset whichrrently fully offset with a full valuation alvance. We do not anticipate that the amount
of existing unrecognized tax benefits will signéfitly increase or decrease within the next 12 msofe file income tax returns in the United
States, California, various states and foreigrsglictions. Tax years 2003 to 2012 remain subjeek&mination for federal purposes, and tax
years 2003 to 2012 remain subject to examinatiolC&difornia purposes. All net operating losses &ndcredits generated to date are subje
adjustment for U.S. federal and California purpo3ex years 2007 to 2012 remain open for examinatimther U.S. state and foreign

jurisdictions.

10. Information about Geographic Areas

We have determined that we operate as one repeitagiment which is the design, development, matufag and sales of electric
vehicles and electric vehicle powertrain components

The following tables set forth revenues and lorngdi assets by geographic area (in thousands).

Revenues
Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
North America $1,545,41. $355,32! $109,23:
Europe 467,07¢ 50,31¢ 84,39’
Asia 1,00 7,61% 10,617
Total $2,013,49 $413,25¢ $204,24:

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@nd, we recognized revenues of $1.5 billion, $34iillion and $103.9 million in
the United States, respectively. During the yealedrDecember 31, 2013, we recognized revenueslaf. $2nillion in Norway.

Long-lived Assets

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
United States $1,091,48 $ 552,30:
Internationa 29,43: 9,99¢
Total $1,120,91! $ 562,30(

11. Strategic Partnerships
Daimler AG
Daimler Mercedes-Benz EV Program

During the fourth quarter of 2011, Daimler engagsdo assist with the development of a full eleghewertrain for a Daimler Mercedes-
Benz B-Class EV vehicle. In 2012, we received twechase orders from Daimler to begin developmenkwad also entered into a separate
development agreement. Pursuant to the developageeément, Daimler would pay us up to $33.2 milfiemthe successful completion of
certain at risk development milestones and thevelgliof prototype samples. During the years endedebhber 31, 2013 and 2012, we
completed various milestones and delivered pro®ggmples and recognized $15.7 million and $15l8omin development services reven

respectively.
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Toyota Motor Corporation
Toyota RAV4 Program

In July 2010, we and Toyota entered into a Phasgr€ement to initiate development of an electriwgrtrain for the Toyota RAV4.
Under this early phase development agreement, types were made by us by combining the Toyota RAMlel with a Tesla electric
powertrain.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we rezedr$7.6 million in development services revenueofDecember 31, 2011, we
had delivered all prototypes; therefore, no add@ldPhase 0 revenue was recognized during the gaded December 31, 2013 and 2012.

In October 2010, we entered into a Phase 1 corgeawices agreement with Toyota for the developroéatvalidated powertrain system,
including a battery pack, power electronics moduietor, gearbox and associated software to berated into an electric vehicle version of
the Toyota RAV4. Toyota paid $60.1 million for teeccessful completion of certain at risk developnmeifestones and the delivery of
prototype samples, including a $5.0 million upfrpayment that we received upon the execution oagreement. During the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, we completed variolestones and along with the amortization of ourapf payment and the delivery of
certain prototype samples, we recognized $10.7aniind $47.4 million in development services rexemespectively. As of March 31, 2012,
all development milestones under the Phase 1 agr@dmad been completed; therefore, no additiona&mee was recognized during the year
ended December 31, 2013.

In July 2011, we entered into a supply and sendggeement with Toyota for the supply of a validagéctric powertrain system,
including a battery pack, charging system, inverestor, gearbox and associated software, whichbeiintegrated into an electric vehicle
version of the Toyota RAV4. Additionally, we wilkgvide Toyota with certain services related toghpply of the electric powertrain system.
During the three months ended March 31, 2012, wgatelelivering electric powertrain systems to Tay@uring the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized reveirt#2® million and $29.1 million in automotive salrelated to these sales, respectively
Our production activities under this program arpested to continue through 2014.

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

Our corporate headquarters and powertrain produciierations are based in Palo Alto, Californiamehee have leased a facility
consisting of 350,000 square feet. This lease egpir January 2020. We have leased a 203,772 stpeanmanufacturing facility in Tilburg,
Netherlands through November 2023. We have als®tba number of properties in North America, Eurape Asia for our office, retail ar
service locations as well as Supercharger sitesrumsh-cancelable operating leases with variougatkpn dates through December 2022.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2011 was $21.5 million, $12.1 million &&d6 million, respectively.

Capital Leases

We have entered into various agreements to leagpragnt under capital leases over terms between8@&0 months. The equipment
under the leases are collateral for the lease atidigs and are included within property, plant agdipment, net, on the consolidated balance
sheets under the categories of computer equipnmeint@tware and office furniture and equipment.
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Future minimum commitments for leases as of Dece®be2013 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital

Leases Leases
2014 $ 27,00¢ $ 8,92
2015 27,37: 7,752
2016 26,62: 4,517
2017 24,70¢ 59t
2018 and thereafts 55,78¢
Total minimum lease paymer $161,48¢ 21,79
Less: Amounts representing interest not yet inal 1,20¢
Present value of capital lease obligati 20,58t
Less: Current portio 7,728
Long-term portion of capital lease obligatic $12,86:

Environmental Liabilities

In May 2010, we entered into an agreement to pwela existing automobile production facility lamhtn Fremont, California from
New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. (NUMMI). NUMMhas previously identified environmental conditi@ashe Fremont site which cot
affect soil and groundwater, and until recentlyrevendertaking efforts to address these conditibhese conditions are now being addressed
by us and NUMMI. Although we have been advised lyMMI that it has documented and managed the enmisorial issues and we
completed a reasonable level of diligence on smeirenmental issues at the time we purchased ttiltyawe cannot determine the potential
costs to remediate any pre-existing contaminatiith any certainty. Based on management’s best attinat the time of the facility purchase,
we estimated the fair value of the environmengdilities that we assumed to be $5.3 million. Taie ¥alue of these liabilities was determined
based on an expected value analysis of the repatisshtial costs to investigate, remediate and mamagous environmental conditions that
were identified as part of NUMMI's facility decomssiioning activities as well as our own diligenceds$.

We reached an agreement with NUMMI under whichy@&en year period, we will pay the first $15.0liom of any costs of any
governmentally-required remediation activities éontamination that existed prior to the completdithe facility and land purchase for any
known or unknown environmental conditions, and NUMMs agreed to pay the next $15.0 million for stezhediation activities. Our
agreement provides, in part, that NUMMI will pay tapthe first $15.0 million on our behalf if suchpenses are incurred in the first four years
of our agreement, subject to our reimbursementich £osts on the fourth anniversary date of thsiegp Through December 31 2013,
remediation costs of $2.1 million had been incutvsgdNUMMI; therefore, we classified $2.1 million ofir $5.3 million environmental
liabilities to accrued liabilities on our consolidd balance sheet as of December 31, 2013.

On the ten-year anniversary of the closing or wkien&30.0 million has been spent on the remediatativities, whichever comes first,
NUMMI s liability to us with respect to remediation atties ceases, and we are responsible for any lhedaronmental conditions at the
Fremont site. At that point in time, we have agreethdemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUMMI frathliability and we have released
NUMMI for any known or unknown claims except for MMI s obligations for representations and warrantieden the agreement. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we accrued a totdd.6frfillion and $5.3 million related to these enmimental liabilities, respectively. As we
continue with our construction and operating atiigi it is reasonably possible that our estimagngironmental liabilities may change
materially.

From time to time, we are subject to various lggateedings that arise from the normal course sinass activities. In addition, from
time to time, third parties may assert intellecfp@perty infringement claims
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against us in the form of letters and other forinsommunication. If an unfavorable ruling were txor, there exists the possibility of a
material adverse impact on our results of operatiprospects, cash flows, financial position arahtr

In November 2013, a putative securities class addwsuit was filed against Tesla in U.S. Distficturt, Northern District of California,
alleging violations of, and seeking remedies pumstm, Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the SecuritieshBnge Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5. The
claims were originally asserted against Tesla amddf its executive officers. The current complaaeks damages, attorney fees and other
relief, and alleges, among other things, that Teslde false and/or misleading representations emss®ns including with respect to the
safety of the Model S vehicle and Tesla’s abilayrieet public expectations with respect to itsrizial performance. The current complaint is
brought on behalf of a putative class consistintptifpersons other than Defendants who purchassth™s securities between May 10, 2013
and November 6, 2013, inclusive.” We believe thisduit is without merit and intend to defend aggitngigorously. As we are currently
unable to predict the outcome of this lawsuitsihot possible for us to determine whether theeereasonable possibility that a loss has been
incurred nor can we estimate the range of any piatdass.

13. Subsequent Events
Performance-based Stock Option Grant

In January 2014, to create incentives for continoad term success beyond the Model S program@utbsely align executive pay with
our stockholdersinterests in the achievement of significant miles®by our company, the Compensation Committee@ioBoard of Director
granted stock options to certain employees to @sety82,500 shares of our common stock. Each saoh @pnsists of four vesting tranches
with a vesting schedule based entirely on therattant of future performance milestones, assumimgirmoed employment and service to us
through each vesting date.

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredadbd to vest upon completion of the first ModePkoduction Vehicle

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredsdbd to vest upon achieving aggregate vehicleyprion of 100,000 vehicles in a
trailing 1z-month period

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredsdhd to vest upon completion of the first GerRtbduction Vehicle; an

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredsdbd to vest upon achievement of annualized graagin of greater than 30.0%
any three year:
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14. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table includes selected quarterlyutessof operations data for the years ended DeceBhe2013 and 2012 (in thousands,
except per share data):

Three months endec

March 31 June 30 September 3l December 3.
2013
Total revenue $561,79: $ 405,13¢ $ 431,34t $ 615,21
Gross profit 96,32( 100,48: 102,86¢ 156,59(
Net income (loss 11,24¢ (30,507 (38,49¢) (16,269
Net income (loss) per share, ba 0.1C (0.2¢6) (0.32) (0.13)
Net income (loss) per share, dilut 0.0c (0.26) (0.3 (0.13)
2012
Total revenue $ 30,16° $ 26,65 $ 50,10« $ 306,33:
Gross profit (loss 10,21( 4,76 (8,76)) 23,85’
Net loss (89,877 (105,609 (110,809 (89,93))
Net loss per share, basic and dilu (0.8¢) (1.00 (1.05) (0.79)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted for the fuarters of each fiscal year may not sum to ted fot the fiscal year because of the
different numbers of shares outstanding during geciod.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation as of December 31, 20idr the supervision and with the participatibow management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officef the effectiveness of the design and operaifayur disclosure controls and procedures.
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded thatpd®ecember 31, 2013, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provaesonable assurance.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed by, ateunthe supervision of, our Chief Executive Offie@d Chief Financial Officer to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfee and includes those policies and proceduiss(1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that in reasonable detail accurately ainly faflect the transactions and dispositions of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance tt
transactions are recorded as necessary to perpamtion of financial statements in accordanch getnerally accepted accounting principles
and that our receipts and expenditures are beirtgroaly in accordance with authorizations of ounaggement and directors; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisition, use or ai#on of our assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial Officer,
we conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuofinternal control over financial reporting basedcriteria established in “Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (1992)" issued by @menmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission (COSO). Our
management concluded that our internal control éimancial reporting was effective as of Decembir2013.

Our independent registered public accounting firmcewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has audited the effewtss of our internal control o
financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 a®dtat their report which is included herein.

Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weaknes

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatif deficiencies, in internal control over fingalaeporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroéotir annual or interim financial statements wit be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. For the year ended December 31, 2012, iceresluded that a material weakness existed inmtemal control over financial reporting
related to the presentation and disclosure of ra@-capital expenditures in our consolidated statesof cash flows. Specifically, we did not
design effective controls to determine and reviegvtbtal unpaid amounts related to capital expanstthat should have been excluded from
operating and investing activities in the cash fetatement and disclosed as non-cash items.

This material weakness resulted in an audit adjeistrrelated to non-cash capital expenditures foytar ended December 31, 2012, a
restatement of our condensed consolidated statsménash flows for the periods ended March 31220tine 30, 2012 and September 30,
2012 including their comparative periods for 2041d a revision of our consolidated financial stagets for the year ended December 31,
2011.
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In response to the material weakness describedealbov financial reporting review process now idlels, a determination and review of
(i) total unpaid amounts related to capital expemds that should be excluded from operating amesting activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows and (ii) the total unpaibants related to capital expenditures that shbaldisclosed as non-cash items in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Based on the measures taken and implemented, nmaaatgbas tested the newly implemented control iietivand found them to be
effective and has concluded that the material wes&mnlescribed above has been remediated as of becat) 2013.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of inherent limitations, internal contregiofinancial reporting may not prevent or dete@statements and projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control ovearitial reporting which occurred during the fodisical quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2013 which has materially affecteds oeasonably likely to materially affect, ourémal control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

In January 2014, to create incentives for continload term success beyond the Model S programaubbsely align executive pay with
our stockholdersinterests in the achievement of significant miles®by our company, the Compensation CommitteeioBoard of Director
granted stock options to purchase our common sib@B2,500 shares to certain employees of our compacluding Deepak Ahuja, our Ch
Financial Officer, Jeffrey B. Straubel, our Chiefchnical Officer, Greg Reichow, our Vice PresideinProduction and Jerome Guillen, our
Vice President of Service and Sales Operation$, ewhom is an officer of our company with repogiobligations under Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Hadhgrant consists of four vesting tranches wittesting schedule based entirely on the
attainment of the following future performance maitenes and, assuming continued employment andcseivius through each vesting date.

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredadbd to vest upon completion of the first ModePkoduction Vehicle

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredsdbd to vest upon achieving aggregate vehicleyprioon of 100,000 vehicles in a
trailing 1z-month period

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredsdhd to vest upon completion of the first GerRtbduction Vehicle; an

» 1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredsdbd to vest upon achievement of annualized graagin of greater than 30.0%
any three year:

The following table sets forth these future perfante-based stock option grants:

Number of
Shares
Underlying Exercise
Date of Price

Name Grant Option ($)
Deepak Ahuja 1/13/201- 45,00( 139.3¢
Jeffrey B. Straube 1/13/201: 220,00 139.3¢
Greg Reichow 1/13/201: 65,00( 139.3¢
Jerome Guiller 1/13/201: 55,00( 139.3¢

The term of each grant will be ten years, so thahy vesting tranches remain unvested after etipiraf the grant, they will be forfeited.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item 10 of FormK @vill be included in our 2014 Proxy Statemenbtofiled with the SEC in
connection with the solicitation of proxies for @014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (2014 Proxgt&nent) and is incorporated herein by
reference. The 2014 Proxy Statement will be filéthwhe SEC within 120 days after the end of tisedl year to which this report relates.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 of FormKvill be included in our 2014 Proxy Statement éndhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 of FormK @vill be included in our 2014 Proxy Statement @amdhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 of FormK@vill be included in our 2014 Proxy Statement éndhcorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 of FormK @vill be included in our 2014 Proxy Statement @amdhcorporated herein by
reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements. S“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” in Part I, ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Forn-K.

2. Allfinancial statement schedules have beentenhisince the required information is not applieady is not present in amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or becawes@nformation required is included in the consaliét! financial statements and notes
thereto.

3.  Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompagyimdex to Exhibits” are filed or incorporated bgference as part of this Annual Report
on Form 1-K.
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Exhibit
Number

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

3.1

3.2
4.1
4.2

4.2A

4.2B

4.2C

4.2D

4.2E

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation §-1
the Registran

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regis! S-1
Specimen common stock certificate of the Regist  S-1/A

Fifth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights S-1
Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2009, between
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there

Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Invest@sl/A
Rights Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2010, between
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s

capital stock named there

Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Invest@sl/A
Rights Agreement between Registrant, Toyota Motor
Corporation and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there

Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Invest@®-1/A
Rights Agreement, dated as of June 14, 2010, batwee
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s

capital stock named there

Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Invest@:K
Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2010,
between Registrant and certain holders of the
Registrar’s capital stock named there

Waiver to Fifth Amended and Restated Investor's S-1/A
Rights Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2011, between
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s

capital stock named there
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333-164593

333-164593
333-164593
333-164593

333-164593

333-164593

333-164593

001-34756

333-174466

3.1

3.2
4.1
4.2

4.2A

4.2B

4.2C

4.1

4.2E

January 29, 2010

January 29, 201
May 27, 201(
January 29, 2010

May 27, 2010

May 27, 2010

June 15, 2010

November 4, 201

June 2, 2011
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
4.2F Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Invest@:-K 001-34756 4.1 June 1, 2011
Rights Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2011, between
Registrant and certain holders of the Registrant’s
capital stock named there
4.2G Sixth Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated 8-K 001-34756 4.1 May 20, 2013
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of May 15,
2013 among Tesla Motors, Inc., the Elon Musk
Revocable Trust dated July 22, 2003 and certaieroth
holders of the capital stock of Tesla Motors, Inc.
named thereir
4.2H Waiver to Fifth Amended and Restated Investor's 8-K 001-34756 4.2 May 20, 2013
Rights Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2013, between
Tesla Motors, Inc. and certain holders of the edpit
stock of Tesla Motors, Inc. named there
4.3 Indenture, dated as of May 22, 2013, by and betwe&K 001-34756 4.1 May 22, 2013
Tesla Motors, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association
4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 22, 8-K 001-34756 4.2 May 22, 2013
2013, by and between Tesla Motors, Inc. and U.S.
Bank National Associatior
4.5 Form of 1.50% Convertible Senior Note Due June 18-K 001-34756 4.3 May 22, 2013
2018 (included in Exhibit 4.4
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the S-1/A 333-164593 10.1 June 15, 2010
Registrant and its directors and offic
10.2 2003 Equity Incentive Pla S-1/A  333-164593 10.2 May 27, 201(
10.3 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Equitys-1 333-164593 10.3 January 29, 2010
Incentive Plar
10.3A Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement betweenS-1/A 333-164593  10.3A March 29, 2010
the Registrant and Elon Mu:
10.4 Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive 1C-Q 333164593 104 August 2, 201:
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10.5 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2010 Equis1/A 333-164593  10.5 March 29, 2010
Incentive Plar

10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement S-1/A 333-164593  10.6 March 29, 2010
under 2010 Equity Incentive Pl

10.7 2010 Employee Stock Purchase F S-1/A 333164593 10.7 May 27, 201(

10.8 Form of Purchase Agreement under 2010 Employ&1/A 333-164593  10.8 June 15, 2010
Stock Purchase Pl:

10.9 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Elon MusiS-1 333-164593 10.9 January 29, 2010
dated October 13, 20(

10.10 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Deepak S-1 333-164593 10.10 January 29, 2010
Ahuja dated June 13, 2008, and amended June 4,
2009

10.11 Relocation Agreement between the Registrant ands-1 333-164593 10.11 January 29, 2010
Deepak Ahuja effective October 31, 2008 and
amended June 4, 20

10.12 Offer Letter between the Registrant and Jeffrey B.S-1 333-164593  10.12 January 29, 2010
Straubel dated May 6, 20(

10.13 Commercial Single-Tenant Lease between the  S-1 333-164593  10.19 January 29, 2010
Registrant and James R. Hull dated August 16, :

10.14 License Agreement between the Registrant and MS-1 333-164593 10.21 January 29, 2010
Kearny Northrop Avenue, LLC dated July 23, 2(

10.15 Commercial Lease between the Registrant and Thg-1 333-164593  10.22 January 29, 2010
Board of Trustees of The Leland Stanford
Jr. University dated August 6, 20

10.161 Supply Agreement between Eberspacher (UK) LtdS-1/A  333-164593  10.24 March 29, 2010
and the Registrant dated September 1, :

10.17¢t Supply Agreement between Perei Group (UK) Ltd.S-1/A 333-164593  10.25 March 29, 2010
and the Registrant dated September 1, :

10.18%t Supply Agreement between Burgaflex (UK) Ltd. ¢ S-1/A  333-164593  10.26 March 29, 2010

the Registrant dated September 1, 2
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Exhibit
Number

10.19t

10.19At

10.20t

10.21t

10.22%

10.23%

10.24t

10.24A

10.24B¥

10.24Ct

Exhibit Description Form

Supply Agreement by and among Sanyo ElectricS-1
Co. Ltd. Mobile Energy Company, Sanyo Energy
(USA) Corporation and the Registrant dated
February 1, 200

Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement by and S-1
among Sanyo Electric Co. Ltd. Mobile Energy
Company and Sanyo Energy (USA) Corporation
and the Registrant effective as of February 1, ©

Supply Agreement by and between Taiway Ltd. S-1
the Registrant dated February 12, 2

Supply Agreement between Chroma ATE Inc. an8-1/A
the Registrant dated April 19, 20

Supply Agreement between Polytec Holden Ltd. S-1/A
and the Registrant dated April 13, 2(

Maodification to Terms and Conditions between S-1
BorgWarner TorgTransfer Systems Inc. and the
Registrant dated September 22, 2

ZEV Credits Agreement between American Honda-1/A
Motor Co., Inc. and the Registrant dated
February 12, 200

Addendum to ZEV Credits Agreement between S-1/A
American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the Regist
dated February 20, 20(

Supplemental ZEV Credits Agreement between S-1/A
American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the Regist
dated March 20, 20C

Second Supplemental ZEV Credits Agreement  S-1/A
between American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the
Registrant dated February 8, 2(
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333-164593  10.27 January 29, 2010

333-164593  10.27A  January 29, 2010

333-164593  10.28 March 29, 2010

333-164593  10.29 March 29, 2010

333-164593  10.30 March 29, 2010

333-164593 10.31 January 29, 2010

333-164593  10.32 May 27, 2010

333-164593 10.32A May 27, 2010

333-164593 10.32B  May 27, 2010

333-164593 10.32C May 27, 2010
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10.25t Supply Agreement by and among Panasonic S-1 333-164593  10.33 January 29, 2010
Industrial Company, Panasonic Corporation, acting
through Energy Company, and the Registrant dated
July 21, 200¢

10.26t Exclusivity and Intellectual Property Agreement  S-1/A  333-164593  10.34 March 29, 2010
between Daimler North America Corporation and
Registrant dated May 11, 20

10.27 Side Agreement between the Registrant and S-1 333-164593 10.35 January 29, 2010
Blackstar InvestCo LLC dated May 11, 2C

10.28 Letter Agreement between the Elon Musk Revocallel 333-164593 10.36 January 29, 2010
Trust dated July 22, 2003 and Blackstar InvestCo
LLC, dated May 11, 200

10.29t Development Contract between Daimler AG and S-1/A 333-164593  10.43 May 27, 2010
Tesla Motors Ltd. dated May 10, 20

10.30 Settlement Agreement between the Registrant ancs-1/A  333-164593  10.44 May 27, 2010
entities affiliated with Valor Equity Partners ddte
May 20, 201(

10.31 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Nevg-1/A  333-164593  10.45 May 27, 2010
United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. dated May 26,
2010

10.31A Amendment No. 1 to the Letter Agreement betweelD-Q 001-34756 10.3 November 12, 201
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated June 15, 2(

10.31B Amendment No. 2 to the Letter Agreement betweelD-Q 001-34756 104 November 12, 201
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 1, 2(

10.31C Amendment No. 3 to the Letter Agreement betweelD-Q 001-34756 10.5 November 12, 201

the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 8, 2(
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10.31D Amendment No. 4 to the Letter Agreement betv 10-Q 001-34756 10.6 November 12, 201

the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 13, 2(

10.31E Amendment No. 5 to the Letter Agreement betw 10-Q 001-34756 10.7 November 12, 201
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 15, 2(

10.31Fft Amendment No. 6 to the Letter Agreement betw 10-Q 001-34756 10.8 November 12, 201
the Registrant and New United Motor
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 19, 2(

10.32 Sale and Purchase Agreement between Registrab®-Q 001-34756 10.1 November 12, 201
and New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc., dated
August 13, 201!

10.32A Addendum No. 1 to the Sale and Purchase 10-Q 001-34756 10.2 November 12, 201
Agreement between Registrant and New United
Motor Manufacturing, Inc., dated September 23,
2010

10.33¢t Phase 1 Contract Services Agreement between 10-K  001-34756 10.47 March 3, 2011
Registrant and Toyota Motor Corporation dated
October 6, 201

10.34t Supply and Services Agreement between Toyotal0-Q 001-34756 10.1 November 14, 201
Motor Engineering & Manufacturing North
America, Inc. and the Registrant dated July 15,
2011

10.35t Supply Agreement between Panasonic Corporatibd-K 001-34756 10.50 February 27, 2012
and the Registrant dated October 5, 2

10.35At Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement between X
Panasonic Corporation and the Registrant dated
October 29, 201

10.36 Form of Call Option Confirmatior 8-K 001-34756 10.1 May 22, 2013
10.37 Form of Warrant Confirmatior 8-K 001-34756 10.2 May 22, 2013
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12.1 Statement regarding Computation of Ratio of Ears X
to Fixed Charge
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Independent— — — — X
Registered Public Accounting Fir
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15(d)-14(a) Certification of Pipad — — — — X
Executive Officel
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15(d)-14(a) Certification of Pipad — — — — X

Financial Officet
32.1* Section 1350 Certificatior — — — —
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document
*  Furnished herewit
**  XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Languagdpmmation is furnished and not filed or a part okgistration statement or prospectus
for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securiietsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposeseatft®on 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to lidpiinder these section
t Confidential treatment has been requested forgustof this exhibi
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or lth@Becurities Exchange Act of 1934, the registnas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Tesla Motors, Inc

Date: February 26, 2014 /s/ Elon Musk
Elon Musk
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Elon Musk Chief Executive Officer and Director February 26, 2014
Elon Musk (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Deepak Ahuja Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial February 26, 2014
Deepak Ahuji Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Brad Buss Director February 26, 2014
Brad Bus:

/sl Ira Ehrenpreis Director February 26, 2014
Ira Ehrenprei

/s/ Antonio Gracias Director February 26, 2014
Antonio Gracia:

/sl Stephen Jurvetson Director February 26, 2014
Stephen Jurvetsc

/sl Harald Kroeger Director February 26, 2014
Harald Kroege

/s/ Kimbal Musk Director February 26, 2014
Kimbal Musk
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,Hc.

T==lm

October 30, 2013

To:

Mr. Shinsuke Nakaho
Director, Portable Rechargeable Battery Businesssion
SANYO Electric Co., Ltd. 222-1, Kaminaizen, Sum@ity, Hyogo 565-8555, Japan

Mr. Joseph Howell

Panasonic Industrial Devices Sales Company of Acaeri
Panasonic Corporation of North America

Two Riverfront Plaza, 7th Floor, Newark, NJ 071026

This amendment (* Amendmefjtis entered into by and between Tesla Motors, (h@esla”) and Panasonic Industrial Devices Sales
Company of America f/k/a Panasonic Industrial Comypalivision of Panasonic Corporation of North Amer and SANYO Electric Co., Ltd.
acting through Portable Rechargeable Battery Bssilgvision, the assignee of the Agreement fromaBanic Corporation, acting through
Energy Company (collectively, * Panasoffi¢Tesla and Panasonic are referred to collegtiasl the “ Partie¥ as of the date set forth abowt
connection with the Parties’ Supply Agreement d&etbber 5, 2011 (as amended, the “ Agreerflertll terms used but not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings assigneddo terms in the Agreement. In consideration efrtiutual promises and mutual covenants
set forth below and other good and valuable conafis, the receipt and sufficiency of which arediy acknowledged, the Parties hereby
agree to amend the Agreement as follows:

1.

In Section 2(b) (Term) of the Agreement, theggler‘December 31, 2015” is deleted from the fiesitance and replaced with
“December 31, 201"

For purposes of Section 3 (Forecast and OrdBes)a’s subsidiaries and affiliates may issue @rgersuant to the Agreement, and
such Orders shall be deemed to be valid and bin@idgrs by the issuing entity and the issuing gstiall be responsible for
payment therefor. If the issuing entity fails toy@anounts due pursuant to an accepted Order bgpiplicable payment date,
Panasonic shall notify Tesla and Tesla shall bearesible for such payment. Items ordered purswastith Orders shall count
against Tes’s overall purchase commitments hereun

Section 6(c) of the Agreement is amended taidtelthe following additional sentence: “Seller shak a bonded carrier from the
U.S. port of entry to Tesla’s designated facility €ach delivery hereunder, unless Tesla has gixpress, prior written waiver of
this requirement for a particular delive”

Section 7 of the Agreement is amended to inctbhddollowing additional section: “(e) In connemtiwith the foregoing, the Parties
have agreed to the Process and Procedures for [@antmpds Arriving at Tesla Motors dated June 2222@vhich is hereby
incorporated by reference into the Agreen”

The last sentence of Section 8(a) of the Agreeiisehereby deleted in its entirety and replacét the following: “Panasonic may,
for good cause, propose a change to the paymens &nd/or amount or duration of credit extendetiegsla hereunder, and the
Parties shall discuss any such proposal in godid. fidiotwithstanding the foregoing, Panasonic resethe right at any time, but
only after a good faith discussion with Tesla, [t”

Amendment to Tesla-Panasonic Supply Agreement Pagel
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,Hc.

6. The following is added as a new Section ¢

(i) If, with respect to Items, Modules and/or Fhmésl Products, [***], Panasonic shall be liable floe [***]. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Panasonic shall not be liable utiisrparagraph to the extent that [***]. To the riraum extent permitted t
law, Panasonic’s liability to Tesla pursuant tastBiection 9(i) shall not [***]. Panasonic’s liakiliset forth above shall be
Tesla’s sole remedy in case of [***] and in no evehall Panasonic be liable for any lost goodwitbfit, revenue or savings
in connection with [***]. To the extent permitted lapplicable law, Tesla shall (a) notify Panasarmmptly after becoming
aware of [***] and [***] in connection with [***], to the extent related to the Items, (b) consulbwianasonic in good faith

regarding [***], and (c) provide such informatios eeasonably requested by Panasonic from timent with respect to
[***].

7. In Section 11 (Indemnification) of the Agreemestbsection (c) is hereby renumbered as subsdctjand the following is added
at the end of the subsectic The indemnifying Party may not[***”

8. In Section 11 (Indemnification) of the Agreemenheav subsection (c) is added as follo

(c) Infringement Indemnity by Panasoniét any time during the term of this Agreement éinereafter, Panasonic shall
indemnify and hold the Tesla Parties harmless faoih against any and all Claims arising out of artyal or alleged
infringement or misappropriation of the patentdémark, copyright, trade secret or other intellattw industrial property
rights of any third party with respect to the extemused by Panasonic and/or the Items as delivgr&nasonic; provided,
however, that the foregoing indemnity shall notlgpgth respect to Claims to the extent [***].

9. Section 12(a) is amended and restated in its gntiefollows:
(a) Limitation of Liability.

(i) TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE L AW AND EXCEPT FOR (1) [***] , (2) EACH
PARTIES’ OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 11, (3 ) [***] , (4) TESLA’S OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH

IN SECTION 12(d), AND (5) [***] , NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE OR RESPONSIBLE TO T HE OTHER
PARTY FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, EXEMPL ARY, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE
DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS A GREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, ANY WORK DELAYS, LOST GOODWILL, PROFIT, = REVENUE OR SAVINGS, LOSS OF USE,
COST OF CAPITAL, COST OF SUBSTITUTE EQUIPMENT, FACI LITIES OR SERVICES, OR DOWNTIME
COSTS, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OR IS AWARE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGES, AND NEITHER PARTY'’S LIABILITY FOR MONETARY  DAMAGES TO THE OTHER PARTY
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL EXCEED [***] .[***] MEANS AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO [***] .

(I) TESLA’S LIABILITY TO PANASONIC RESULTING FROM  [***] SHALL NOT EXCEED [***] .

(1) THE PARTIES AGREE THAT DAMAGES INCURRED DUE T O [***] , WILL BE CONSIDERED DIRECT
DAMAGES.

Amendment to Tesla-Panasonic Supply Agreement Page?2
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Tesla Motors,Hc.

10. The current version Attachmenoflthe Agreement is no longer in effect and is bgmeplaced in its entirety by Attachmenf\,
attached heret

11. This Amendment, together with the Agreemertl@iding any open purchase orders), constitutegittiee agreement between the
Parties and supersedes all prior agreements aretsiaddings, both oral and written, between thé&d2aiThis Amendment may be
executed in counterparts, each of which when soutgd and delivered will be deemed an original, @hdf which taken together
will constitute one and the same instrum

| am pleased that we have reached this point asidftirward to a continuing productive relationshijph you. Please confirm Seller’s
agreement with the foregoing by signing a copyhéf tetter where indicated below and returningirte.

Sincerely,

/s/ JB Straube

JB Straube

Chief Technology Office
Tesla Motors, Inc

3500 Deer Creek Roz
Palo Alto, CA 9430:

Agreed to by Panasonic Industrial Devices Sales fg2zmy of America, division of Panasonic CorporatiéMNorth America

By: /sl Kazuto Nezi
Name Kazuto Nezt
Title:  Director, Panasonic Industrial Devices Sales CommdiAmerica, division of Panasonic CorporatiorNafrth America

Agreed to by SANYO Electric Co., Ltd. acting thréuBortable Rechargeable Battery Business Division

By: /sl Shinsuke Nakaho
Name Shinsuke Nakaho

Title:  Director, SANYO Electric Co., Ltd. acting througbrable Rechargeable Battery Business Divit

Amendment to Tesla-Panasonic Supply Agreement Page3
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T ==l.m
Attachment 1-A

List of Items, Pricing Mechanism

1. Pricing for Cells Delivered Through December 3112
[***].
2.  Pricing for Cells Delivered After January 1, 2C

(a) Cell Pricing.

20142015 1014 2014 3Q14* 4Q14* 1Q15* 2Q15* 3Q15*  4Q15*
Price for Li-lon Cell [***] (Tesla Part No[***])_*! = kK ok [F** [*** [+ ok ok
Quantity (millions) [**+] [¥*%] [¥+%] [¥*]
20162017 1Q16* 2Q16* 3Q16* 4Q16* 1Q17* 2Q17*  3Q17*  4Q17*
Price for Li-lon Cell [***] (Tesla Part No[***])_?! [ ok [** [*** [x* T ]
Quantity (millions) [**4] [*] ] [

The pricing set forth above is based on the follmpj**]. The Parties shall work together on an going basis and in good faith to
[***], the Parties shall jointly determine the am@wf [***] in good faith [***] following any such meeting, and [***] shall be reflected
in [***] pricing under this_Attachment J4A as follows: [***].

20142015 4Q13 1Q14 20Q14 3Q14 4Q14 1Q15 20Q15 3Q15 4Q15
[***] Cost per Ce" [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] COSt per Ce” [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] COSt per Ce” [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] COSt per Ce” [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]

1 The Parties may also agree to modify the typdteais eligible for purchase under this Agreemerd.(by substituting later versions of
earlier cells), and purchases of such Items heeusithll be deemed to satisfy any applicable pgeltammitments hereunder and the
price for such Items shall be negotiated in godaith fay the Parties

* The prices set forth above are [***], and the Regtshall recalculate the [***] in good faith [***

Amendment to Tesla-Panasonic Supply Agreement Page4
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(b) Price AdjustmentsThe prices set forth above shall be adjusted][fét adjustments in prices for the [***] materiadet forth below, in
accordance with the adjustment mechanism procés$srtein Exhibit 1 ([***]). The following assumptions shall apply foupposes of
the price adjustment mechanis

Baseline Commodity Assumptic

[***] Content () [***]
[***] Price (USD/kQ) [***]
[***] Content (g) [***]
[***] Price (USD/kQ) [***]
[***] Content (g) [*]
[***] Price (USD/KkQ) [***]
[***] Content (g) [*]
[***] Price (USD/KkQ) [***]
Exchange rate (Yen/: [***]

For purposes of this adjustment, the [***] matesigtices shall be converted from United Statesdb®lfUSD) into Japanese Yen (JPY)
using the [***] and the [***] for the applicable **] period set forth below:

[***] [***]

[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]

[-k**]
Attachment 2o the Agreement is hereby deleted.

2. Panasoni's Investmen.

(&) Panasonic will make certain capital investmémisnable production of cells for Tesla underAlgeeement at Panasonic’s factories
at [***], Japan, consisting of [***] (the cost ohe foregoing investments is the “ Investment ChdPanasonic will use reasonable
efforts to limit the amount of the Investment Castd the Investment Cost shall not [**

(b) Tesla commits that Panasonic will recover theestment Cost from Tesla [***] for at least 1.83ilion Items (cells) [***];
provided, however, that [***]

Amendment to Tesla-Panasonic Supply Agreement Page5
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Exhibit 1
Material Adjustment Calculator

[***]

[***] Information has been omitted and filed septmig with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portit
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TeslaPanasonic Confidential

June 22, 2012
Process and Procedures for Damaged Goods Arriving desla Motors

Process incorporates language of Section 7 of Suppglgreement between Tesla Motors and Panasonic Indtrial Company and
Panasonic Corporation dated Oct. 5, 2011 (the “Agement”) 1

1. Tesla will inspect shipments promptly upon detix within [***] of receipt at the DAP Point [***] Inspection will be to determine if
Items conform to mutually agreed upon inspecticec#jrations and to determine if tems are damadgdedts will include

a. OCV measuremen
b. Impedance measuremel
C. [***]

2.  Tesla must notify Panasonic of damage or othe-conformity within [***] of delivery to the DAP Point This notice must be in writiny

3. If Panasonic does not receive a notice of damagenconformity within [***] after delivery to the DAP Bint, the Items will be deems
to be*accepte” for purposes of paymer

4. If damage or a nc-conformity is found or alleget

a. Tesla will send written notice to [***] of Par@sc as soon as possible after discovery of damagen-conformity. Tesla
will supply Panasonic detailed facts and supporéivigence (such as test results) regarding the gamanol-conformity.

b. As soon as practical, [***] will travel to Teslatsi(Fremont or Palo Alto) to inspect the affectiinis and take photc

C. On the same day of the inspection, [***] will emaihotos to the Panasonic factory (represented 1y) [for review.

d. As soon as practical, [***] will respond to [*}*with a determination as to whether the Itemsa(§ usable; (ii) should be

subject to additional inspection; (iii) should keturned to the Panasonic factory; or (iv) shouldiéstroyed

1 This document is not intended to, and shall matdify the Agreement or otherwise waive or modifg parties’ rights and obligations
thereunder

Tesla-Panasonic — Process for Damaged Goods Page 1l
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TeslaPanasonic Confidential

5. If Items are determined to be usable, the Pam@s$actory will send a written report to [***] thaan be submitted to Tesla certifying that
the Items are okay to use (i.e., they are free flamage and conform to the agreed specificatis

6. If the Panasonic factory determines that the Iterast leave the Tesla site for further investigat

a. Tesla will arrange for pick-up of the allegedBmaged or non-conforming Items and transportntually agreed upon
designated location at Te's expense; an
b. Once Items are at the designated location, Bar@sr the parties’ selected third party servidkk promptly begin the

additional inspection (including technical evaloatof cells) to determine whether cells are usakiés additional inspectic
will be conducted at Te¢'s expense

7. Ifthe cause of the damage or non-conformityeiermined to be solely attributable to Panasarag €ells were damaged or non-
conforming upon delivery to Tesla), Panasonic sl

a. Replace the affected Items. [***

b. Reimburse Tesla for the reasonable costs ofpiating the Items to Panasonic or an alternatigoaed location for
inspection and testing (if transport was conduetieflesla expense); al

C. Reimburse Tesla for the reasonable costs oéeigm and testing (if they were conducted by edtparty at Tesla’s
expense)

8. If, based on the findings of Panasonic’s ingzgion, Panasonic determines that the Iltems musdtbeed to the Panasonic factory in
Japan, Panasonic will arrange for pick up and shgppf the goods to the factory at Panas’'s expense

a. [***] will work with Panasonic Operations to cqiete a Return Material Authorization form (RMA¥*{] will issue an
RMA number to Tesla as soon as practi

b. The RMA number must be issued before Tesla p@itsthe Items either to the Panasonic factoryp @n alternate

designated locatiot
C. The RMA number must be referenced on shipping decuation.
9. If Panasonic instructs Tesla in writing to degtithe damaged or naoenforming Items, Panasonic shall reimburse Tesléhe reasonak
cost of such destructio

Page?2
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EXHIBIT 12.1

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for eacthefperiods indicated is as follows.

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 201C 200¢

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (1)

(1) For the purpose of calculating such ratiosrrigays” consist of income from continuing operatidsefore income taxes plus fixed charge
and “fixed charges” consist of interest expens¢ ¢heapitalized portion), capitalized interest,atization of debt discount and the
portion of rental expense representative of intezgpense. Earnings were inadequate to coverstkd ttharges by $73.5 million, $403.3

million, $259.0 million, $155.0 million and $55.7illion for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2@02,1, 2010 and 2009,

respectively



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢iee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B33033, No. 333-187113, and No.
333-167874), and in the Registration StatementamFS-3 (No. 333-188625) of Tesla Motors, Inc. of ceport dated February 26, 2014
relating to the financial statements and the eiffeaess of internal control over financial repagtimhich appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 26, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Elon Musk, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tesla Motors, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anlldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct@os persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 26, 2014 /sl Elon Musk

Elon Musk
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Deepak Ahuja, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tesla Motors, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anlldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct@os persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 26, 2014 /s/ Deepak Ahuiji

Deepak Ahujé
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Elon Musk, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SewqtiB50, that, to my knowledge, the Annual Repoif@dla Motors, Inc. on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2013, (i) fulipglies with the requirements of Section 13(a) qd16f the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and (ii) that the information contained inls&orm 10-K fairly presents, in all material resggethe financial condition and results of
operations of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Date: February 26, 2014 /s/ Elon Musk
Elon Musk
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

I, Deepak Ahuja, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.tlec1350, that, to my knowledge, the Annual Repbifesla Motors, Inc. on Form 10-K for
the annual period ended December 31, 2013, (y fdmplies with the requirements of Section 13¢a)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934 and (ii) that the information contained intsorm 10-K fairly presents, in all material regethe financial condition and results of
operations of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Date: February 26, 2014 /s| Deepak Ahuiji
Deepak Ahuijé
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




